Grapes for the Desert: Salt Stress Signaling in *Vitis*

Zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines

DOKTORS DER NATURWISSENSCHAFTEN

(Dr. rer. Nat.)

der Fakultät für Chemie und Biowissenschaften

des Karlsruher Instituts für Technologie (KIT)

genehmigte

DISSERTATION

von

Ahmed Abd Alkarim Mohammed Ismail

aus

Damanhour, Ägypten

Die vorliegende Dissertation wurde in der Abteilung Molekulare Zellbiologie, am Botanischen Institut des Karlsruher Instituts für Technologie (KIT) im Zeitraum von April 2010 bis Juli 2013 angefertigt.

Dekan: Prof. Dr. M. Bastmeyer Referent: Prof. Dr. P. Nick Korreferent: Prof. Dr. H. Puchta Prof. Dr. Natalia Requena Dr. Christoph Basse Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 19. Juli 2013

Hiermit erkläre ich, dass ich die vorliegende Dissertation, abgesehen von der Benutzung der angegebenen Hilfsmittel, selbstständig verfasst habe.

Alle Stellen, die gemäß Wortlaut oder Inhalt aus anderen Arbeiten entnommen sind, wurden durch Angabe der Quelle als Entlehnungen kenntlich gemacht.

Diese Dissertation liegt in gleicher oder ähnlicher Form keiner anderen Prüfungsbehörde vor.

Karlsruhe, den 19. Juli 2013

Ahmed Abd Alkarim Mohammed Ismail

Table of Contents

Abbreviations	IV
Summary / Zusammenfassung	XI
1 Introduction	1
1.1 What does stress mean for a plant?	1
1.2 Environmental stress affects the world population	3
1.3 The salinity stress syndrome	5
1.4 Salinity perception and signal transduction	7
1.4.1 Calcium signaling	
1.4.2 Extracellular and intracellular pH	11
1.4.3 ROS induction	12
1.4.4 Nitric oxide signals	14
1.4.5 Mitogen-activated protein kinases	15
1.4.6 Cytoskeletal reorganization	
1.4.7 Roles of Plant hormones	
1.4.7.1 JAs biosynthesis and mode of action	17
1.4.7.2 ABA biosynthesis and mode of action	19
1.4.8 Ubiquitin–26S proteasome system (UPS)	22
1.5 Adaptive mechanisms to salinity	23
1.5.1 Stomatal closure	24
1.5.2 Ionic homeostasis	25
1.5.2.1 Na ⁺ homeostasis	
1.5.2.1.1 Na ⁺ transport	
1.5.2.1.2 Na ⁺ exclusion	27
1.5.2.1.3 Na ⁺ compartmentalization	
1.5.2.2 Ca ²⁺ homeostasis	29
1.5.3 Osmotic adjustment	30
1.5.4 ROS scavenging	32
1.6 Research on salinity tolerance of <i>Vitis</i>	
1.6.1 Why grapevine as model?	33
1.6.2 Grapevine stilbenes	35
1.6.2.1 Biosynthesis and metabolism of stilbenes	
1.7 Scopes of this study	
2 Materials and methods	42

2.1 Cell culture and chemical treatments	42
2.1.1 Vitis cell culture	42
2.1.2 Chemical treatments	42
2.2 Measurement of packed cell volume (PCV)	43
2.3 Determination of cell viability	43
2.4 Measurement of cellular Na ⁺ - and Ca ²⁺ content	44
2.5 Measurement and quantitative analysis of extracellular pH	45
2.6 Detection of ROS species	45
2.7 Cloning and sequence analysis of JAZ/TIFY genes	46
2.8 Quantification of gene expression	47
2.9 Extraction and quantification of stilbenes	49
2.10 Hormones analysis	50
2.11 Statistical analysis	52
3 Results	54
3.1 Salinity signalling differs on the physiological level	54
3.1.1 Growth resumes under salinity in <i>V. rupestris</i>	54
3.1.2 The kinetics of Na * uptake consist of three phases	60
3.1.3 Ca ²⁺ influx alters Na ⁺ uptake kinetics	62
3.1.4 Sign reversal in salt-induced changes of Ca ²⁺ content	63
3.1.5 NaCI-induced extracellular pH differs in both cell lines	66
3.1.6 NaCl induces ROS species	68
3.2 Salinity signalling differs on the molecular level	69
3.2.1 Isolation and identification of <i>JAZ/TIFY</i> genes	69
3.2.2 Impact of NaCl, JA, and aspirin on the expression of JAZ/TIFY ger	1es71
3.2.3 Time courses of salt tolerance genes	73
3.2.4 Phenidone inhibits the induction of <i>JAZ1/TIFY10a</i> genes by salt	74
3.3 Accumulation of phytohormones under sal	inity
in <i>Vitis</i>	75
3.3.1 Phytohormones accumulate differently during salinity stress	75
3.3.2 Sign reversal in calcium effect on salt-induced hormone levels	77
3.4 Stilbene accumulation in response to salt	80
4 Discussion	82
4.1 Adaptive response versus cellular damage	82

4.2 The faster the early response, the better the adaptation	85
4.3 The tighter the control of JA/JA-II accumulation, the bet	ter the
adaptation	89
4.4 Towards a model for salinity tolerance or sensitivity	92
4.5 Conclusion	96
4.6 Outlook	96
Acknowledgements	98
Literature cited	101
Curriculum Vitae	123

Abbreviations

- [Ca²⁺]_{cyt}, cytoplasmic calcium
- ¹**O**₂, singlet oxygen
- 2, 4-D, 2, 4-dichlorophenoxy-acetic acid
- ABA, abscisic acid
- ABI1/2/5, ABA insensitive 1/2/5
- ACN, acetonitril
- AIDS, Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome
- AOC, allene oxide cyclase
- AOS, allene oxide synthase
- APX, ascorbate peroxidase
- ASH, ascorbic acid
- BRs, brassinosteroids
- cADPR, cyclic ADP-ribose
- CaM, calmodulin
- CAMTAs, camodulin binding transcription activators
- CAT, catalase
- CaVs, The voltage-gated Ca²⁺-selective channels
- CAXs, High-capacity vacuolar calcium exchangers
- CCaMKs, Ca²⁺/CaM dependent protein kinases

CDPKs, Ca²⁺-dependent protein kinases

CHS, chalcone synthase

CK, cytokinin

- CRD, completely randomized design
- DEPC, diethylepyrocarbonate
- DHAR, dehydroascorbate reductase
- DHE, dihydroethidium
- DMSO, dimethylsulfoxide
- ds.m⁻¹, decisiemens per metre
- ER, endoplasmic reticulum
- ET, ethylene
- FAO, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
- GB, glycine betaine
- GdCl₃, gadolinium chloride
- GFP, green fluorescent protein
- GOPX, guaicol peroxidase
- **G-protein**, GTP-binding protein
- GPX, glutathione peroxidase
- gpx1, glutathione peroxidase 1
- GR, glutathione reductase
- GSH, glutathione

- **GST**, glutathione-S- transferase
- H⁺, Hydrogen ion
- H₂O₂, hydrogen peroxide
- H₃O, hydronium ion
- HAB1/2, homology to ABA 1/2
- HO2', perhydroxy radical
- **HPLC**, high performance liquid chromatograph
- HR, hypersensitive response
- IAA, natural auxin or indole-3-acetic acid
- I_{Ca} , non-selective cation current
- iGluRs, ionotropic glutamate receptors
- IP3, inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate
- **IP6,** inositol hexakisphosphate
- JA, jasmonic acid (or jasmonate)
- JA-II, (+)-7-iso-Jasmonoyl-I-isoleucine
- JAR1, jasmonate-Resistant 1
- JAZ/TIFY, jasmonate ZIM/tify-domain
- JIPs, jasmonate-induced proteins
- KAT1, K⁺-inward rectifier 1
- LEA, late embryogenesis abundant proteins
- LOX, lipoxygenase

MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase

- MDHAR, monodehydroascorbate reductase
- MeJA, methyl jasmonate
- **mM**, millimolar
- NaCl, sodium chloride
- **NHX1**, Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter
- NINJA, Novel Interactor of JAZ/TIFY
- nM, nanomolar
- NO, nitric oxide
- NSCCs, non-selective cation channels
- O2⁻, superoxide radicals
- OAT, ornithine δ -aminotransferase
- OECD, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development
- OH⁻, hydroxyl ion
- OH', hydroxyl radical
- OPC-8:0, 3-oxo-2(2'[Z]-pentenyl)cyclopentane-1-octanoic acid
- OPDA, 12-oxophytodienoic acid
- OPR3, OPDA reductase 3

OST1, an ABA-activated protein kinase, homologue of SnRK2.2/SnRK2.3, that are positive regulators of ABA responses. The name is due to the physiological phenotype of the mutant *open stomata* that is caused by the suppression of OST1 expression.

P5CS, Δ^1 -pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase

PAs, polyamines

PCD, programmed cell death

PGC-1α, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-γ coactivator 1α

Phenidone, 1-phenylpyrazolidinone

PLC, phospholipiase C

PP2Cs, protein phosphatases which fall under the category of type 2C; some members are negative regulators of ABA-induced responses.

PR genes/proteins, pathogenesis-related genes/proteins

Pro, Proline

PUSFs, polyunsaturated fatty acids

Pyrabactin, common name for 4-bromo-N-[pyridin-2-yl methyl]naphthalene-1-sulfonamide. This growth regulator partially mimicks the inhibitory effects of ABA on seed germination, seedling growth, and its impact on gene expression.

QACs, quaternary ammonium compounds

R genes/proteins, resistance genes/proteins

RCARs/PYR1/PYLs, regulatory components of ABA receptor/pyrabactin resistance protein1/PYR-like proteins; a family of START domain proteins; demonstrated to inhibit clade A PP2Cs.

RNS, reactive nitrogen species

RO', alkoxy radicals

ROS, reactive oxygen species

RsGluR, plasma membrane-targeting glutamate receptor from small radish

RT-PCR, reversible transcription PCR

SA, salicylic acid

- SHM1, serine hydroxymethyl transferase 1
- SLAC1, slow anion channel-associated 1
- SLs, strigolactones
- SnRK2, sucrose non-fermenting 1-related protein kinase 2
- SOD, superoxide dismutase
- SOS1, salt overly sensitive 1
- SOS2, salt overly sensitive 2
- SOS3, salt overly sensitive 3
- START, steroidogenic acute regulatory-related lipid transfer proteins.
- STS, stilbene synthase
- STZ, salt tolerance zinc finger protein
- SV, slow vacuolar
- **TPL**, Groucho/Tup1-type corepressor TOPLESS
- **TPRs,** TPL-related proteins
- **TSCs**, tertiary sulfonium compounds
- ub, ubiquitination
- **UBP16**, ubiquitin-specific protease
- **UPS**, ubiquitin–26S proteasome system

wfp, world food program

- ZIM/tify, zinc-finger protein expressed in inflorescence meristem
- α -GDH, α -glutamate dehydrogenase

α-LA, α-linolenic acid

Zusammenfassung

Salzbelastung setzt nicht nur Pflanzen unter Stress, sondern auch die Biologen, die mühsam versuchen, die verschlungenen Elemente der pflanzlichen Antwort auf Salzstress zu entwirren. Es ist von großer Bedeutung für die Pflanzenwissenschaften, die Mechanismen zu verstehen, mit denen Pflanzen Salzstress wahrnehmen, verarbeiten und darauf antworten. In Stress-Signalwegen sind häufig dieselben Moleküle an Stress-Schäden und an der Stress-Anpassung beteiligt. Ausserdem wird die Anpassung an Salzstress nicht durch einen "Generalschalter" aktiviert, sondern hat sich aus der Vernetzung verschiedener Regelkreise entwickelt.

Um diese Regelkreise ansprechen und diese Komplexitäten entschlüsseln zu können, nutze ich in meiner Arbeit die natürliche Biodiversität in einem experimentellen System, wo osmotische Anpassung in Abgrenzung von pflanzlicher Abwehr untersucht werden kann. Ich setzte hierzu zwei Zell-Linien aus eng verwandten Rebarten ein, die sich in ihrer osmotischen Anpassungsfähigkeit unterscheiden: die Felsenrebe Vitis rupestris besiedelt felsige, sonnige Abhänge und hat daher evolutiv eine sehr gute osmotische Toleranz ausgebildet. Im Gegensatz dazu siedelt die Uferrebe Vitis riparia in feuchten Auwäldern und ist weniger gut an osmotischen Stress angepasst. Ich verfolgte schnelle Änderungen im zellulären Gehalt von Natrium und Calcium, reaktiven Sauerstoffspezies, apoplastischer Alkalinisierung und der Transkription spezifischer Gene, aber auch langsamere Antworten im Pegel von Jasmonsäure und ihrem aktiven Isoleucinkonjugat, ebenso wie von Abscisinsäure und Stilbenen. Unterschiede in Zeitmuster und der Empfindlichkeit gegenüber dem Lanthanoid Gd oder exogenem Calcium legen eine adaptive Funktion der frühen Natriumaufnahme durch nicht-selektive Kationenkanäle nahe. Diese Ionenkanäle wirken stromauf von Calcium- und Protonenströmen. Die apoplastische Alkalinisierung wurde durch das Lanthanoid GdCl₃ entweder völlig (V. riparia) oder zumindest teilweise (V. rupestris) gehemmt. Analog den durch osmotischen Stress

induzierten Ionenflüssen werden die durch Salzstress ausgelösten Calciumund Protoneneinströme durch Lanthanoid-Ionen gehemmt. Die frühesten zellulären Antworten auf Salzstress scheinen also mit denen von mechanischem Stress übereinzustimmen.

Ich kann außerdem eine Korrelation zwischen Salzempfindlichkeit und unkontrollierter Jasmonatbildung zeigen. Hingegen korreliert erfolgreiche Anpassung an Salzstress mit einer strikten Kontrolle der Akkumulation von Jasmonsäure und seinem Isoleucin-Konjugat., was von einer Akkumulation von Abscisinsäure begleitet wird. Ausserdem wird infolge der Stress-Adaptation die Bildung von Stilbenen unterdrückt, wichtigen Schaltern für den programmierten Zelltod bei der pflanzlichen Abwehr. Ausserdem werden früh während der Adaptation JAZ/TIFY Proteine induziert, die mit zahlreichen Transkriptionsfaktoren der hormonellen Signalverarbeitung interagieren und deren Aktivität modulieren können.

Aus diesen Daten ergibt sich ein Modell, wonach die rechtzeitige Dämpfung des Jasmonat-Signalwegs darüber entscheidet, ob die Zellen der Weinrebe die frühen Stress-Signale als salzstress-bezogen erkennen und daher mit einer Aktivierung der Salzadaptation reagieren, oder ob diese frühen Signale als abwehrbezogene Stress-Faktoren gedeutet werden, worauf die Zelle mit programmiertem Zelltod antwortet.

Summary

Salinity does not only stress plants but also the biologists who sincerely try to discriminate its tangled elements. Understanding the mechanism by which plants sense, signal, and respond to salinity stress is of great interest to plant biologists. In stress signalling often the same molecules are involved in both, damage-related and adaptive, events. In addition, adaptation to salinity is not provided by one single "master-switch", but must have evolved from tuning the cross-talk of different regulatory circuits. To address these circuits and dissect these complexities, I decided to make use of natural biodiversity in a

system, where osmotic adaptation can be studied in contrast to defense-related signaling. I employed two cell lines from two closely related grapevine species differing in osmotic tolerance: Vitis rupestris inhabits rocky, sunny slopes, and therefore has evolved a considerable osmotic tolerance. In contrast, Vitis riparia occurs in alluvial woods and performs poorly under osmotic stress. I followed rapid changes in the cellular content of sodium and calcium, ROS, apoplastic alkalinisation, gene transcripts, and slower responses in the levels of jasmonic acid, its active isoleucine conjugate, and abscisic acid, as well as of stilbenes. Differences in timing and sensitivity to either the lanthanoid Gd or exogenous calcium provide evidence for an adaptive role of early sodium uptake through non-selective cation channels acting upstream of Ca^{2+} and H⁺ fluxes. The lanthanoid GdCl₃ completely blocked (V. riparia), or at least impaired (V. rupestris), apoplastic alkalinisation. Similar to osmotically induced ion fluxes, pretreatment with lanthanoid ions can block salinity induced calcium and proton fluxes. Thus, the earliest events of the cellular salinity response are shared with those triggered by mechanic challenge. I find a correlation of salt sensitivity with unconstrained JAs signalling, whereas salt adaptation correlates with tight control of jasmonic acid and its isoleucine conjugate, accompanied by accumulation of abscisic acid and suppression of stilbenes that trigger defense-related cell death. Furthermore, JAZ/TIFY proteins, that interact with multiple transcription factors central for plant hormone signaling, are more actively induced in context with salt adaptation. From these data a model for salt adaptation is developed, where efficient quenching of JA-signaling determines whether grapevine cells recognise the early stress signals as salinity related and therefore respond by salinity adaptation, or whether they interpret these signals as defense-related and therefore respond by programmed cell death.

1 Introduction

1.1 What does stress mean for a plant?

Cormophytic plants are terrestrial organisms, and firstly appeared about 480 million years ago according to the fossil records (Gehrig *et al.*, 1996). Since that time, the battle with drought and salt stress has shaped plant evolution, as land plants are frequently exposed to this type of stress during their life cycles.

The concept of stress has been originally derived from physics, where it is exactly defined as relation between inputs and output of a system and can be exactly determined. Stress is referred to as the force per unit area of a material that causes, when sufficient, deformation of this material. The term strain is derived from the change in length caused by the material deformation (Lubliner, 2008). In biology, however, the term stress is usually used improperly and can have a wide range of meanings, although several definitions have been suggested and none of them being universally accepted. For example, in humanities and psychological medicine, stress is considered as a consequence of proximal life events ranging from extreme situations such as natural catastrophes to more usual events like marriage, birth, death, and unemployment (Dohrenwend, 2000). Zoologists view stress as a psychological/biological response of the individual to different environmental conditions and correlate it with an adaptive response called fight-or-flight (Monroe, 2008). Based on his experiments on rats, the biomedical scientist Hans Selye (1936) suggested the term "general adaptation syndrome" as stress concept. This syndrome develops in three stages; (1) a general alarm reaction, (2) cellular reactions on different levels that prioritize the defense-related metabolites over growth, resulting in adaptation and recovery, and (3) exhaustion that hugely depends on the severity of the damaging agent. In botany, the stress concept must differ as

plants as sessile organisms are confined to the place where they grow, and therefore must constantly monitor their ever-changing environment, adapting their architecture and lifestyle (Jaillais and Chory, 2010). An environmental condition that is optimal for one species could be stressful for another. Moreover, within the same species, cultivars vary in their growth behavior during the same biological event. Depending on the factors, stress elicitors (inducer) can be distinguished from stressors that cause disease or deviations of physiology or growth. Such factors that are maybe either favorable or unfavorable, could be either originate from the physical environment (abiotic stress), but they could be as well biotic, for instance, pathogenic (Cassells and Curry, 2001). Any situation is considered as stressful when it limits the rate of dry-matter production of the plant below its genetic potential (Jones *et al.*, 1993).

The plasma membrane is considered as the first target of the stressor or elicitor (Mahajan and Tuteja, 2005). Stress primarily alters the physiological state and impairs the performance of a vital function (Gaspar *et al.*, 2002). In the same line, Munns and Tester 2008 defined stress as an adverse circumstance that disturbs or is likely to disturb the normal physiological functioning of an individual. It is possible to transfer the triphasic biomedical stress concept of Selye (1936) to plant stress as well, as has been worked out for seed stress (Kranner *et al.*, 2010). In this example, as an "alarm" response, post-translational modification and stress signaling through the cross-talk between reactive oxygen species (ROS), reactive nitrogen species (RNS), and seed hormones (ABA and GA) are utilized by challenged seed to induce transcriptome modifications. The second phase, "adaptation", is achieved when the "building blocks" of the resistance response have been successively assembled. Finally, depending on dose and exposure time, the exhaustion phase can occur, and the result is seed death.

A widely accepted definition considers plant stress as any external factor that negatively affects the plant (Taiz and Zeiger, 2010). These stress factors fall in two groups; biotic or abiotic stress. Biotic stress refers to biological factors such as insects, weeds, and pathogens (bacteria, fungi, viruses, nematodes). On the other hand, abiotic stress includes nutrient deficiency, oxidative stress (such as ozone), drought (water deficit), flooding (water excess), salinity, high temperature, low oxygen, mechanical damages (such as wind), chilling, freezing, pollution, and radiations (such as high intensity of UV).

1.2 Environmental stress affects the world population

Growth and productivity of stressed plants are highly decreased causing a shortage of food supplies. According to the World Food Program 2011, there are about one billion undernourished people in the world today. This means that one in seven people does not get enough food to be healthy and lead an active life. The risk of hunger and malnutrition is seen as the number one risk to global health. Its negative impact is considered much higher than that of AIDS, malaria and tuberculosis combined. East, central and southern Africa harbor the highest percentage of hungry people (Fig. 1) (FAO, 2011). In addition, the recently-appeared annual report of the OECD and FAO 2012 discussing the production, consumption, stocks, trade and prices for different agricultural products for the period 2012 to 2021 are alarming for the future of the world population. According to this annual report, the World population, approximately 7 billion people in 2011, is expected to increase by about 680 million people in 2021, and by 2050 the world's population is expected to be 9.1 billion. Those additional people will need additional food, fiber and fuel for their life. In other word, the agricultural production has to increase by 60% over the next 40 years to meet the rising demand for food. Moreover, additional production will also be necessary to provide feedstock for expanding biofuel production (OECD and FAO, 2012).



Fig. 1: The world hunger map according to wfp.org 2011. The categary ranges from 1, as the best situation (malnutrition < 5%) to 5, as the severest situation (malnutrition \ge 35%).

This information means that the world population needs to find ways to fill the gap between the available and demanded food. Unfortunately, several reasons make this task not easy at all. Firstly, water limitation is considered as one of the major restricting factors in many countries and as overlooked problem for many others (Cominelli *et al.*, 2009). Secondly, non-sustainable farming and soil erosion irreversibly degrade significant portions of agricultural lands - estimates range by 25% (OECD and FAO, 2012). Thirdly, the growing impact of the global climate changes seriously affect crop growth and threaten the conservation of cultivated land (Takeda and Matsuoka, 2008). All of these elements, in fact, are abiotic stress factors which, together with biotic stress factors, result in crop failures worldwide estimated by 65 - 87% (Buchanan *et al.*, 2002).

The world total arable land according to this OECD and FAO 2012 annual reports will increase by only 69 million hectares (less than 5%) by 2050. This means that the world needs to increase the food production almost exclusively by increased productivity in the same way as it has for the past 50 years. At the same time, the improvement of the sustainable use of available land, water, marine ecosystems, fish stocks, forests, and biodiversity should be considered (OECD and FAO, 2012).

1.3 The salinity stress syndrome

High salinity is commonly caused by high sodium (Na⁺) and chloride (Cl⁻) in the soluble fraction of the soil with electric conductivity values higher than 4 dS m⁻¹. Salinity stress generates both hyperionic and hyperosmotic imbalance. In addition, the presence of high NaCl alters water potential, inhibits growth, and promotes cell death (Hasegawa et al., 2000). For more than 3000 years, salinity has been a threat to agriculture in some parts of the world (Flowers, 2006). More than 80 million hectares of arable land worldwide are estimated to be affected by salt (Munns and Tester, 2008) resulting in estimated annual global costs equivalent to 11,000 million US\$ in 2011 (http://www.fao.org/ag/agl/agl/spush/). Saline soils negatively affect both the ability of crops to take up water and the availability of micronutrients, while they increase the concentration of ions that are toxic to plants, and may degrade soil structure. The FAO (2007) has estimated soil properties worldwide and mapped the actual soil profile data as a soil production index (Fig. 2) (http://www.fao.org/nr/land/soils/en/). This production index of the soil tells a clear message: the agricultural horizontal expansion is limited and vertical expansion (i.e. by increase of productivity) is the only way to meet the world demand.



Fig. 2: The soil production index map ranging from zero as no productivity (red) to more than 75% as the highest production (dark green) (from FAO 2007).

Plants are divided into two groups according to their behavior under salinity stress. Halophytes (naturally inhabiting saline environments) require electrolyte concentrations higher than those found in nonsaline soils (approximately from 20 to 500 mM). On the other hand, glycophytes, which represent the most economically crops, are stressed under salinity condition ranging from 10 to 100 mM (Flowers et al., 1977). Some of the glycophytes have evolved different adaptive mechanisms to control the negative events caused by salt stress and therefore are in the focus of research interest. Adaptation usually refers to a genetically determined level of resistance acquired by a process of selection over many generations (Taiz and Zeiger, 2010). Therefore, plants are classified to three groups depending on their tolerance or sensitivity. The tolerant crops such as date palm and barley can withstand a salt concentration up to 10 g/l (~170 mM NaCl). The moderately tolerant crops such grapevine and olive can manage concentrations of salt up to 5 g/l (~85 mM NaCl). Finally, the sensitive group including peach and apple is able to survive only below 2.5 g/l (~40 mM NaCl) (FAO Manual 1985). Based on this classification, 40 mM NaCl is considered as the threshold of salinity stress (equaling approximately 1ds.m⁻¹). The newest FAO classification (2011) divides plants to four groups as shown in table 1.

Sensitive	Moderately Tolerant	Tolerant	Highly Tolerant
(0-4 dS m ⁻¹)	(4-6 dS m ⁻¹)	(6-8 dS m ⁻¹)	(8-12 dS m ⁻¹)
Almond	Corn	Fig	Barley
Bean	Grain Sorghum	Oats	Cotton
Clover	Lettuce	Pomegranate	Olive
Onion	Soybean	Sunflower	Rye
Potato	Tomato	Wheat	Wheatgrass

 Table 1: Salinity tolerance of some economic crops.
 Salinity expressed as electrical conductivity (FAO 2011).

Salinity-challenged plants show some damage events which could lead to death. At the cellular and molecular levels, salt stress causes membrane disorganisation, metabolic toxicity, formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), inhibition of photosynthesis, and reduced nutrient acquisition (Hasegawa *et al.*, 2000; Tuteja, 2007; Zhu, 2002). Such factors can initiate more catastrophic events by which plants enter programmed cell death.

The temporary effects of salinity are clearly due to rapid and often transient changes in plant-water relations. However, the subsequent changes in growth rate, and the underlying molecular or metabolic events, are not so easily ascribed to water stress or salt-specific effects alone (Munns, 2002). Instantly after salinization, cells dehydrate and shrink, but they are able to regain their original volume hours later (Läuchli and Grattan, 2007). The concept of a "two-phase growth response to salinity" has been developed by Munns 1993 as an attempt to understand the differences in response to osmotic versus ionic salt stress (Fig. 3). The first phase of growth reduction takes place quickly, within minutes of exposure to salinity. This response is due to the osmotic effect caused by salt ions in the rhizosphere. Hormonal signals coming from the roots are assumed to regulate the growth reduction during this phase. The second phase of growth reduction is a resultant of a salt-specific effect, and needs some times (days, weeks or months) to develop. Cellular damage is due to salt accumulation in transpiring leaves leading to excessive levels which exceed the ability of the cells to compartmentalize salts into the vacuole (Läuchli and Grattan, 2007; Munns, 1993; Munns, 2002; Munns, 2005).





1.4 Salinity perception and signal transduction

As salinity poses ionic (Na⁺) and osmotic stresses, its perception could be achieved by both signals. Osmotic stress is suggested to be sensed partly by

cytoskeleton-associated stretch-activated ion (Ca²⁺) channels, accompanied by redox-sensing, and transmembrane protein kinases, including two component histidine kinases. On the other hand, ionic stress is proposed to be perceived by a membrane receptor for sensing the extracellular Na⁺, whereas intracellular Na⁺ could be sensed by a membrane protein or Na⁺-sensitive enzymes in the cytoplasm (Türkan and Demiral, 2009). The plasma membrane Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter (SOS1; salt overly sensitive 1), which is also responsible for exporting Na⁺ from the cell, is proposed to be one of the Na⁺ sensors (Zhu, 2002). After perception, a set of signal transduction pathways has been proposed to mediate salinity responses in plant cells. The detailed pathways and their elements will be discussed below.

1.4.1 Calcium signaling

Calcium ions (Ca²⁺), which are essential for all life forms, are considered as the most prominent ubiquitous second messenger in cells ranging from bacteria, and plants, up to specialized neurons. However, prolonged high levels of calcium can activate degradative processes or apoptosis. Therefore, the intracellular levels of Ca²⁺ as well as the spatial distribution of this signal are tightly regulated by complex mechanisms such as chelation, export, and compartmentalization in different intracellular organelles including ER, chloroplast, mitochondria, and the vacuole (Clapham, 1995; Bouché et al., 2005). The normal cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ level is ~100-200 nM while in the cell wall and organelles it is ~1-2 mM. In plant cells, many Ca²⁺-permeable channels have been identified by patch-clamp studies and assigned to plasma membrane, tonoplast, endoplasmic reticulum, chloroplast and nuclear membranes (White, 2000). The voltage-gated Ca²⁺-selective channels (CaVs), which are plasma membrane ion channels, represent the fastest Ca²⁺ signalling proteins. When open, each channel conducts approximately a million Ca²⁺ ions/sec driven by the 20,000-fold gradient between apoplast and cytoplasm (Clapham, 2007). Cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ (Ca²⁺_{cvt}) signals can be generated by influx or efflux of ion from the extracellular space (cell wall or apoplast in plants) or intracellular compartments (such as vacuole, chloroplast or mitochondria), respectively. It is known that Ca^{2+}_{cyt} signals are often produced by Ca^{2+} release from internal stores (Peiter, 2011). In particular, a release of vacuolar Ca^{2+} into the cytosol has been demonstrated in response to a wide range of signalling transduction pathways, including biotic and abiotic stresses and hormone signals (Hirschi, 2001). Several Ca^{2+} channels on the tonoplast have been identified on the molecular level and classified into ligand-gated and voltage-gated channels (Peiter, 2011). Ligand gated channels activated by inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (IP3), inositol hexakisphosphate (IP6) or cyclic ADP-ribose (cADPR), along with the depolarization-activated slow vacuolar (SV) channel act in concert to shape Ca^{2+} signals (Peiter, 2011; Hetherington and Brownlee, 2004). The spatial pattern of Ca^{2+} signals (e.g. cytosol, nucleus, organelles, or localized region within the cell), temporal propagation of Ca^{2+} levels, the amplitude of the signal, and the frequency of Ca^{+2} oscillations are all informative signalling elements conveyed by Ca^{2+} ions (Reddy *et al.*, 2011).

These changes in Ca^{2+} levels are perceived by adaptor proteins or Ca^{2+} -modulated proteins which function as sensors for the Ca^{2+} signals and regulate down-stream signalling events. The majority of Ca^{2+} -modulated proteins contain one or more highly conserved motif, the EF hand, which is a helix-loop-helix structure (Bouché *et al.*, 2005). In plants, the superfamily of EF-hand proteins is categorized into two major classes, termed sensor relays and sensor responders (Kudla *et al.*, 2010; Reddy *et al.*, 2011). The class of sensor relay proteins includes calmodulins (CaMs) (with exception of CaM7), CaM-like proteins (CMLs), and calcineurin B-like proteins (CBLs). Sensor responders are the Ca^{2+} -dependent protein kinases (CDPKs), Ca^{2+} - and Ca^{2+}/CaM dependent protein kinases (CCaMKs), some DNA or lipid binding proteins, and a few enzymes. Additionally, other proteins lacking an EF-hand motif can bind Ca^{2+} such as annexins and C2 domain-containing proteins (Bouché *et al.*, 2005; Cheng *et al.*, 2002; Kudla *et al.*, 2010; Reddy *et al.*, 2010; Reddy *et al.*, 2011).

Ca²⁺ signals are highly interconnected to signalling pathways involved in the

response to nearly all developmental, hormonal, and stress cues. For example, the camodulin binding transcription activators (CAMTAs), transcription factors contain CaM binding domain, are induced upon cold (CAMTA1), heat (CAMTA3-6), ABA and SA (CAMTA2, 4, and 6), MeJA and ET (CAMTA1, 3, and 4), H₂O₂ (CAMTA2-6), and auxin IAA (CAMTA1), and all of them are induced by wounding (Reddy *et al.*, 2011). Additionally, a plasma membrane-targeted glutamate receptor first identified in small Radish (RsGluR), homologous of the neural ionotropic glutamate receptors (iGluRs) that are ligand gated nonselective cation channels (NSCCs) mediating fast excitatory neurotransmission, has been shown to mediate, upon overexpression in Arabidopsis, glutamate-mediated Ca²⁺ Influx resulting in enhancing pathogen resistance by upregulation of JA-biosynthetic gene(s) (Kang *et al.*, 2006).

As to be expected from this general role in signalling, Ca²⁺ plays also a crucial role in salinity tolerance involving different signalling elements. Upon salinity, CAMTA1 to 6, except 5, are induced (Yang and Poovaiah, 2002). Ca²⁺-activated salt overly sensitive 3 (SOS3), a member of the CBLs family known as CBL4, is triggered to interact with SOS2 (a CBL-interacting protein kinase, CIPK24). The SOS3/SOS2 complex, in turn, activates SOS1 (a plasma membrane Na^+/H^+ antiporter) through its phosphorylation. The activated SOS1 extrudes Na⁺ from the cell thus reducing its harmful effects on cellular metabolism (Harper et al., 2004; Munns and Tester, 2008; Zhu, 2002). Additionally, Ca^{2+} can act directly without the need for a protein adaptor. The Arabidopsis salt stress-responsive gene 1 (AtNIG1), a basic/helix-loop-helix-type transcription factor, is the first known calcium-binding transcription factor involved in salt-stressed plant (Kim and Kim, 2006). In addition, Ca^{2+} ions interplay also with H₂O₂, ABA, and JA in the activation of the potassium outward channels causing stomatal closure (Pei et al., 2000; Suhita et al., 2004). Interestingly, auxin-induced Ca²⁺ elevations produced the opposite response leading to stomatal opening illustrating the point that it is not calcium per se, but its spatiotemporal pattern that confers response specificity (Ng and McAinsh, 2003). Fig. 4 represents a schematic

presentation of calcium signalling pathways mediating the specific responses to different environmental stresses (Bouché *et al.*, 2005).



Fig. 4: Model for different signal responses mediated by Ca²⁺ and Ca²⁺-modulated proteins (Bouché *et al.*, 2005).

1.4.2 Extracellular and intracellular pH

Water molecules spontaneously ionize forming a hydronium ion (H₃O) and a hydroxyl ion (OH⁻). The reverse reaction also takes place very readily establishing an equilibrium. By tradition, the H_3O^+ concentration is usually referred to as "H⁺" concentration, even though nearly all H⁺ in an aqueous solution is present as H_3O^+ (Alberts *et al.*, 2008). The hydrogen ion (H⁺) concentration is expressed using a logarithmic scale known as the pH scale. Pure water represents a neutral solution with pH 7. Also the interior pH of the cell is kept close to neutrality by powerful proton transport mechanisms at the plasmalamma, and by the high buffering capacity of the cytosol (Kurkdjian and Guern, 1989). In biology, the proton activity (H⁺) plays crucial roles in cell signaling either directly or in cross-talk with phytohormones or Ca^{2+} (Gao et al., 2004). It might be also important for the regulation of various aspects of metabolism. For example, proteins are sensitive to changes of H⁺ concentration in their environment and pH regulates the activity of key enzymes and metabolic steps, such as the enzyme activities responsible for malate synthesis, during cation accumulation in polar transport of the plant hormone (auxin), and in the intracellular response to substances such as

auxin mimicked by the mycotoxin fusicoccin, which both cause proton extrusion (Kurkdjian and Guern, 1989; Roberts *et al.*, 1980). Due to its biochemical impact, proton concentration is tightly controlled by all cells. Additionally, the intracellular pH is considered as a second messenger for several signaling pathways. For example, cytoplasmic alkalinization conveys MeJA and ABA signalling during stomatal closure of *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Suhita *et al.*, 2004), and is also involved in plant responses to salinity, auxin, and gravity (Gao *et al.*, 2004; Fasano *et al* 2001; Kurkdjian and Guern, 1989).

A plant specific topic is the apoplast, considered as the first plant domain challenged by environmental signals. The apoplast is probably not only involved in the response to numerous environmental signals, but also in their perception and transduction and herefore cooperates with the plasma membrane (Hoson, 1998). Changes in apoplastic pH have been intensively studied in different plant species, and under different conditions. For example, tomato cells elicited by chitin or bacterial flagellin (Felix *et al.*, 1993, Felix *et al.*, 1999), root hair cells of *Sinapis alba* elicited by fusicoccin (Bertl and Felle, 1985), alfalfa root hairs in response to rhizobial lipochitooligosaccharide signals, *Vicia faba* leaves responding to different stress factors (Felle and Hanstein, 2002), and *Vitis* cells elicited by the bacterial elicitor Harpin (Qiao *et al.*, 2010) have been reported to produce rapid, and transient increases of apoplastic pH. Although still under debate, these pH responses have been proposed to act as signals for changes of light intensity, drought, oxygen deficiency, and microbial attack (Felle, 2001).

1.4.3 ROS induction

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are continuously generated in plant compartments such as mitochondria, chloroplasts, and peroxisomes as unavoidable byproducts of metabolic processes like photosynthesis and respiration (Apel and Hirt, 2004). The term ROS comprises both free radical $(O_2^{\bullet}$, superoxide radicals; OH[•], hydroxyl radical; HO₂[•], perhydroxy radical and RO[•], alkoxy radicals), and non-radical (molecular) forms (H₂O₂, hydrogen peroxide and ${}^{1}O_{2}$, singlet oxygen) (Gill and Tuteja, 2010). The different ROS species vary not only in their chemical nature, but also in their toxicity. The Superoxide O_{2} is considered as earliest ROS, while OH is among the most highly reactive ROS known. The accumulation of ROS causes oxidative damage to DNA, proteins, carbohydrates, and lipids. However, they also could function as signalling molecules regulating responses of development and various aspects of stress. Therefore, they must be closely regulated by orchestrated mechanisms (Miller *et al.*, 2010).

For different stimuli, the elevated levels of ROS are sensed at the plasma membrane, for instance by two-component signalling systems (membrane-localized histidine kinases) that, in turn, activate the MAPK signalling cascades (Fig. 5). However, ROS can also change the expression of genes by modifying their transcription factors (Apel and Hirt, 2004). Additionally, the elevation of H_2O_2 is considered as a modifier of key signalling enzymes through reversible oxidation of critical thiols (Forman and Torres, 2002). For example, salt-stressed tobacco plants increased H_2O_2 levels in the intracellular space, which in turn leads to the activation of the glutathione peroxidase 1 (gpx1) promoter (Avsian-Kretchmer et al., 2004). A second example for this type of mechanism is the induction of α -glutamate dehydrogenase (α -GDH) subunit by salinity-stimulated ROS. The anionic iso-GDHs assimilate ammonia, thus relieving stress damage by ammonia detoxification and production of glutamate glutamate for proline synthesis (Skopelitis et al., 2006). The elicitor-induced ROS production activates ion channels, defense gene, stomatal closure, and phytoalaxin synthesis (Jabs et al., 1997; Pei et al., 2000). Moreover, ROS are a hallmark of plant-specific forms PCD, so called necroptosis (Coll et al., 2011).



Fig. 5: Schematic depiction of cellular ROS sensing and signaling mechanisms adopted from Apel and Hirt, 2004.

1.4.4 Nitric oxide signals

Nitric oxide (NO) is a small, uncharged, short-lived, water and lipid soluble, highly diffusible, and ubiquitous, volatile, highly reactive free radical that functions as a biological mediator during key physiological processes in both animals and plants (Neill et al., 2003; Siddiqui et al., 2011). It acts as second messenger during vasorelaxation, neurotransmission, immunity, and cytotoxicity processes (Neill et al., 2001). In plants, NO plays crucial roles in a broad spectrum of stress responses (biotic and abiotic) and developmental processes (e.g. germination, root growth, stomatal closure). It acts as a Ca²⁺-mobilizing messenger and modulates the activity of proteins through nitrosylation and probably tyrosine nitration (Besson-Bard et al., 2008). Due to this general signalling role, NO is meanwhile considered as a phytohormone (Santner and Estelle, 2009). The cross-talk between NO and Ca²⁺-CaM, H₂O₂, ABA, and IAA signalling has been established (Sang *et al.*, 2008; Terrile et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2012). Interestingly, NO can be either cytotoxic or cytoprotective. The cytoprotective effect of NO is linked with its ability to neutralize Fenton-type oxidative damage by scavenging superoxide, and therefore preventing the formation of oxidants (such as O_2^{+} , H_2O_2 , and alkyl peroxides) which makes it easier to recover a redox homeostasis. However, when O_2^{-1} reduces NO giving rise to the strong oxidant peroxinitrite (ONOO), NO functions as a cytotoxic agent (Lamattina et al., 2003). In

addition, NO is considered as a redox regulator of the NPR1/TGA1 system (both of them are key redox-controlled regulators of systemic acquired resistance in plants) (Lindermayr *et al.*, 2010).

1.4.5 Mitogen-activated protein kinases

Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascades, that are basic signalling tools conserved in all eukaryotes, transduce environmental and developmental signals into intracellular responses. MAPKs cascades are composed of MAPKKKs, MAPKKs, and MAPKs that are activated in a sequential process. MAPKKKs (also known as MAP3Ks or MEKKs) that function upstream of MAPKs signalling, are activated via plasma membrane receptors. The resulting phosphorylation cascades activate, in turn, MAPKKs (also known as MAP2Ks, MEKs or MKKs) that eventually activate MAPKs (also known as MPKs) (Rodrigues et al., 2010; Taj et al., 2010; Wrzaczek and Hirt, 2001).

In planta, MAPKs signals regulate numerous events, including stress responses, innate immunity, and developmental processes. ROS signalling mediates the activation of MAPK signalling pathways under various abiotic stresses (Fig. 5) (Apel and Hirt, 2004). For salinity stress, different MAPK elements are activated such as MAPK4, MAPK6, and MAPKK1 (Taj et al., 2010). Arabidopsis overexpressors for AtMAPKK2 exhibited constitutive MAPK4 and MAPK6 activity, constitutively upregulated expression of stress-induced marker genes, and increased freezing and salt tolerance. Full genome transcriptome analysis of this mutant showed altered expression of 152 genes involved in transcriptional regulation (such as, STZ (Salt tolerance zinc finger protein), WRKY, MYB), signal transduction (such as a MAPKK5-related protein and a putative calmodulin), cellular defense (such as lipoxygenase and the ACC synthase AtACS-6), and stress metabolism (including a flavonol synthase and P5CS, a gene encoding a key enzyme of proline biosynthesis) (Teige *et al.*, 2004). However, MAPK signalling can also act as antagonist – for instance, AtMAPK1 negatively regulates a putative Na^{+}/H^{+} antiporter, leading to salinity sensitivity (Chinnusamy et al., 2006).

1.4.6 Cytoskeletal reorganization

Cytoskeletal polymers are unique, because, here, macromolecular subunits are linked by non-covalent bonds. As a consequence, the elements of the cytoskeleton, microtubules and actin filaments, are highly dynamic structures and assemble or disassemble in response to factors that control protein-protein interactions like ionic strength or temperature (Buchanan *et al.*, 2002). The dynamicity of cytoskeletal networks affects almost every intracellular activity, from division to movement, morphogenesis and signal transduction. The plant cytoskeleton alters SOS signaling, Ca^{2+} influx, and the proteolysis of cytoskeleton associated proteins in response to salinity stress (Wang *et al.*, 2011). Cytoskeleton-associated mechanosensors participate in the perception of osmotic stress signals in plants (Türkan and Demiral, 2009).

1.4.7 Roles of plant hormones

Phytohormones are small molecules that are transported to regulate plant growth, development, and stress responses. Auxin, ABA, cytokinin (CK), gibberellin (GA) and ethylene (ET) are identified during the first half of the twentieth century. In addition, several additional compounds are meanwhile considered as hormones, including jasmonate (JAs), brassinosteroids (BRs), salicylic acid (SA), nitric oxide (NO), polyamines (PAs) and strigolactones (SLs) (Santner and Estelle, 2009). Among those plant hormones, ABA and methyl jasmonate (MeJA) play central roles in plant adaptation to stress. They channel plant metabolism towards defense causing inhibition of root growth and cell cycle, reduction of photosynthesis, transpiration, and seed germination, and induction of stomatal closure (Suhita *et al.*, 2004). Recent advances in the signalling of these two plant hormones will be discussed in the following pages.
1.4.7.1 JA biosynthesis and mode of action

JA and related compounds, collectively named jasmonates (JAs), are ubiquitously occurring lipid-derived compounds, and function as a master switch in plant responses to several abiotic and biotic stresses such as wounding (mechanical stress), drought and salt stress, ozone and pathogen infection, and insect attack (Wasternack, 2007). Methyle jasmonate (MeJA) was firstly isolated and identified in 1962 as a new odoriferous component from jasmine oil of Jasminum grandiflorum (Demole et al., 1962). JAs have become accepted as a new class of plant hormone, mainly involved in defense (Browse, 2009). Genes coding for plant defense proteins, so-called jasmonate-induced proteins (JIPs), such as proteinase inhibitors or enzymes of phytoalexin synthesis (in grapevine mainly the stilbene resveratrol) are upregulated by JA, while those coding for housekeeping proteins such as Rubisco are downregulated (Wasternack, 2007). In addition, JAs regulate many aspects of plant development and growth such as seed germination, fruit ripening, production of viable pollen, root growth, tendril coiling, photomorphogenesis, leaf abscission, and senescence (Creelman and Mullet, 1995, 1997a, 1997b; Conconi et al., 1996; Rao et al., 2000; Riemann et al., 2003; Riemann et al., 2013; Haga and lino, 2004; Ma et al., 2006; Robson et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2011).

JAs and octadecanoids (including 12-oxophytodienoic acid (OPDA) and OPDA-containing derivatives) are members of the oxylipin family, which includes metabolites formed by oxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUSFs). JA, a cyclopentanone compound carrying two side chains (a pentenyl and a carboxylic acid), is derived from α -linolenic acid (α -LA), 18:3, via the octadicanoid pathway (Wasternack, 2002). Several of key enzymes, including, lipoxygenase (LOX), allene oxide synthase (AOS), and allene oxide cyclase (AOC), which are located in the chloroplasts, catalyze the biosynthetic pathway from the conversion of α -LA to OPDA. OPDA reductase 3 (OPR3), the peroxisome, located in reduces OPDA to 3-oxo-2(2'[Z]-pentenyl)cyclopentane-1-octanoic acid (OPC-8:0), which in turn

undergoes three cycles of β -oxidation and finally is converted to (3R,7S)-JA (Browse, 2009; Wasternack, 2007).

JAs signals (Avanci et al., 2010; Browse, 2009) have been extensively studied, using biochemical and molecular genetical approaches, in Arabidopsis thaliana and other species (Chini et al., 2009; Fonseca et al., 2009; Memelink, 2009; Reinbothe, 2009; Schaller and Stintzi, 2009). (+)-7-iso-Jasmonoyl-I-isoleucine (JA-II) generated by the enzyme JAR1 (Jasmonate-Resistant 1) represents the endogenous bioactive form of JAs (Staswick and Tiryaki, 2004, Staswick, 2008, Fonseca et al., 2009). Similar to GA and IAA signaling, jasmonate-dependent gene activation involves hormone-induced degradation of a transcriptional repressor, the jasmonate ZIM/tify-domain (JAZ/TIFY) proteins (Vanholme et al., 2007). To date, 12 JAZ/TIFY genes have been identified in Arabidopsis thaliana (Chini et al., 2007). These JAZ/TIFY genes share two conserved domains, a ZIM/TIFY (Zinc-finger protein expressed in Inflorescence Meristem), and a Jas (Jasmonate-associated) domain. The ZIM/TIFY domain mediates homo- and heteromeric hormone-independent interactions between individual JAZ/TIFY proteins (Chini et al., 2009). In contrast, the Jas domain is required for hormone-dependent interactions of JAZ/TIFY with a bHIH-type transcription factor AtMYC2 and the F-box protein COI1 (Chini et al., 2007; Thines et al., 2007) and for nuclear localisation (Grunewald et al., 2009). In the absence of stress, JAs in plant cells are maintained at low levels. However, in response to environmental or developmental signals that stimulate the biosynthesis of JAs, the elevated levels of JA-Ile promote the interaction of JAZ/TIFY SCF^{COI1}-mediated with ubiguitination (ub), repressors followed by degradation of JAZ/TIFY proteins via the 26S proteasome, which in turn frees MYC2, MYC3, MYC4, and other transcription factors (Wager and Browse, 2012). Activation of MYC2 induces transcription of early JA-responsive genes including the JAZ/TIFY genes themselves. The newly synthesised JAZ/TIFY proteins dimerise with MYC2 thus restoring the repression of MYC2 and deactivation of the pathway (Chico et al., 2008; Chung et al., 2009). They also recruit the Groucho/Tup1-type corepressor TOPLESS (TPL) and TPL-related proteins (TPRs) through a Novel Interactor of JAZ/TIFY (NINJA). NINJA acts as a transcriptional repressor, whose activity is mediated by a functional TPL-binding EAR repression motif and both NINJA and TPL proteins function as negative regulators of jasmonate responses (Pauwels *et al.*, 2010) (**Fig. 6**).



Fig. 6: Molecular mechanisms for activation and deactivation of JA signalling summarizing the current state of knowledge from the references described in the text.

1.4.7.2 ABA biosynthesis and mode of action

ABA, a growth inhibiting substance, was originally isolated and identified in the 1960s by several groups, and called *dormin* and *abscising II*. Later, it was renamed ABA to reflect its supposed role in the abscission process, although in the meantime, this name appears somewhat inappropriate, because abscission is not triggered directly by ABA, but via the induction of ET (Cutler *et al.*, 2010). ABA regulates numerous developmental processes in plants including, the inhibition of growth and germination, bud dormancy, and seed development. Moreover, during seed development, ABA initiates embryo maturation, synthesis of storage reserves and late embryogenesis abundant (LEA) proteins, as well as the induction of seed dormancy (Xiong and Zhu, 2003). Additionally, ABA has vital roles in plant adaptive responses to stresses such as drought, salt, ozone, and pathogen infection, and therefore is also seen as a stress hormone. In salt- or drought-stressed plants, ABA promotes the closure of stomata, in order to reduce the transpirational water loss (as discussed later). ABA also increases the plant stress tolerance by activating many stress-responsive genes that encode enzymes for the biosynthesis of compatible osmolytes (as shown for water-stress-induced betaine in pear leaves (Gao *et al.*, 2004)), dehydrins, and LEA-like proteins that play important roles in osmotic adjustment. In addition, ABA can induce proteins that protecting membranes under stress (Hasegawa *et al.*, 2000; Zhu, 2002). In several respects the role of ABA is due to its antagonistic interactions with other plant hormones such as IAA, GA, BRs, ET, CK, and JAs (Taiz and Zeiger, 2010).

ABA is synthesized via the terpenoid pathway and using condensation of isopentenyl diphosphate (IPP) as basic building block. The biosynthetic pathway is primarily launched in chloroplasts and other plastids by a zeaxanthin epoxidase (ZEP) which can catalyze the epoxidation of zeaxanthin (C40), and antheraxanthin (C40) to violaxanthin (C40) (Nambara and Marion-Poll, 2005; Taiz and Zeiger, 2010; Taylor et al., 2000). Violaxanthin is converted to 9'-cis-Neoxanthin (C40) which in turn undergoes Xanthoxal oxidative cleavage to (C15) catalysed by the 9-cis-epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase (NCED). NCED is considered as a key enzyme in the ABA biosynthesis pathway (Eckardt, 2002; Milborrow, 2001). Finally, Xanthoxal is then exported to the cytoplasm, where it is converted to ABA through oxidative steps involving the intermediate(s) ABA-aldehyde and/or possibly xanthoxic acid (Taiz and Zeiger, 2010).

ABA perception and signalling pathways (Cutler *et al.*, 2010; Raghavendra *et al.*, 2010) have been extensively studied in *Arabidopsis thaliana* and other species using biochemical and molecular genetical approaches (Hasegawa *et al.*, 2000; Ishibashi *et al.*, 2012; Nishimura *et al.*, 2010; Xiong and Zhu, 2003; Zhu, 2002). The long search for the ABA receptor led in 2009 to the identification of pyrabactin resistance 1 (PYR1), a member of the PYR/PYR1-like (PYL)/regulatory component of ABA receptor (RCAR) group of proteins. This novel ABA-binding protein was demonstrated as soluble

ABA receptor by two independent research groups, considered as breakthrough for the understanding of ABA signalling (Ma *et al.*, 2009; Park *et al.*, 2009). These receptors termed now PYR/PYL/RCAR, represent a family of soluble proteins of about 150–200 amino acids that share a conserved START domain. Crystallographic structure studies revealed that PYR1 is a direct receptor for ABA receptor. The PYR1 undergoes conformational changes when ABA binds to its interior cavity. The ABA-free "open-lid" conformation of PYR1 is converted to a more compact and symmetric closed-lid dimer upon binding to ABA (Nishimura *et al.*, 2009).

In the absence of stress, the ABA signal is switched off by the clade A protein phosphatases 2C (PP2C) (mainly HAB1, ABI1, and ABI2), that negatively regulate downstream kinases. However, when in response to environmental or developmental signals, ABA is synthesized and bound to PYR1, this receptor, in turn, binds to PP2Cs inducing there a conformational change resulting in its inhibition, and thus terminating the inhibition of the downstream ABA-activated kinases (OST1/SnRK2.6/SRK2E, SnRK2.2, and SnRK2.3). The released SnRK2 is able to phosphorylate downstream factors, such as the AREB/ABF bZIP-type transcription factors, ion channels (SLAC1, KAT1), and a NADPH oxidase (AtrbohF) (**Fig. 7**) (Hubbard *et al.*, 2010; Joshi-Saha *et al.*, 2011; Umezawa *et al.*, 2010). Till now, more than 100 genes and several secondary messengers such as Ca²⁺, ROS, NO, cyclic nucleotides, and phospholipids have been identified as downstream targets of these early events in ABA signalling (Cutler *et al.*, 2010; Pei *et al.*, 2000; Suhita *et al.*, 2004).



Fig. 7: Mechanisms of early abscisic acid signal transduction, adapted from Hubbard *et al.*, 2010.

1.4.8 Ubiquitin-26S proteasome system (UPS)

In eukaryotyes, such as plants, the ubiquitin–26S proteasome system (UPS) is a tightly regulated and highly specific machinery that is devoted to specific proteolysis (Sullivan *et al.*, 2003). Plants utilize the UPS to modulate almost all aspects of their biology including growth, development, and stress response (Santner and Estelle, 2010). The crucial roles of UPS are reflected in the number of genes encoding UPS components. A genomic analysis of *Arabidopsis thaliana* showed that, over than 1400 genes (or >5% of the proteome) code for UPS components (Smalle and Vierstra, 2004). Interestingly, several enzymes in the UPS are hormonal receptors. Moreover, the UPS controls the levels of essential downstream signalling proteins in hormonal signal transduction (Santner *et al.*, 2009). Thus, the plant UPS not only removes abnormal proteins that arise due to biosynthetic errors or normal proteins with wrong configuration (Vierstra, 2009), but, in addition to this canonical function, controls signal specificity by removal of specific repressors.

As discussed previously, salt-stressed plants increase the levels of different hormones such as JA and ABA activating specific branches of the UPS. The elevated levels of JA-II promote the proteolytic degradation of JAZ proteins via UPS releasing MYC2 and probably other transcription factors (Chini *et al.*, 2007; Thines *et al.*, 2007). Conversely, in ABA signalling, the synthesis of the RING E3 ABI3-INTERACTING PROTEIN 2 (AIP2) is increased, which in turn suppresses the ABA transcriptional regulator ABI3, however, the degradation of ABI5, a positive regulator of ABA signalling, is blocked (Vierstra, 2009). As to be expected, it should be possible to modulate stress tolerance through the UPS. In fact, the ubiquitin-specific proteases UBP16, which is a functional ubiquitin-specific protease, was found to increase salt tolerance by stabilization of SERINE HYDROXYMETHYLTRANSFERASE1 (SHM1) that can reduce ROS burst and therefore repress cell death and at the same time positively regulates plasma membrane Na⁺/H⁺ antiport activity (Zhou *et al.*, 2012).

1.5 Adaptive mechanisms to salinity

Life requires that an internal homeostasis is continuously defended against fluctuations of the environment. When this homeostasis is lost in consequence of external challenges, the organism experiences stress. Stress conditions will induce adaptive responses aimed to reestablish homeostasis. Since plants cannot run away, stress adaptation is their only remedy to cope with the adversities of life. The signals culminating in stress adaptation have therefore been of central scientific interest and great agronomical impact (Ingram and Bartels, 1996; Hasegawa et al., 2000; Zhu, 2002; Huang et al., 2012). A very simple mechanism to respond appropriately to stress would be to use stress-induced imbalance or its cellular consequences (in the following designated by the term stress damage) as signal to activate stress adaptation. In fact, this is the case for reactive oxygen species (ROS) that play a dual role as toxic byproducts of stress-evoked metabolic imbalance, and as central signals for the adaptation to osmotic stress (Miller et al., 2010). It is therefore far from trivial to discriminate events linked with stress damage from the events that confer stress adaptation. To assign a given event to either stress damage or stress adaptation, it is necessary to define timing as well as the phenotype observed

upon inactivation or activation of this event.

Salinity-dependent stress damage includes loss of turgescence (leading to growth arrest), membrane disorganisation, metabolic imbalance, formation of ROS, inhibition of photosynthesis, and reduced nutrient acquisition (Hasegawa *et al.*, 2000; Zhu, 2002). The cellular response depends also on the timing: it differs for a situation, where salt concentration is increased instantaneously from a situation, where the concentration increases slowly over a longer period (which is the natural situation). This distinction has been termed "salt shock" versus "salt stress" (Shavrukov, 2013) and adds a further level of complexity. However, as in most experiments, in the current study we used the design of a "salt shock" to get a clearer temporal sequence of responses. To achieve stress adaptation, the cell has to restore turgescence against the inverted gradient of water potential, and it has to quell damage-related signaling to escape programmed cell death (PCD). The velocity and amplitude of these adaptive responses will define the degree of salinity tolerance of the respective plant.

Plants have evolved different adaptive strategies in order to survive under hostile conditions. They can respond to salinity challenge in an individual way as cells and in synergistically way as a whole organism. The coping events vary in their strength and level according to the tolerance ability of the plant. At the cellular level, changing in cell wall, cell wall architecture, cell division, endomembrane system, and vacuolization of cells all lead to salt stress tolerance. At the biochemical level, plants alter their metabolism and direct it in order to accommodate salinity. Finally on the molecular level, they could link the perception of a stress signal with their genomic responses by which they fastly respond stress (Parida and Das, 2005; Taiz and Zeiger, 2010). The detailed adaptive mechanisms are discussed below.

1.5.1 Stomatal closure

Stomata (mouth in Greek; singular: stoma), are minute aperture structures on

the epidermis of plants, each delineated by two guard cells (Evert and Eichhorn, 2006). They are responsible for the regulation of the exchange of water vapour and CO_2 between the internal plant tissues and the atmosphere. As an immediate response to salt stress, stomata close in order to mitigate ion flux to the shoot (Hasegawa et al., 2000). Meanwhile, considerable efforts have been devoted to identify signalling elements regulating and controlling stomatal responses to different kind of stresses. ABA and MeJA play pivotal roles for the control of stomatal closure under stress conditions. Interestingly, their transduction pathways leading to stomatal closure share overlapping signalling elements (Suhita et al., 2004). Under drought condition, several crucial events take place. Firstly, both JAR1 and OST1 function upstream of cytoplasmic alkalinization in the MeJA and ABA-signalling pathway, respectively. Secondly, protein phosphorylation is essential for cytoplasmic alkalinization which leads to ROS production by NAD(P)H oxidase. The plasma membrane receptor kinase, GHR1, that is a critical early component in ABA signalling, mediates ABA- and H₂O₂-regulated stomatal movement through the phosphorylation and activation of S-type anion currents SLAC1 in guard cells (Hua et al., 2012). The induction of H₂O₂ activates non-selective cation currents (I_{Ca}), leading to Ca²⁺ influx and elevations of cytoplasmic calcium $[Ca^{2+}]_{cvt}$ causing stomatal closure by increasing the K⁺ efflux from the guard cells. Methyl jasmonate (MeJA) requires calcium for the induction of stomatal closure, while ABA functions independently of calcium through the IP3 pathway (Evans, 2003; Pei et al., 2000; Suhita et al., 2004). Although the stomatal closure is a fast response to drought or salt stress, this closure cannot be maintained for a long period as plants need to fix CO_2 for survival.

1.5.2 Ionic homeostasis

High salinity disrupts the extra- and intracellular ions homeostasis of plant cells. The accumulation of Na⁺ in the cytoplasm impairs K⁺ acquisition and negatively affects the entire metabolism. The concomitant increase of Ca^{2+}_{cyt} can induce pathological processes, although it might also be used as signal to initiate adaptation. Salt-stressed plants defend ionic homeostasis by

various pumps, ions, and Ca²⁺ sensors (Tuteja, 2007). In the following, the involvement of SOS pathway, NHX1, and other factors in controlling ion homeostasis will be discussed.

1.5.2.1 Na⁺ homeostasis

1.5.2.1.1 Na⁺ transport

Plants absorb water from the soil, simultaneously translocating salt ions through the endodermal membrane barrier into roots to shoots with the transpirational flux that is required to maintain their water status. Those ions are selectively conducted through plasma membrane channels according to the difference in electrochemical gradient. In addition, ion movement is constrained by gating (the proportion of the time during which the chanells are open or shut) (Yeo, 1998). However, the initial influx of Na⁺ from the soil solution into the cortical cytoplasm of plant roots takes place in a passive fashion (Tester and Davenport, 2003). Nonselective cation channels (NSCCs) passively catalyse fluxes of cations through plant membranes including the primary Na⁺ influx (Essah et al., 2003). In planta, NSCCs have been subdivided according to their voltage dependence into three classes (Demidchik and Maathuis, 2007). (1) depolarization-activated NSCCs (DA-NSCCs) primarily catalyze Ca²⁺ conductance and have a role in controlling cytoskeletal organization (Demidchik et al., 2002). Moreover, they participate in catalysing K^+ release from root cells under salinity challenge. (2) hyperpolarization-activated NSCCs (HA-NSCCs) seem to have no role for Na⁺ fluxes under saline condition. (3) voltage-insensitive NSCCs (VI-NSCCs) play a crucial role in catalysing Na⁺ influxes from the soil solution into roots (Demidchik and Maathuis, 2007; Kronzucker and Britto, 2011). Additionally, NSCCs have been classified regarding to their responsiveness to certain ligands and physical stimuli including: (1) cyclic-nucleotide-gated NSCCs (CNGCs). (2) amino-acid-gated NSCCs (AAG-NSCCs), and (3) reactive-oxygen-species-activated NSCCs (ROS-NSCCs). However, these three types of NSCCs all belong into the VI-NSCCs subclass (Kronzucker

and Britto, 2011). The involvement of different K^+ transporters in Na⁺ homeostasis has been studied by different research groups and will be discussed below in the section on K^+ homeostasis.

Plants control tightly the salt influx into the xylem stream in order to protect the actively growing cells. However, after penetration of salt into plant, it is preferential moved to older leaves, as a strategy to protect the growing (younger) leaves from harmful effects (**Fig. 8**) (Khelil *et al.*, 2007). Thus, during leaf development there must be a sequential mechanism producing discontinuous patterns of salt partitioning (Cheeseman, 1988). When the salt has accumulated to toxic levels, the mature "sink" leaves are simply dropped down (Hasegawa *et al.*, 2000).





Sodium toxicity in GrapevineChloride toxicity in grapevineFig. 8: Symptoms of sodium and chloride toxicity on grapevine.

1.5.2.1.2 Na⁺ exclusion

The ability of plant cells to maintain low cytosolic Na⁺ concentrations is crucial for the ability of a plant to grow in high salt concentrations. The highly branched SOS signalling pathway plays a pivotal regulatory role in Na⁺ homeostasis in salt-stressed plants. Under saline condition, Ca²⁺-activated SOS3 interacts with SOS2 resulting in a SOS3/SOS2 signaling complex. The SOS1 (a plasma membrane Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter) was the first identified target of this SOS3/SOS2 pathway. Upon phosphorylation, SOS1 catalyzes Na⁺ efflux across the plasma membrane reducing its harmful effects on cellular metabolism (Harper *et al.*, 2004; Munns and Tester, 2008). SOS1 directly signals to a putative K⁺ transporter by-passing SOS2 and SOS3 and therefore was proposed to be necessary for safeguarding K⁺ permeability of the plasma membrane during salinity stress (Qi and Spalding, 2004; Shabala *et al.*, 2005). Additionally, the SOS1 has a very long tail and is assumed to function as Na⁺ sensor (Zhu, 2002). However, role of the SOS pathway for plant salt tolerance seems to be not always only positively as critically reviewed by Kronzucker and Britto, 2011.

1.5.2.1.3 Na⁺ compartmentalization

Plant vacuoles comprise some 90% of the cell volume and contribute to osmotic adjustment to maintain water uptake from saline solutions. The vacuole represents the main site of turgor generation since it functions as a depository compartment for the majority of cellular minerals, hormone conjugates, and water. In addition, it accumulates secondary metabolites and proteins involved in plant defence against pathogens and herbivores releasing them in response to attack and cellular damage. Vacuolar sequestration of xenobiotic and toxic components, such as Na⁺, helps to reducing the harmful impact in the cytoplasm, where sensitive biochemical processes take place (Isayenkov et al., 2010). This strategy of intracellular compartmentalization of Na⁺ is not important only for glycophytes that are stressed at 10-100 mM NaCl, but even for halophytes that require roughly 20 to 500 mM NaCl for optimal growth (Hasegawa et al., 2000). Flowers et al., 1977 reported that Halophyte cytosolic enzymes are neither remarkably salt resistant nor salt requiring, but display the same sensitivity to salt as enzymes from glycophytes (Flowers et al., 1977). Cytosolic concentrations of Na⁺ ranging from 10 to 30 and of K⁺ above 100 mM have inhibitory effects on most enzymes (Munns and Tester, 2008). Thus, plant cells have to respond to elevated Na⁺ concentrations by maintaining low cytosolic Na⁺ concentrations through intracellular repartitioning of sodium into the vacuole. This transport of Na⁺ into the vacuolar lumen uphill its electrochemical gradient requires energy originating from the proton gradient generated by the vacuolar H⁺-ATPase and H⁺-PP_iase (Blumwald *et al*, 2000). Therefore,

the capacity of the vacuole to sequester toxic cations is decisive for the ability of a plant cell to adapt to salinity (Darley *et al.*, 2000).

The Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger (NHX) class of transporters, the plant homologue of the yeast Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger, were originally isolated and identified for their important roles in cellular ion homeostasis under drought and salt stresses (Apse et al., 1999; Gaxiola et al., 1999). This class of transporters catalyzes the electroneutral exchange of Na⁺ or K⁺ with H⁺ maintaining intracellular pH and Na⁺ and K⁺ homeostasis in all eukaryotes (Martinoia et al., 2012). Arabidopsis thaliana harbours six intracellular members of the NHX class that are divided into two groups, based on sequence homology. Unlike the vacuolar NHX1 to NHX4 which are localized in the tonoplast membrane, NHX5 and NHX6 reside in the endosome (Bassil et al., 2011). AtNHX1 and AtNHX2 transcript levels are not upregulated in response to NaCl in the ABA-free aba2-1 but maintain their responsiveness to exogenous ABA indicating that the osmotic responsiveness of these genes is ABA-dependent (Yokoi et al., 2002). Data from the Arabidopsis sos2 mutant showed that the tonoplast Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger in Arabidopsis is regulated by SOS2 (Qiu et al., 2004). NHX1, particularly, in concert with other members of this family of transporters, plays crucial roles in pH regulation and K^+ homeostasis, regulating processes from vesicle trafficking and cell expansion to plant development (Rodríguez-Rosales et al., 2008). Overexpression of the vacuolar AtNHX1 antiporter in Arabidopsis, canola or tomato plants increased the salt tolerance up to 200 mM NaCl (Apse et al., 1999; Blumwald, 2000; Chinnusamy et al., 2006).

1.5.2.2 Ca²⁺ homeostasis

Controlling Ca²⁺ levels is not only a crucial task under salinity but also relevant for all aspects of developmental and stress signaling. Therefore, plants have adopted different strategies to increase Ca²⁺_{cyt} and to restore the initial low level after signalling has been completed. The balance between the 'on' reactions, by which the Ca²⁺_{cyt} is elevated, and the 'off' reactions, through

which the Ca² signal is damped by buffering, pumping and exchanging machineries, determines the intracellular Ca²⁺ levels at any time point (Berridge *et al.*, 2003). The central plant vacuoles (equivalent to lysosomes of animal cells with regard to their degradation and autophagy functions) represent the major Ca²⁺ store in a mature plant cell. However, the Ca²⁺ sequestration into the vacuole is an energy-consuming process as the Ca²⁺_{cyt} is lower than vacuolar Ca²⁺ (Pittman, 2011). High-capacity vacuolar Ca²⁺ exchangers (CAXs) genes play crucial roles in ion homeostasis and signal transduction (Hirschi, 2001), and are complemented by autoinhibited Ca²⁺-ATPase pumps of the P_{IB}-type (ACAs) on the tonoplast, similar to mammalian CaM-stimulated ATPases, are released from autoinhibition by binding of Ca²⁺/CaM to the N-terminal autoinhibitory domain such that Ca²⁺_{cyt} is reduced by a feedback regulation (Peiter, 2011).

1.5.3 Osmotic adjustment

Many plant species, especially those that are salt-tolerant, have the capacity to alter the intracellular osmotic potential when they experience osmotic stress, which could be imposed either directly (e.g. drought, salt and freeze-induced dehydration) or indirectly (e.g. chilling and hypoxia) (Nuccio et al., 1999). This active change of osmotic potential gave the rise to the widely accepted concept of osmotic adjustment (Bressan et al., 2008). For this purpose, plants mainly accumulate metabolically inert compounds in the cytoplasm as part of an overall adaptive mechanism to maintain both turgor and the driving gradient for water uptake by raising the cellular osmotic pressure. Additionally, these osmolytes represent a sink for unutilized products of primary metabolism (Bressan et al., 2008). They are mainly characterized by their low molecular-weight, highly solubility, and nontoxicity even at high concentrations. As organic osmolytes quaternary ammonium compounds (QACs), and tertiary sulfonium compounds (TSCs) have been observed in many organisms including bacteria, cyanobacteria, algae, animals, and higher plants (Rhodes and Hanson, 1993). They are advantageous, because they do not interfere with structure and function of other macromolecules including proteins, even at comparatively high concentrations (Burg and Ferraris, 2008). The synthesis of compatible solutes consumes energy causing a reduction of plant growth, but allows the plant to survive under non-favorable conditions (Munns and Tester, 2008). Halophytes accumulate relatively high concentrations of osmolytes, whereas glycophytes achieve only low osmolyte concentrations. These osmolytes stabilize the tertiary structure of proteins, and scavenge stress-induced ROS species, thus providing osmoprotection(Türkan and Demiral, 2009).

A range of molecules such as sugars (e.g. fructose, sucrose and glucose), sugar alcohols (e.g. mannitol, glycerol and methylated inositols), complex sugars (trehalose, raffinose and fructans), amino acids (e.g. proline), methylated proline-related compounds (e.g. methyl-proline), betaines (e.g. glycinebetaine), and methylated sulphonio compounds (e.g. dimethylsulphonioproprionate, DMSP) have been proposed to fulfil osmoprotective functions in halophytes (Flowers and Colmer, 2008; Türkan and Demiral, 2009). Glycine betaine (GB), a fully N-methyl-substituted derivative of glycine, is considered as one of the major osmoprotectant osmolytes. Found in a wide variety of microoorganisms, higher plants, and animals, GB effectively stabilizes the guaternary structures of enzymes and folded protein structures, and at the same time preserves the thylakoid and plasma membrane integrity under stressed conditions (Chen and Murata, 2008; Rhodes and Hanson, 1993). In higher plants, GB is synthesized in chloroplasts from choline by the action of choline monooxygenase (CMO) and betaine aldehyde dehydrogenase (BADH). Transgenic plants engineered to synthesize more GB were shown to exhibit improved tolerance to different forms of abiotic stress for different model plants such as Arabidopsis thaliana, rice, and rapeseed. Conversely, when GB was exogenously applied, low- or non-accumulating plants acquired stress resistance as shown for rice and maize (Chen and Murata, 2002; Tuteja, 2007).

There is evidence for a role of GB in signal transduction and ion homeostasis (Ashraf and Foolad, 2007). Transcription profiling in turfgrass and

Arabidopsis thaliana (John, 2002) revealed strong regulation of MAP kinase transcripts by GB, which is expected to modulate the SOS pathway. Additional candidates for downstream genes contributing to osmotic tolerance included a lipoxygenase, monodehydroascorbate reductase, osmotin, and several candidate 'master switch' genes including a WRKY DNA binding protein.

The amino acid proline (Pro) is a further major osmoticum that is accumulated under stress. Pro is involved in ROS scavenging, stabilisation of subcellular structures (membranes and proteins), and the buffering of cellular redox potential under stress conditions. Although, in plants, Pro can be synthesized from two different precursors, glutamate and ornithine (Verbruggen and Hermans, 2008), the glutamate pathway catalyzed by Δ^{1} -pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase (P5CS) represents the main pathway for stress-induced Pro accumulation, whereas the pathway catalyzed by Δ^1 -pyrroline-5-carboxylate ornithine δ -aminotransferase (OAT) and synthetase (P5CR) is of minor relevance here (Stines et al., 1999). From the growth phenotypes of the Arabidopsis thaliana mutants p5cs1 (mutant deficient in stress-induced Pro synthesis), aba2-1 (ABA-deficient mutant), and p5cs1/aba2-1 (double mutants) it can be inferred that Pro metabolism is required for ABA-mediated growth protection at low water potential (Sharma et al., 2011).

1.5.4 ROS scavenging

In addition to restoring osmotic gradients and ionic balance, adaptation to salt stress requires that ROS homeostasis is restored. Under normal growth conditions, ROS are continuously produced in plants as byproducts of aerobic metabolism such as photosynthesis, photorespiration and respiration (Abogadallah, 2010). However, ROS can be induced by a wide varity of stresses such as drought, salinity, pathogens and ozone. Salinity- or drought-stressed plants close stomata which in turn limits water loss (favourable effect) and the influx of CO_2 (unfavourable effect) (Hsu and Kao, 2003). Consequently, carbon reduction and NADPH (an electron acceptor in photosynthesis) consumption by the Calvin cycle are decreased, resulting in electron leakage from photosystem 1 to the alternative electron acceptor, O_2 , and initiating the Mehler reaction (Türkan and Demiral, 2009). The resultant O_2^{\bullet} is considered as earliest ROS that consequently intiates other ROS, including the most noxious OH[•]. Additionally, the peroxisomal glycolate oxidase during photorespiration, plasma-membrane located NADPH oxidases, amine oxidases and cell-wall-bound peroxidases are important sources for ROS that are active to a certain extent even under normal conditions, but are activated in response to stress (Mittler, 2002).

Plants must strictly maintain ROS homeostasis to mitigate the toxicity of ROS throughout their lifecycle. Therefore, plants have employed different scavenging machineries that tightly control the ROS levels, both enzymatic and nonenzymatic (Apel and Hirt, 2004). Plant enzymatic antioxidant include superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase mechanisms (CAT), ascorbate peroxidase (APX), glutathione reductase (GR), monodehydroascorbate reductase (MDHAR), dehydroascorbate reductase (DHAR), glutathione peroxidase (GPX), guaicol peroxidase (GOPX), and glutathione-S- transferase (GST). The metalloenzyme SOD is the most effective intracellular enzymatic antioxidant and acts by dismutating superoxide to H₂O₂ which in turn can then be detoxified by APX, GPX, and CAT (Apel and Hirt, 2004). The nonenzymatic antioxidants comprise ascorbic acid (ASH), glutathione (GSH), phenolic compounds, alkaloids, non-proteinogenic amino acids and α -tocopherols) (Gill and Tuteja, 2010).

1.6 Research on salinity tolerance of Vitis

1.6.1 Why grapevine as model?

Arabidopsis thaliana is frequently used as a genetic model in plant research for many reasons. First, it is a representative for the large group of dicotyledonous plants harbouring most of our crop plants. Second, extensive genetic and genomic methods and resources are available for this model species that, in addition is easy to be transformed. Third, its genome represents one of the smallest known genomes among flowering plants. Forth, its small size and simple growth requirements make it easy to grow and handle in laboratory conditions. Fifth, the plant is a self-fertilizing diploid that produces thousands of seeds from a single individual with relatively short life cycle of ~8 weeks (Somerville and Koornneef, 2002). Based on these advantages, Arabidopsis has bee extensively studied as modelto dissect salt-stress pathways (Ma et al., 2006), including several genomic and proteomic analyses of salinity tolerance in sets of corresponding mutants (Jiang et al., 2007; Zhu, 2000). Sodium influx and accumulation in response to saline conditions were measured in the Arabidopsis ecotype C 24, also Gd³⁺ after treatment with pharmacological agents such as and Diethylepyrocarbonate (DEPC) (Essah et al., 2003). However, Arabidopsis thaliana is salt sensitive and does not provide a good model to study tolerance to salinity tolerance or Na⁺. Moreover, the agronomic value of Arabidopsis itself is limited.

The decision to use grapevine as model in the current thesis, is mainly motivated by application. Grapevine is the economically most important fruit species worldwide and has been linked to agricultural and religious activities since the earliest writings and chronicles (Vivier and Pretorius, 2002). It has been domesticated more than 7000 years ago, and it has shaped human civilisation in the Near East and the Mediterranean regions (McGovern, 2003). In 2010, the worldwide grapevine areas comprised ~7100000 hectares of this intensely cultivated crop that produced 67000000 tonnes of fruits (FAOSTAT data, 2010. http://faostat.fao.org). In addition to its traditional, religious, and economic value, grapevine has been intensively studied with respect to functional genetics and, after Arabidopsis and rice, was the third crop, where a genome project had been completed. It has developed into the prime plant model for perennial crops and therefore shifted into the focus of applied plant research.

Introduction

Specific for the study of salinity stress, grapevines are considered as moderately salt-sensitive and highly drought-tolerant crops: A soil EC of 2.5 ds.m⁻¹ (corresponding to 25 mM NaCl) results in both growth and crop reduction, more than 6.7 ds.m⁻¹ (corresponding to 67 mM NaCI) are required to cause vine death (Tattersall et al., 2007). Interestingly, chloride appears to be the more toxic component of NaCl in Vitis as is the case for other woody species, while sodium is the most dangerous ion for most annual plant species (Kronzucker and Britto, 2010), emphasizing the need for additional plant models outside Arabidopsis thaliana. In addition, grapevine is able to accumulate specific phytoalexins such as resveratrol at different developmental stages and upon pathogen infection (Derckel et al., 1999; Jeandet et al., 2002). These distinctive characteristics along with the availability of Vitis genome (Jaillon et al., 2007) render grapevine an excellent model to study salinity signalling and salinity tolerance determinants.

1.6.2 Grapevine stilbenes

Stilbene phytoalexins are a class of low-molecular-weight plant secondary metabolites that are generated *de novo* in response to biotic (e.g. fungal infection) and abiotic stress factors (e.g. UV-irradiation and wounding), as well as during different developmental stages (Derckel et al., 1999; Petit et al., 2009). Stilbens are a small family of phenylpropanoids produced in a limited number of unrelated plant species, such as grapevine (Vitis vinifera L and and Vitis labrusca L), peanut (Arachis hypogaea), Japanese knotweed, sorghum (Sorghum bicolor), and several species of Pinus and Picea (Parage et al., 2012). Grapevine stilbenes (resveratrol and viniferins) are constitutively present in the woody organs (roots, canes, stems). However, they are only produced upon induction in leaves and fruits (Bavaresco et al., 1999). Resveratrol (3, 5, 4'-trihydroxystilbene), in particular, is considered as the major component of the grapevine response to stress. It mainly accumulates in the skin of grape berries although it could be detected in other organs as well such as stem, axillary bud, shoot tip, petiole, root and leaf of grape plants (Wang et al., 2010).

Interestingly, in addition to its roles in plants, resveratrol was also found to have several benefits for animal and human health. Scientists were puzzled for many years about the fact that French people who consume high calory diets that clog the arteries, yet still maintain good health, a phenomenon termed "French paradox". The mortality rate from coronary heart disease is much lower in France than in other industrialised countries such as the USA and UK although the concentrations of serum cholesterol are similar to those of the USA and UK (Renaud and de Lorgeril, 1992). This discrepancy was explained by the daily glass of red wine accompanying the meals in France. Resveratrol performs multifunctional tasks. It acts as antioxidant, antimutagen, anti-inflammatory, inhibits cyclooxygenase and hydroperoxidase functions (antipromotion activity), and has antiprogression activity in human promyelocytic leukemia (Jang et al., 1997). Moreover, it works as an activator of Sir2, which encodes an NAD-dependent deacetylase proposed to underlie the beneficial effects of caloric restriction. Therefore, resveratrol has been shown to extend the lifespan of diverse species including yeast, Drosophila, and mouse (Guarente and Picard, 2005). The presence of resveratrol shifts the physiology of mice feeding high-calory diets towards that of mice on a standard diet, modulates known longevity pathways, and improves health, as indicated by a variety of measures including survival, motor function, insulin sensitivity, organ pathology, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ coactivator 1 α (PGC-1 α) activity, and mitochondrial number (Baur et al., 2006). However, in plant cells, resveratrol acts as signal triggering programmed cell death which makes sense in the context of a pathogen attack (Chang et al., 2011), but not in the context of salt stress. This implies that efficient salt adaptation must circumvent or quell the induction of defense-related responses that participate in PCD.

1.6.2.1 Biosynthesis and metabolism of stilbenes

Stilbenes are formed via the phenylpropanoid/polymalonate pathway. The phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL) catalyses the first step of the phenylpropanoid pathway by converting the phenylalanine to cinnammonic

acid which subsequently produces p-coumaroyl acid via cinnamoate-4hydroxylase (C4H) and the later introduce p-coumaroyl-CoA and three units of malonyl-CoA by the action of 4-coumarate: CoA ligase (Fig. 9). All higher plants seem to be able to conduct these three enzymatic steps, but only few plant species, such as grapevines, can produce stilbenes (Chong et al., 2009). The last steps of the phenylpropanoid pathway are catalyzed by Chalcone (CHS) and stilbene (STS) synthases that are related plant-specific polyketide synthases and are considered as key enzymes in the biosynthesis of flavonoids and of stilbene phytoalexins, respectively. STS is proposed to have evolved from CHS by a gene duplication followed by mutation of one amino acid in the active center. The advantage gained by this new enzymatic function favored the selection of plants with improved STS activity (Parage et al., 2012; Tropf et al., 1994). Resveratrol, after its synthesis, undergoes several modifications such as glycosylation to produce piceid (its inactive form) by the resveratrol glucosyltransferase (Hall and De Luca, 2007), but also methylation to the toxic pterostilbene, or oxidation and dimerization to the highly toxic δ and ε -viniferins (Morales *et al.*, 1997, **Fig. 9**).



Fig. 10: Biosynthesis and metabolic pathway of grapevine stilbenes. PAL, Phe ammonium lyase; C4H, cinnamoate 4-hydroxylase; 4CL, 4-hydroxycinnamoate CoA ligase; CHS, chalcone synthase; STS, stilbene synthase. This pathway is adopted from Schröder Group website; <u>http://www.biologie.uni-freiburg.de/data/bio2/schroeder/Resveratrol.html</u>, with some modifications.

1.7 Scopes of this study

The elucidation of mechanisms by which plants sense, signal, and respond to salinity stress is of great interest to plant biologists. For instance, the phytohormones ABA and Jasmonates (JAs) play a central role in plant adaptation to stress. The role of ABA for osmotic adaptation has long been recognized and intensively studied. For example, ABA increases salinity tolerance by activating stress-responsive genes that encode enzymes for the biosynthesis of osmolytes (e.g. betaine), or protective proteins, such as dehydrins, and LEA-like proteins (Gao *et al.*, 2004; Hasegawa *et al.*, 2000).

However, for other hormones that accumulate in response of salinity, it is not clear, whether their increase is adaptive or simply a manifestation of stress damage: JAs, for instance have been shown to be induced by osmotic stress (see for instance Creelman and Mullet, 1995; Lehmann et al., 1995), and a correlation between salt tolerance and the steady-state levels of JA has been drawn for two tomato cultivars (Pedranzani et al., 2003). However, when this JA induction was investigated in a more quantitative manner in salt-stressed rice roots, JA was found to be induced much later and only modestly as compared to ABA. Only for very high concentrations of salt close to lethality, the induction of JA became dominant (Moons et al., 1997). Moreover, JA antagonized ABA with respect to the induction of adaptive genes. In our previous work, we have analyzed the role of JA for the induction of a osmoprotective PR10 protein (RSOsPR10) in the same system, rice roots (Takeuchi et al., 2011), and we could show that the RSOsPR10 transcript is also activated, in a manner similar to the wild type, in a rice mutant that cannot synthetize any JA. Thus, although strong activation of the JA pathway is accepted as key event of plant defense (Browse, 2009) required to induce typical defense proteins, such as proteinase inhibitors or enzymes involved in phytoalexin synthesis (Wasternack, 2007), adaptive responses to salt stress seem to be accompanied by a more constrained induction of the JA pathway. In fact, as pointed out in more details above, there exists a multimeric transcriptional corepression complex machinery to suppress JA-signaling: In Arabidopsis thaliana, 12 JAZ/TIFY proteins, the corepressor TOPLESS (TPL), TPL-related proteins (TPRs), and a Novel Interactor of JAZ (NINJA) participate in this machinery (Chini et al. 2007; Thines et al., 2007; Pauwels et al., 2010) indicating that JA signaling must be tightly controlled to avoid hazardous side effects. This complexity is further amplified by ramifications of the pathway into several bioactive derivatives of JA: Conjugation with isoleucine by the JAR1 (Jasmonate-Resistant 1) enzyme generates (+)-7-iso-Jasmonoyl-I-isoleucine (JA-II) as endogenous JA-species with the highest bioactivity (Staswick and Tiryaki, 2004, Staswick, 2008, Fonseca et al., 2009). The role of JA-II, to our knowledge, so far has not been investigated in the context of salinity stress.

The overview in the introduction, which is far from complete, may suffice to demonstrate that adaptation to salinity is not provided by one single "master-switch", but must have evolved from tuning the cross-talk of different regulatory circuits. To address these circuits, we decided to make use of natural biodiversity in a system, where osmotic adaptation can be studied in contrast to defense-related signaling. We employed two cell lines from two closely related grapevine species differing in osmotic tolerance (Ismail et al., 2012): Vitis rupestris inhabits rocky, sunny slopes, and therefore has evolved a considerable osmotic tolerance. In contrast, Vitis riparia occurs in alluvial woods and performs poorly under osmotic stress. During previous studies we could show that different genotypes of grapevine cell lines accumulate different levels and types of ROS-scavenging stilbenes in a defense context (Chang et al., 2011), and we have mapped these differences with respect to defense-related signaling (Chang and Nick, 2012). In addition to these experimental prerequisites, Vitis was chosen for its agronomical relevance. Grapevine is the economically most important fruit species worldwide, and since it is preferentially cultivated in semiarid regions, osmotic tolerance is a central issue. A conceptual problem is the fact that the same general players (such as calcium, protons, oxidative burst, jasmonate signalling) seem to convey different responses, depending on the context. Central questions were:

- 1. How can plant cells activate different (appropriate) outputs, although the input is of identical or similar in molecular quality?
- 2. What is the importance of signal signatures?
- 3. What is the role of NSCCs, where they function, and how they affect the plant response to stress?
- 4. How can the signatures of Ca²⁺, protons and ROS shape the plant reaction under stress?
- 5. What are the precise roles of JA and its isoleucine conjugate (JA-II, to our knowledge we show for the first time a response of this conjugate

in a stress context) in salinity adaptation?

- How do stress signals, Ca²⁺, H⁺ interact with phytohormones (JA, JA-II, ABA, IAA, and SA)?
- 7. What is the role of grapevine phytoalexins stilbenes?

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Cell culture and chemical treatments

2.1.1 Vitis cell culture

Suspension cell cultures of *Vitis rupestris* and *Vitis riparia* generated from leaves (Seibicke, 2002) were cultivated in liquid medium containing 4.3 g⁻¹ Murashige-Skoog salts (Duchefa, Haarlem, The Netherlands), 30 g⁻¹ sucrose, 200 mg⁻¹ KH₂PO₄, 100 mg⁻¹ inositol, 1 mg⁻¹ thiamine, and 0.2 mg⁻¹ 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D), pH 5.8. The microelements of the Murashige-Skoog medium are composed of 0.025 mg⁻¹ CoCl₂.6H₂O, 0.025 mg⁻¹ CuSO₄.5H₂O, 36.70 mg⁻¹ FeNaEDTA, 6.20 mg⁻¹ H₃BO₃, 0.83 mg⁻¹ KI, 16.90 mg⁻¹ MnSO₄.H₂O, 0.25 mg⁻¹ NaMoO₄.2H₂O, and 8.60 mg⁻¹ ZnSO₄.7H₂O, while the macroelements are 332.02 mg⁻¹ CaCl₂, 170.00 mg⁻¹ KH₂PO₄, 1900.00 mg⁻¹ KNO₃, 180.54 mg⁻¹ MgSO₄, 1650.00 mg⁻¹ NH₄NO₃. Cells were subcultured weekly; 10 ml of stationary cells were inoculated into 30 ml of fresh medium in 100 ml Erlenmeyer flasks. The cell suspensions were incubated at 25°C in the dark on an orbital shaker (KS250 basic, IKA Labortechnik, Staufen, Germany) at 150 rpm.

2.1.2 Chemical treatments

To induce cellular responses, suspension cell cultures of *V. rupestris* and *Vitis riparia* were treated at day 5 after subcultivation with different concentrations of either sodium chloride (NaCl, diluted from a 5-M stock solution),, (±)-jasmonic acid (JA) (Sigma-Aldrich, Germany) diluted from an ethanolic stock solution, acetylsalicylic acid (aspirin) (Sigma-Aldrich, Germany) dissolved from a stock in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), or an aqueous solution of the inhibitor 1-phenylpyrazolidinone (phenidone) containing 0.1% of polyoxy-ethylene-orbitan monolaurate (Tween 20) (both obtained from

Sigma-Aldrich, Germany). Gadolinium chloride (GdCl₃) (Sigma-Aldrich, Deisenhofen, Germany) was used as inhibitor of mechanosensitive calcium channels and diluted with H₂O to a 100 and 1000 mM stock solution. Negative controls contained the corresponding concentrations of solvent without the active ingredient. The fluorescent dye dihydroethidium (DHE), Sigma-Aldrich, Germany for detection of ROS was dissolved in DMSO in a 30-mM stock solution, covered with aluminum foil and stored in -20°C.

2.2 Measurement of packed cell volume (PCV)

Packed cell volume (PCV) as a measure of growth was recorded in response to different concentrations of NaCI (50, 85, 155 mM) or 0.75 mM GdCl₃ added directly at subculture. Equal aliquots of stationary cells were sub-cultivated in fresh medium in presence of different concentrations of NaCI, or equal volumes of the H₂O. In some experiments, 30 μ M JA or 30 μ M ABA, or 1 mM CaCl₂ was added alone or directly before 50 mM NaCl was applied. In addition, 0.75 mM GdCl₃ was applied to the cells with the same procedure. The relative increment in PCV, $(\Delta V_t/V_t)/(\Delta t)$, was used as measure of the growth response. Three biological replicates of each cultivar were daily collected into 15 ml Falcon tubes, sedimented overnight at 4 °C, and then the cell growth rate was measured using the volume grading of the tube. Time courses of growth inhibition were followed by comparing the cell growth rate in presence of 50, 85, or 155 mM NaCl as compared to the solvent control. Additionally, growth rate of cells under 50 mM NaCl alone or in the presence of, 30 µM JA or 30 µM ABA, or 1 mM CaCl₂ was compared to application of 30 µM JA or 30 µM ABA, or 1 mM CaCl₂ alone and the water-treated samples. Moreover, the impact of GdC_{13} on growth rate was monitored. Each data point represents at least the mean from 3 measurements collected each day after subcultivation over a week.

2.3 Determination of cell viability

To determine cell viability, cells were treated by NaCl, CaCl₂, JA, ABA, GdCl₃,

or water, as a control, directly after the weekly sub-cultivation for 8 days.

To differentiate between short and long term adaptation, and to test whether NaCl or with another treatments could induce cell death, cells from *V. rupestris* and *V. riparia* were stained with Evans Blue (Gaff and Okong'O-Ogola, 1971). Cells were transferred into a custom-made staining chamber (Nick *et al.*, 2000) to remove the medium, and then incubated with 2.5 % Evans Blue for 3-5 min. After washing three times with distilled water, cells were mounted on a slide and observed under a light microscope (Zeiss-Axioskop 2 FS, DIC illumination, 20 × objective). Due to the breakdown of the plasma membrane, Evans Blue is capable of penetrating into dead cells, resulting in a blue staining of the cell interior. Frequency of cell death was calculated as ratio of the number of dead cells over the total number of scored cells. For each time point, 500 cells were scored in three dependent experiments.

2.4 Measurement of cellular Na⁺. and Ca²⁺ content

Cells were treated with 155 mM NaCl at day 5 after subcultivation and incubated on a shaker for 2, 5, 10, 15, 30 min, 1, 2, 3, and 6 h at 150 rpm. At each time point, the medium components were three-time washed off with iso-osmotic mannitol solution using a Büchner funnel under vacuum (Babourina *et al.*, 2000), and then dried at 80°C overnight. After determining dry weight, cells were digested according to Ippolito and Barbarick (2000) with minor modifications as follows: Dry cells of each biological replicate were transferred into digestion tubes (Gerhardt, UK), supplemented with 5 ml of concentrated nitric acid (HNO₃), and then incubated for at least 24 h at room temperature while vortexing at 6 and 24 h. Samples were placed on a water bath at 105°C for 2 h. After cooling, the final volume of each sample was adjusted to 10 ml with distilled water and vortexed. Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ contents were measured by flame atomic absorption spectrometry (AAnalyst200, Perkin Elmer) in an air-acytelene flame (Institute of Mineralogy and Geochemistry, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology). Blank samples were

prepared by adding 5 ml concentrated nitric acid on an empty digestion vessel and processed as described above. Additionally, 155 mM NaCl was applied to the cells after pretreatment with 0.75 mM GdCl₃ for 2 min followed by the same procedure. In a third set of experiments, 1 mM CaCl₂ were added alone or directly prior to salt. Concentrations were calculated with reference to dry weight from three independent biological replicates.

2.5 Measurement and quantitative analysis of extracellular pH

Apoplastic alkalinization was followed by a pH meter (Schott handylab, pH 12) connected to a pH electrode (Mettler Toledo, LoT403-M8-S7/120), and recorded by a paperless recorder (VR06; MF Instuments GmbH, Albstadt-Truchtelfingen, Germany) at 1-s intervals. Before induction, 2 ml of suspension cells (4 d after subcultivation) were pre-adapted on an orbital shaker for ~90 min, until the pH was stable. To test the effect of salt on extracellular pH, cells were treated with 155 mM NaCl for 1 h. To block the induction of apoplastic pH, cells were pretreated with different concentration of GdCl₃ or water for 2 min before the addition of salt.

The pH data were exported to Microsoft Office Excel by the data-acquisition software Observer II_V2.35 (MF Instruments GmbH). The data were fitted based on a Michaelis-Menten equation with T_{pH50} as V_{max} , EC₂₅ as K_m, and the concentration of NaCI as [S]. T_{pH50} was the time required to reach 50% of the maximal pH response. Consequently, the equation yielded K_m as an estimate for the concentration causing 25% of the maximal response (EC₂₅).

2.6 Detection of ROS species

ROS were detected under salt stress using dihydroethidium (DHE) according to Tarpey *et al.*, 2004. DHE detects essentially superoxide radicals (O_2^{\bullet}) . Shortly, 1 ml of suspension cells was stabilised for at least 1 h in the culture

shaker, and then 30 μ M of DHE were added. Cells were incubated with the dye for 3 to 7 minutes in a dark chamber, on an orbital shaker at room temperature. They were washed 3 times in MS medium in a dark chamber, on an orbital shaker at room temperature. 155 mM NaCl were added immediately before observing cells under the fluorescent microscope (AxioImager Z.1, Zeiss, Jena, Germany) equipped with an ApoTome microscope slider through the filter set 43 HE (excitation at 550 nm, beamsplitter at 570 nm, and emission at 605 nm) over up to 6 hours.

2.7 Cloning and sequence analysis of JAZ/TIFY genes

Three putative full-length cDNA clones coding for the grapevine homologues of AtJAZ1, 2, and 3 (TIFY10a, 10b, and 6b respectively) were isolated from V. rupestris using full-length primers (Table 2). A high-fidelity PCR system (PhusionTM DNA Polymerase, NEB) was used with the following PCR parameters: 30 s template initial denaturation at 98°C, 10 s template denaturation at 98°C, 15 s primer annealing at 63, 64.1, 64.1°C respectively, and 40 s primer extension at 72°C for 35 cycles, with a final 5 min extension step at 72°C. The isolated sequences were compared with database sequence using the BLAST program (Altschul et al., 1997). The three putative grapevine JAZ/TIFY homolouges were inserted into the pJet1.2 vector (CloneJET[™] PCR Cloning Kit, Fermentas) and transformed into competent *E. coli* DH5a according to the protocol of the manufacturer yielding pJet1.2 JAZ1/TIFY10a, JAZ2/TIFY10b, or JAZ3/TIFY6b, respectively. Upon isolation using the Roti®-Prep Plasmid MINI (Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany) kit according to the protocol of the producer, the three inserts were sequenced by a commercial provider (GATC, Konstanz, Germany) and submitted to Genebank under the accessions JF900329 (VrJAZ1/TIFY10a), JF900330 (VrJAZ2/TIFY10b), and JF900331 (VrJAZ3/TIFY6b). Predicted

protein sequences were aligned and analysed using ClustalX (Jeanmougin *et al.*, 1998), and GeneDoc (Nicholas and Nicholas, 1997), and the tree was visualized with the Treeview program (http://taxonomy.zoology.gla.ac.uk/rod/rod.html).

2.8 Quantification of gene expression

Aliquots (1.5 ml) of cells collected at day 5 after subcultivation were treated with different concentrations of NaCl (0-200 mM) for 1, 3 and 6 hour, sedimented by low-speed centrifugation (3000 rpm; 1 min), and shock-frozen in liquid nitrogen. Samples were homogenised with steel beads (Tissue Lyser, Qiagen/Retsch, Germany), and total RNA was extracted using the innuPREP Plant RNA Kit (analytikjena, Jena, Germany) following the protocol of the producer. The extracted RNA was treated with a DNA-free DNase1 (Qiagen, Hildesheim, Germany) to remove potential contamination by genomic DNA. The mRNA was transcribed into cDNA using the M-MuLV RTase cDNA Synthesis Kit (New England BioLabs; Frankfurt am Main, Germany) according to the instructions of the manufacturer.

To study gene expression by RT-PCR, transcripts were amplified by PCR primers (Table 2) with 30 cycles of 1 min denaturation at 94°C, 30 s annealing at 60°C except with MYC2, 63°C, and 1 min synthesis at 72°C. The PCR products were separated by conventional agarose gel electrophoresis after visualisation with SybrSafe (Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germany). Images of the gels were recorded on a MITSUBISHI P91D screen (Invitrogen) using a digital image acquisition system (Safelmage, Intas, Germany). The bands of the amplificons were quantified using the Image J software (http://rsbweb.nih.gov/ij/) and normalised relative to elongation factor 1α as internal standard. The results were plotted as fold increase of transcript abundance as compared with the untreated control. For the time-course, cells were treated with 155 mM NaCl for 1, 3, and 6 h, and then RNA was

extracted. *JAZ1/TIFY10a*, *COI1*, *MYC2*, *NHX1*, *STS*, and *RS* expression was measured by RT-PCR at each time point.

To test the effect of JA on the induction of the three putative JAZ/TIFY genes, cells were pre-treated with 0, 10, 20, 30, 40, and 50 µM JA for 1 h or corresponding concentrations of EtOH as a solvent control . Alternatively, 1 mM aspirin (Peña-Cortès *et al.*, 1993) was added 6 h prior to addition of NaCl, and cells were harvested 1 h later. As solvent control, corresponding concentrations of DMSO were added instead of aspirin. In a third set of experiments, cells were pretreated with 2 mM of phenidone for 30 min (Bruinsma *et al.*, 2010) prior to addition of 155 mM NaCl and then harvested 1, 3 and 6 h later. As a control, cells were pretreated with either 0.1% Tween 20 or phenidone 2 for 30 min before NaCl was added for 1 h. All quantifications of gene expression represent the mean from at least three independent experimental series.

Name	GeneBank accession no.	Primer sequence 5'-3'	Reference
EF1-α	EC959059	5'-GAACTGGGTGCTTGATAGGC-3' 5'-AACCAAAATATCCGGAGTAAAAGA-3'	Reid <i>et al.</i> (2006)
<i>JAZ1/TIFY10a</i> 300bp	JF900329	5′-TGCAGTCTGTTGAGCCAATACATA-3′ 5′-CACGTTTCCGGACTTCTTTACAC-3′	this work
JAZ2/TIFY10b 360bp	JF900330	5'-CATCAACCATGTCATTTGACCTGT-3' 5'-CGGTTGAGCTGCCTGTATTGATT-3'	this work
<i>JAZ3/TIFY6b</i> 333bp	JF900331	5'-AACAAGATCTCTGCACTTCCTCAT-3' 5'- AGCACCAACCATGTTCTGACCAG-3'	this work
<i>JAZ1/TIFY10a</i> 807bp (full length)		5'-ATGTCGAGCTCCTCGGATATT-3' 5'-CTACTTTGGAGATTTGGCAGCCA-3'	this paper
JAZ2/TIFY10b 861bp (full length)		5'-ATGTCGAATTCACCGGAGTTCTCT-3' 5'-CTACAATCTAAGATCAAGTTGCTTTG-3'	this work
<i>JAZ3/TIFY6b</i> 1167bp (full length)		5'-ATGGAGAGAGAGATTTCATGGGTTTG-3' 5'-CTACTCCTTGTTAGCTGAAAGAGC-3'	this work

COI1	TA2637_29760	5'-TGGTTTGACTGATGTGGGTCT-3' 5'-CAGGGTCCAAGGGAGTAACA-3'	Moroldo <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2008
MYC2	ABR23669	5'-CTGCTTCAAGGTCTACCATGTTG-3' 5'-TTCTGGAGCTCGGTGATGTAAGT-3'	this work
STS	X76892	5'-GGAAATTAGAAACGCTCAACGTGC-3' 5'-TGGTACAACATCACTCTTCTGACG-3'	this work
RS	AF274281	5′-ATGGCTTCAGTCGAGGAATTTAGA-3′ 5′-AAGATGGGTGATCTTGGACTTTGG-3′	this work
NHX1	AAV36562	5'-GCGACATTGTCATTTGTTGCTGAA-3' 5'-GACTGGATGGTTCAGAAGAAATCA-3'	this work

Table 2: Designations, sequences, and literature references for the oligonucleotide primers

 used to amplify the marker sequences used in this study

2.9 Extraction and quantification of stilbenes

The production of stilbenes as ROS-scavengers was tested for both cell lines after challenge with 155 mM NaCl at different time points (0, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 24 or 48 h). The treated cells were harvested by centrifugation (5000 rpm, 5 min) to remove media, weighed, directly frozen in liquid nitrogen, and then stored at -80 °C until analysis. Stilbenes were extracted according to Tassoni *et al.* (2005) with minor modifications. 20 ml of 80 % (v/v) methanol in water were added to 3-5 g fresh weight. The mixture was then homogenized by an ultrasonic processor (UP100H, Hielscher, Germany) for 3 min. The homogenate was shaken for 2 h in the dark at room temperature and filtered through filter paper under vacuum with 500 pa. The filtrate was concentrated to a residual volume of 5 ml in a glass tube at 40 °C (Heating Bath B490, BÜCHI, Germany) at 280 rpm (Rotavapor R-205, BÜCHI, Germany), under a vacuum of 80 Pa (Vacuubrand CVC2, Brand, Germany). Water-soluble stilbenes were extracted by adding 2 ml of 5 % (w/v) NaHCO₃, and three aliquots of 5 ml ethyl acetate. The pooled ethyl-acetate phase was completely

dried leaving the stilbene residue on the bottom of the glass tube. The residue was resuspended in 2 ml of methanol for analysis by high performance liquid chromatograph (HPLC).

Stilbenes were analyzed by HPLC (Agilent, 1200 series, Waldbronn, Germany) using a Phenomenex Synergi hydro RP column (150 x 4.6 mm, particle size 4 µm, Phenomenex; Aschaffenburg, Germany), a DAD detector, and a quaternary valve. The flow rate was adjusted to 0.8 ml min⁻¹, and the injection volume was 20 µl. The UV-VIS spectra were recorded from 200 to 400 nm. The mobile phases included acetonitril (ACN), methanol and water in the following isocratic gradient: 2 min ACN/water (10/90 v/v); 15 min ACN/water (40/60 v/v); 30 min ACN/methanol (50/50 v/v); 32 min ACN/methanol (5/95 v/v); 35 min ACN/methanol (5/95 v/v); 39 min ACN/water (10/90 v/v); 42 min ACN/water (10/90 v/v). Trans-resveratrol, *trans*-piceid, and δ -viniferin were quantified and identified using an external standard on the basis of retention time and UV-VIS spectra. The standards for trans-resveratrol (Sigma-Aldrich, Deisenhofen, Germany), trans-piceid (Phytolab, Vestenbergsgreuth, Germany) and δ -viniferin (kind gift of Dr. Kassemeyer, State Institute of Viticulture, Freiburg, Germany) were dissolved in methanol to a concentration of 100 mg l⁻¹. Calibration curves determined using these standards were linear ($r^2 > 0.99$) and used for quantification of the samples (Chang et al., 2011). At least four biological replicates were analyzed for each time point.

2.10 Hormone analysis

Phytohormone contents were quantified for both cell lines with three biological replicates at 1, 3, and 6 h after addition of 155 mM NaCl alone or preceded by pretreatment with 0.75 mM GdCl₃ (0.75 mM) for 2 min. As controls cells were treated in the same manner for 1 h with water or with 0.75 mM GdCl₃. Additionally, 1 mM CaCl₂ were applied in the absence of salt for

either 1 or 3 h. All samples were collected by removing the supernatant using a Büchner funnel under vacuum. Both, cells and supernatants, were shock-frozen in liquid nitrogen, freeze-dried at -50 °C for 2 days, and weighed. Plant hormones were extracted as described previously (Yoshimoto et al., 2009) with some modifications: Lyophilized cultured cells or culture media were homogenized in 4 ml of 80% acetonitrile (MeCN) containing 1% acetic acid, and extracted for 30 min with internal standards ($^{13}C_6$ -JA-IIe, d₂-JA, d_6 -SA, d_6 -ABA and d_2 -IAA). After centrifugation at 1663 g for 20 min, the supernatant was collected and the sediment extracted again with 4 ml of 80% MeCN containing 1% acetic acid. 1 ml (for cultured cells) or 4 ml (for culture media) of the supernatant were processed further for hormone analysis. After removing MeCN in the supernatant, the acidic aequous extract was loaded onto an Oasis HLB column cartridge (30 mg, 1 ml Waters, Milford, MA, USA), and washed with 1 ml of water containing 1% acetic acid to remove highly polar impurities. Plant hormones were eluted with 2 ml of 80% MeCN containing 1% acetic acid. Ten percent of the eluate were used for the analysis of salicylic acid (SA). After removing MeCN in the remaining eluate, the acidic water extract was loaded onto an Oasis WAX column cartridge (30 mg, 1 ml). After washing with 1 ml of water containing 1% acetic acid, neutral compounds were removed with 2 ml of 80% MeCN, and acidic compounds were eluted with 2 ml of 80% MeCN containing 1% acetic acid. Hormones were quantified by liquid chromatography-electrospray inonization-tandem mass spectrometry in the group of Dr. Seo, at RIKEN Yokohama as described in detail in Yoshimoto et al., (2009). For salt-induced hormones in the supernatant samples, see figure 10.



Fig. 10: Endogenous phytohormones under salinity treatment at different time points in the supernatant from *V. rupestris* or *V. riparia*. The effect of 155 mM NaCl at 1, 3, 6h on JA (A), JA-II (B), ABA (C), IAA (D), and SA (E). Control samples were treated by H_2O for 1 h. Error bars represent SE, and different letters indicate significant differences among treatments (LSD (P<.05)). Supernatant dry weight (SDW).
2.11 Statistical analysis

The treatments of the current study were arranged as a factorial experiment in a completely randomized design (CRD). Three biological replicates were analyzed for each treatment. Comparisons among means were made via the Least Significant Differences LSD (P<0.05) multiple ranges by using the SAS (2000) software. Mean values and standard error of the mean were calculated using Microsoft Excel.

3 Results

3.1 Salinity signalling differs on the physiological level

3.1.1 Growth resumes under salinity in V. rupestris

As experimental system for the present study we employed two grapevine cell lines from genotypes that differ in their sensitivity to drought. The wild North American grape Vitis rupestris, used in viticulture as source for drought tolerant rootstocks was used as source for the first cell line, the second cell line was generated from the North American grape Vitis riparia that grows in alluvial forests and therefore is not adapted to drought. To test, whether the two lines differ in adaptation to salinity, we monitored the relative growth rate (using PCV as readout) under continuous challenge with three concentrations of NaCI (50, 85, and 155 mM) as shown in Figures 11A and **B**. The cell lines differed clearly in their growth behavior and in their response to salinity. Under control conditions, V. rupestris (Fig. 11A) steadily accelerated growth with a peak of 50% daily volume increase at day 4, slowing down during the subsequent days. Already the lowest concentration of salt (50 mM) made the cells shrink initially and reduced growth rate during the first days. However, for 50 mM of salt, growth rate recovered subsequently and even strongly excelled that of the control at day 6 (160% daily volume increase). Even for 85 mM NaCl, growth rate recovered peaking at day 7 with a value of 40% daily volume increase. This recovery contrasted with the situation observed in V. riparia (Fig. 11B). Here, under control conditions, growth rate increased to a peak of 40% daily volume increase at day 2, slowly decreasing during the subsequent days. For treatment with 50 mM, the initial shrinkage could be compensated by a recovery of growth rate peaking at day 5 with 45% daily volume increase. For 85 mM NaCl, no such recovery was observed. To test, whether the reduced salt adaptation of *V. riparia* correlated with a higher mortality (%), we scored at day 8 cells stained by the non-permeable dye Evans Blue (Gaff and Okong'O-Ogola, 1971). As shown in **Figure 11C**, mortality at 50 mM and 85 mM NaCl was significantly increased in *V. riparia* over that found in *V. rupestris*, indicating a higher level of salinity-induced damage. However, these differences could not account for the reduced (50 mM NaCl) or lacking (85 mM NaCl) adaptation of growth rate in *V. riparia*. For the highest concentration used (155 mM NaCl), the majority of cells (~80%) was dead in both cell lines, which explains the failure to recover growth rate.

Thus, for 50 mM and 85 mM NaCl, *V. rupestris* displays a clear adaptation of growth after a lag of a few days, whereas this adaptive response is weaker (50 mM NaCl) or even absent (85 mM) in *V. riparia*.





To investigate the role of JA on growth rate alone or with 50 mM NaCl, 30 μ M of JA was applied to both cell lines (**Fig. 12A, B**). JA in the absence of salt stress reduced growth by about 50% in *V. rupestris* and *V. riparia*, at day 4 and 2, respectively, as compared to the control. In both cell lines, exogenous JA caused significant delay in growth recovery in response to salt, after 7 and 8 days. In addition, JA application with salinity did not show induction to cell mortality in comparison to NaCl alone (**Fig. 12C**). This suggests that JA directs cells to defense over than growth metabolism which negatively impact

cell growth.



Fig. 12: Relative growth rate $(\Delta V_t/V_t \text{ over } \Delta t)$ during 30µM JA alone or with 50mM NaCl in *V. rupestris* (**A**) versus *V. riparia* (**B**). (**C**) Mortality (%) at day 8 for the two genotypes. Values are means \pm SE (n = 3).

The impact of ABA on cells growth rate with or without 50 mM NaCI was also studied in both lines (**Fig. 13A, B**). Similar to JA, ABA delayed growth recovery after treatment with 50 mM NaCI. Similar to JA ABA did not cause any significant mortality by itself, but it reduced salt triggered mortality in *V. riparia*, but not in *V. rupestris* (**Fig. 13C**).



Fig. 13: Relative growth rate $(\Delta V_t/V_t \text{ over } \Delta t)$ during 30µM ABA alone or with 50mM NaCl in *V. rupestris* (A) versus *V. riparia* (B). (C) Mortality (%) at day 8 for the two genotypes. Values are means \pm SE (n = 3).

To test a the effect of CaCl₂ on ameliorating salt damage, CaCl₂ was added alone or directly before treating cells with 50 mM NaCl (**Fig. 14A, B**). While CaCl₂ alone had no negative impact on *V. rupestris* growth (**Fig. 14A**), it reduced the growth of *V. riparia* showing the same pattern as 50 mM NaCl did (**Fig. 14B**). Interestingly, 1 mM CaCl₂ was able to ameliorate salinity impact on *V. rupestris* cells starting from the forth day. However, it decreased the *V. riparia* growth when it added with NaCl (50 mM) more than NaCl alone. In addition, CaCl₂ pretreatment induced cell mortality to about 45 % in NaCl-stressed *V. riparia*, but not in *V. rupestris* (**Fig. 14C**).



Fig. 14: Relative growth rate $(\Delta V_t/V_t \text{ over } \Delta t)$ during 1mM CaCl₂ alone or with 50mM NaCl in *V. rupestris* (**A**) versus *V. riparia* (**B**). (**C**) Mortality (%) at day 8 for the two genotypes. Values are means \pm SE (n = 3).

Finally, the impact of GdCl₃ (an inhibitor of stretch-activated ion channels) on *Vitis* cell growth was investigated by adding 0.75 mM GdCl₃ to both cell lines (**Fig. 15A, B**). GdCl₃ was able to decrease the growth rate in both cells, however, the effect was much more pronounced in *V. rupestris*. In addition, was able to raise cell mortality to 80% in *V. rupestris*, not in *V. riparia* (**Fig. 15 C**).



Fig. 15: Relative growth rate $(\Delta V_t/V_t \text{ over } \Delta t)$ during 0.75mM GdCl₃ or H₂O in *V. rupestris* (A) versus *V. riparia* (B). (C) Mortality (%) at day 8 for the two genotypes. Values are means ± SE (n = 3).

3.1.2 The kinetics of Na⁺ uptake consist of three phases

To test the uptake of Na⁺ over time and to address the point, whether the different adaptation correlates with differences in uptake, the two cell lines were treated with 155 mM NaCl or with H₂O as a control, and sampled at 2, 5, 10, 15, 30 min, and 1, 2, 3, and 6 h to quantify Na⁺ ions. **Figure 16A** shows the time course of Na⁺ uptake and reveals that Na⁺ concentration does not increase at a constant rate. An initial phase I of rapid uptake is followed by a halting phase II (delineated by the arrows in **Fig. 16A**), and a further phase III of rapid uptake. The early uptake (phase I) has been completed already at

the first sampling point (2 min), and could not be resolved further due to the limitations in handling the samples. Interestingly, phase I results in a twofold higher Na⁺ content in *V. rupestris* (~6 mg/g) as compared to *V. riparia* (~3 mg/g). The two lines mainly differ in phase II: For *V. rupestris*, the concentration of salt oscillates around a steady-state level of ~7 mg/g, and, from 10 min, even drops to 5 mg/g indicating that more Na⁺ is extruded from the cell than penetrates from outside (phase II). This process is subsequently fading and a new wave of salt increase initiates, such that Na⁺ concentration increases again to 8 mg/ml (phase III). In *V. riparia*, the halting phase II is barely manifest as a slower increase leading to a shoulder in the curve between 2-15 min. In contrast to *V. rupestris*, Na⁺ content is not dropping in phase II, but just growing slower. Finally, also for *V. riparia*, the cells "give in", such that Na⁺ steadily increases arriving at the same final level as in *V. rupestris*.

Thus, the two lines differ in the timing of Na⁺ influx – whereas in the first 15 min Na⁺ levels are higher in *V. rupestris* than in *V. riparia*, this is reverted by active export of Na⁺ against a considerable concentration gradient. This export is so efficient in *V. rupestris* that, between 15 min and 360 min, the salt concentration can be kept lower than in *V. riparia*.



Fig. 16: Time course of Na⁺ uptake upon continuous challenge with 155 mM NaCl in control cells of *V. rupestris* (red) versus *V. riparia* (black). Data represent mean values and standard errors from 3 independent experimental series. The arrows in **A** indicate begin and end of the phase II defined in the text. To resolve the early time points, the time axis is plotted in a non-linear scale.

3.1.3 Ca²⁺ influx alters Na⁺ uptake kinetics

Activation of Ca²⁺ influx channels located in the plasma membrane has been proposed as primary signal for salinity signaling (Knight et al., 1997). In addition, Ca²⁺ can block the NSCCs discussed as primary gate of Na⁺ influx (Demidchik and Tester, 2002). We therefore tested the impact of external Ca²⁺ on Na⁺ uptake. Both cell lines were pretreated with 1 mM CaCl₂ directly before adding 155 mM NaCl (Figs. 17A, B). The effect of Ca²⁺ was qualitatively different depending on the respective phase of Na⁺ uptake: the increase of Na⁺ during the early phase I (<2 min) as well as during the intermediate phase II (2-15 min) was inhibited in both lines (more pronounced in V. rupestris than in V. riparia). In contrast, the uptake during phase III (>15 min) was promoted (more pronounced in V. riparia than in V. rupestris). To test, which part of the Ca²⁺ effect is based on influx through the plasma membrane, GdCl₃ was used as *bona-fide* inhibitor of both Ca²⁺ influx (Knight et al., 1997) and NSCCs (Demidchik et al., 2002) in a concentration that had been defined to be saturating for the inhibition of defense-related signaling in the same cell system (Qiao et al., 2010). Similar to treatment with exogenous Ca^{2+} , the effect of GdCl₃ was dependent on the respective phase of salt uptake (Figs. 17C, D). During phase I, GdCl₃ reduced salt uptake slightly (similar to Ca²⁺). During phase II, the slope of uptake was higher than that observed for Ca²⁺. For phase III, GdCl₃ was almost ineffective in *V. rupestris* (Fig. 17C), but clearly inhibitory in V. riparia (i.e. antagonistic to Ca²⁺, Fig. 17D).

Thus, the uptake of Na⁺ can be dissected into at least two mechanisms that differ with respect to their dependency on external Ca²⁺: the uptake before 15 min (phases I and II) is inhibited by Ca²⁺ (but also by GdCl₃, indicating that Ca²⁺ influx is not the decisive factor here). In contrast, the uptake after 15 min (phase III) is promoted by Ca²⁺ (antagonized by GdCl₃, indicating a role for Ca²⁺ influx channels).



Fig. 17: Time course of Na⁺ uptake upon continuous challenge with 155 mM NaCl alone or after pretreatment with 1 mM CaCl₂ (**A**, **B**) or 750 μ M GdCl₃ (**C**, **D**) for *V. rupestris* (**A**, **C**) and *V. riparia* (**B**, **D**). Data represent mean values and standard errors from 3 independent experimental series. As negative control in **A** and **B**, Na⁺ content after pretreatment of Ca²⁺ without subsequent salinity exposure was recorded (red lines). To resolve the early time points, the time axis is plotted in a non-linear scale.

3.1.4 Sign reversal in salt-induced changes of Ca²⁺ content

To interpret the Ca²⁺ effect on Na⁺ uptake (**Figs. 17A, B**), we followed the time course of Ca²⁺ content during incubation with 155 mM NaCl. The time courses are shown in **Figure 18** and differ qualitatively between the two grapevine cell lines. In *V. rupestris* (**Fig. 18A**), Ca²⁺ content basically follows the temporal pattern of Na⁺ uptake (**Fig. 16**) with a rapid increase during phase I of Na⁺ uptake, a plateau and a decrease during phase II, and a second wave of increase in phase III of uptake. Since here only the Ca²⁺ in the MS-medium (0.32 g/I CaCl₂) was available, potential release of cell-wall bound Ca²⁺ should be equilibrated, such that these increases probably reflect the activity of Ca²⁺ influx channels. The pattern for *V. riparia* was basically a

mirror-image (**Fig. 18A**) with a sharp drop of Ca^{2+} during phase I of Na⁺ uptake, a low plateau during phase II and a partial recovery during phase III. This means that, in *V. rupestris,* the pattern of Ca^{2+} content parallels that for Na⁺ content, whereas in *V. riparia* the two ions show an inverted behavior. This difference between the two cell lines represents a clear sign reversal.

Calcium content might change either by the activity of ion channels or by binding of Ca²⁺ ions to the pectic components of the cell wall. To discriminate between these two components, we repeated the time courses in the presence of GdCl₃. For *V. rupestris*, the temporal pattern of Ca²⁺ content was not significantly altered by GdCl₃ (Fig. 18B), whereas for V. riparia, the Ca²⁺ content was strongly reduced (Fig. 18C). To probe for the contribution of Ca²⁺ binding to unsaturated pectic binding sites in the cell wall, in a third set of experiments Ca²⁺ content was followed in the presence of either 1 mM CaCl₂ (to saturate binding sites in the cell wall), or of a combination of 1 mM CaCl₂ with 155 mM NaCl. In V. rupestris, incubation with 1 mM CaCl₂ established a high plateau of Ca²⁺ content within 2 min (about twofold as compared to 155 mM NaCl), this increase could be almost eliminated, when 155 mM NaCl were administered together with this Ca²⁺ treatment (Fig. 18D). In V. riparia, there was a distinct biphasic increase of Ca^{2+} content under these conditions. Prior to 15 min, 1 mM CaCl₂ alone caused a first wave of increase, which was followed from 15 min by a second rise leading to roughly the same Ca²⁺ levels as found in V. rupestris (Fig. 18E). When 155 mM NaCl were administered together with this high Ca²⁺ content, there was virtually no difference to the situation observed for 155 mM NaCl alone. However, from 15 min, the Ca²⁺ levels increased parallel to the situation without NaCl, but to lower amplitudes.

In summary, the two cell lines not only show a sign reversal with respect to Ca^{2+} levels in response to salinity, they also differ with respect to a late Ca^{2+} influx (>15 min) present in *V. riparia*, but not in *V. rupestris*, and probably with respect to the presence of free binding sites for Ca^{2+} in the cell wall.



Fig. 18: Time course of Ca²⁺ uptake upon continuous challenge with 155 mM NaCl in control cells (**A**) of *V. rupestris* (red) versus *V. riparia* (black), and after pretreatment with 750 μ M GdCl₃ (**B**, **C**) or 1 mM CaCl₂ (**D**, **E**) for *V. rupestris* (**B**, **D**) and *V. riparia* (**C**, **E**). Data represent mean values and standard errors from 3 independent experimental series. As negative control in **D** and **E**, Ca²⁺ content after Ca²⁺ application was followed (red lines). To resolve the early time points, the time axis is plotted in a non-linear scale.

3.1.5 NaCl-induced extracellular pH differs in both cell lines

Extracellular alkalinisation is considered to be one of the earliest defense-related responses as the apoplast is seen as the first plant compartment challenged by environmental signals (Felix et al., 1993; Hoson, 1998). However, it is also an early signal in the response to salinity stress (Geilfuß and Mühling, 2013). This response covers two underlying mechanisms – a rapid influx of Ca^{2+} and protons (Jabs *et al.*, 1997), followed by an efflux of anion-exporters that are activated by Ca²⁺ signaling (Felle et al., 1998). We therefore followed the response of extracellular pH [pH_{ext}] to salinity in the two cell lines as shown in (Fig. 19). Both cultivars first showed a transient reduction of pH_{ext} recovering the initial level and then, from around 3 min after addition of salt, produced a strong alkalinization that was maximal about 10 min later and then very slowly declining. The lag time for the initiation of proton transport was shorter in V. rupestris (15 sec) as compared to V. riparia (36 sec). V. rupestris cells also showed a more pronounced alkalinization ($\Delta p H_{ext} \sim 0.4$) (Fig. 19A) as compared to V. riparia ($\Delta p H_{ext} \sim 0.25$) (Fig. 19B). At higher concentrations, the maximum was reached later as compared to lower concentrations. In V. rupestris, the peaks were much more pronounced as compared to V. riparia (Fig. 19C).

To characterise the difference between the two cell lines on a quantitative level, time courses were recorded by varying the concentration of salt. The results were fitted using a Michaelis–Menten equation with pH_{max50} (the time when the pH response reached the half-maximum) as indicator of velocity. When T_{pH50} was plotted over the concentration of NaCl (**Fig. 19D**), saturable curves were found that could be well fitted by a Michaelis-Menten function (R^2 0.840 for *V. rupestris* and R^2 0.882 for *V. riparia*). From these functions, effective concentrations (EC_{25} , inducing 25% of the maximal response) could be calculated to be 80 mM NaCl for *V. rupestris* and 122 mM NaCl for *V. riparia*, respectively.

To test the role of NSCCs on inducing pH_{ext} , $GdCl_3$, as inhibitor of mechanosensitive Ca^{2+} influx channels, but also of NSCCs, was applied for 2 min before adding NaCl (**Figs. 19A, B**). GdCl₃ sharply reduced pH_{ext} of cells. This was followed by a slow, but steady increase of pH in *V. rupestris* restoring the initial level, whereas no such recovery was observed in *V. riparia*. Even when the concentration of GdCl₃ was increased to 0.75 mM in *V. rupestris*, pH_{ext} could recover partially. When GdCl₃ was administered in the absence of salinity, no recovery of pH was observed even in *V. rupestris*, indicating that this recovery resulted from the salt-induced alkalinisation on the background of a more acidic pH.

The comparison of **Figs. 16, 17** and **18** reveals that apoplastic pH decreases during the early phase I of rapid Na⁺ uptake, but increases preceding phase II of Na⁺ uptake. This increase is more pronounced in *V. rupestris* (were during phase II even more Na⁺ is extruded than enters the cells) as compared to *V. riparia* (were Na⁺ uptake during phase II is just slowed down slightly). GdCl₃ delayed / reduced salt-triggered alkalinization in *V. rupestris* (**Fig. 19A**), and impaired the efficiency by which the uptake of Na⁺ could be halted during phase II (**Fig. 17 C**). In *V. riparia*, where GdCl₃ had almost no effect on Na⁺ uptake (**Fig. 17 D**), salt-triggered alkalinization was completely suppressed (**Fig. 19B**).

Thus, there is a correlation between phase II of Na⁺ uptake and the amplitude / robustness of extracellular alkalinization.



Fig. 19: Response of apoplastic pH to NaCl in grapevine cells. Representative time course of the response of apoplastic pH to 155 mM NaCl alone or after adding 0.5 and 0.75mM of GdCl₃ (an inhibitor of NSCCs) for 2 min for *V. rupestris* (A) or *V. riparia* (B). Red-colored arrow for adding GdCl₃ before NaCl was applied after 2 min (black-colored arrow). (C) Dose response curves for the maximal pH change over salt concentration, (D) kinetic analysis of pH responses in *V. rupestris* (closed squares, solid lines) and *V. riparia* (open squares, dotted lines). The half-maxima of pH to increasing concentrations of NaCl were fitted by a Michaelis-Menten function. T_{pH50} i is defined as time to reach 50% of the maximal response.

3.1.6 NaCl induces ROS species

To test for the negative impact of NaCl on *Vitis* cells, ROS as indicator of cellular stress were visualised by dihydroethidium (DHE). DHE is a cell-permeable compound that upon entering the cells interacts with O^{2•-} and is considered as earliest ROS to be generated, to form oxyethidium, which in

turn interacts with nucleic acids to emit a bright red color detectable as red fluorescence (Tarpey *et al.,* 2004). The induction of ROS species was monitored over 6 h in both cell lines. Elevated levels of ROS species were induced by salt stress in both cultivars (**Fig. 20**). However, ROS induction commenced earlier (from 1 h) and reached much higher levels in *V. riparia* as compared to *V. rupestris*, where earliest indications of elevated ROS levels were not visible before 3 h after addition of salt.

V. rupestris

Control

1h

2h



Fig. 20: Effect of 155 mM NaCl on ROS induction in 5 day-old suspension cells of *V. rupestris* an *V. riparia.* Cells were stained with dihydroethidium (DHE), which records superoxide radicals (O_2^{\bullet}) 155 mM NaCl was added to cells preloaded with the dye immediately before microscopic observation, and the signal was followed over 6 h. Size bar 20 µm.

3h

4h

5h

6h

3.2 Salinity signalling differs on the molecular level

3.2.1 Isolation and identification of JAZ/TIFY genes

Based on the available sequences of Arabidopsis thaliana JAZ/TIFY proteins,

putative homologues in V. vinifera cv. "Pinot Noir" were identified by a BLAST search. The phylogenetic tree based on the 12 available JAZ/TIFY protein sequences of Arabidopsis thaliana and their 9 putative JAZ/TIFY-LIKE (JAZL/TIFYL) homologues in Vitis vinifera cv. "Pinot Noir". (Fig. 21A) showed five branches (I to V). Four of those contained members from both plant species, branch III did not contain a member from Vitis. All Vitis JAZL/TIFYL proteins contain a putative N-terminal ZIM/tify-domain, and a putative C-terminal Jas-domain as conserved domains. The consensus sequence for ZIM/tify Jas **21B**) the and domains (Fig. was created using http://weblogo.berkeley.edu/logo.cgi. We succeeded to clone three of these putative JAZ/TIFY-LIKE genes from the V. rupestris cell line using RT-PCR with degenerated primers (Table 2). Alignment of the three proteins (Fig. 21C), showed that two of those, VrJAZ1/TIFY10a (gene bank accession) JF900329), and VrJAZ2/TIFY10b (gene bank accession JF900330) were fairly similar and belonged to the same branch of the tree (I, Fig. 21A), whereas the third, VrJAZ3/TIFY6b (gene bank accession JF900331) was longer and fell into a different branch (IV, Fig. 21A). The sequences from V. rupestris were almost identical with those from Vitis vinifera cv. "Pinot Noir" (only 2-3 amino acid exchanges in the variable regions of the JAZ/TIFY-LIKE proteins.



Fig. 21: In silico-analysis of Vitis *JAZ/TIFY***-homologues.** A Phylogenetic tree based on NJ of available *JAZ/TIFY* sequences from *Arabidopsis thaliana* and their JAZ-LIKE/TIFY-LIKE (*JAZL/TIFYL*) homologues in *Vitis vinifera* cv. "Pinot Noir". (NJ), bootstrap values 0.1. The *JAZ/TIFY*-members analysed in this study are highlighted by coloured boxes, B consensus motives, C alignment with *AtJAZ/TIFY*-homologues (sequences of Vr and Vv are almost identical), arrows indicate amino-acid differences between *V. rupestris* and *V. vinifera* cv. "Pinot Noir".

3.2.2 Impact of NaCl, JA, and aspirin on the JAZ/TIFY

genes expression

Since these three proteins (termed as JAZ 1-3/TIFY10a, b, 6b based on their homology to AtJAZ/TIFY proteins) seemed to be the dominant members in *V. rupestris* cells, their expression was investigated under salt-stress by reverse transcription-PCR (RT-PCR) using elongation factor 1α as internal reference for quantification. The dose-response dependency of transcript abundance was determined 1 hour after the addition of NaCl. The results were in agreed

with the expression of defence genes under Harpin treatment (Qiao *et al.*, 2010). In contrast, all three genes were induced after addition of salt for 1h (**Fig. 22A** shows a representative concentration series) with a peak at concentrations around 80-120 mM and a decline for higher salt concentrations. *JAZ1/TIFY10a* showed significant (**Fig. 22A**) induction in *V. rupestris* under salt stress as compared to *V. riparia*. The same was observed for *JAZ3/TIFY6b*. *JAZ2/TIFY10b* was slightly induced by salt to a similar factor in both cultivars (**Fig. 22A**). These results show a significant (by about a factor of 2) salt-induction of *JAZ1/TIFY10a* and *JAZ3/TIFY6b* in *V. rupestris*, which parallels the salt-tolerance of growth and the induction of extracellular alkalinisation.

To test whether these *JAZ/TIFY* genes respond to JA, cells were treated for 1 h with different concentrations (0 to 50 μ M) of JA. As solvent control, cells were treated with a corresponding concentration of EtOH (**Fig. 22B** shows a representative dose series). *JAZ1/TIFY10a* as well as *JAZ3/TIFY6b* was induced with the increase of JA concentrations to 30 μ M with a tendency to decrease at 40 and 50 μ M in both cell lines (**Fig. 22B**). *JAZ2/TIFY10b* was only very weakly expressed. Both cell lines responded in a similar way, the difference in induction observed for NaCl (**Fig. 22A**) was not manifest in their response to JA.

To test, whether the induction of *JAZ/TIFY* transcripts by salt can by suppressed by JA antagonists, cells were treated with the same concentrations of NaCl for 1 h after pre-treatment with 1 mM aspirin or corresponding amount of its solvent solution (DMSO) as a control for 6 h. The induction of these *JAZ/TIFY* genes by salt treatments was completely suppressed by pretreatment with aspirin (**Fig. 22C** shows a representative dose series).

Thus, JAZ1/TIFY10a and JAZ3/TIFY6b are significantly induced by NaCl in a concentration-dependent manner. This induction is more pronounced in *V. rupestris* as compared to *V. riparia*, especially in the physiologically relevant range around 100 mM NaCl. Both JAZ/TIFY-transcripts are induced by JA with highest expression at 30 µM and without any significant difference between the two cell lines. Third, aspirin can quell the induction of *JAZ/TIFY* transcripts by salt indicating that the response of transcription requires JA-signaling.



Fig. 22: The expression of *JAZ/TIFY* **under different treatments.** Response of *JAZ/TIFY* genes in *V. rupestris* and *V. riparia* to different concentrations of NaCl (A) and JA (B) for 1 h, or to NaCl for 1 h after pretreatment with aspirin (1 mM) (C) for 6 h. Elongation factor 1α (*EF1-a*) was used as internal standard. One representative example of three independent experiments is shown.

3.2.3 Time courses of salt tolerance genes

To get insight into the sequence of cellular events, the expression of three marker genes for jamsomate signaling (*JAZ1/TIFY10a*, *MYC2*, and *COI1*), a marker for salt adaptation (*NHX1*), and two markers of biotic defense (phytoalexin synthesis, *STS, RS*) was measured at a concentration of 155 mM NaCl, where *JAZ1/TIFY10a* was significantly expressed (**Fig. 23** shows a representative time series). In both cell lines, induction of *JAZ1/TIFY10a* was clearly manifest at 1 h after addition of NaCl. However, it was significant in *V. rupestris*, and even doubled during the following two hours, declining subsequently, while in *V. riparia* the induction was much weaker and did not increase after 1 h (**Figs. 23**). In contrast, *MYC2* slightly increased after 1 h

and then declined over time in both cell lines. *COI1*, encoding for the jasmonate receptor, seemed to be increased between 1-3 h after addition of salt (**Fig. 23**), but this response was not significant. In contrast, *NHX1* as marker for salt adaptation was clearly induced in *V. rupestris* from 3 h (roughly 3 fold at 6 h) which was not observed in *V. riparia*. The stilbene-related genes *STS* and *RS*, widely used as markers for biotic defense in *Vitis*, did not respond to salt in *V. riparia*. However, they were clearly induced in *V. rupestris* from 3 h after addition of salt especially *RS*. These results in comparison between the two cell lines show a stronger induction of *JAZ1/TIFY10a* correlated with elevated induction of *NHX1* (salt adaptation) in *V. rupestris* as compared to *V. riparia*.



Fig. 23: Time course of induction for transcripts of *JAZ1/TIFY10a*, *MYC2*, *COI1*, *NHX1*, *STS*, and *RS* by 155 mM NaCl in *V. rupestris* and *V. riparia*. Elongation factor 1α (*EF1* α) was used as internal standard. One representative example of three independent experiments is shown.

3.2.4 Phenidone can inhibit the induction of *JAZ1/TIFY10a* genes by salt

To further investigate, whether the induction of JAZ1/TIFY10a by salt requires

JA, the synthesis of JA was blocked by phenidone, an inhibitor of lipoxygenases that trigger early steps in the octadecanoid pathway. *Vitis* cells were pretreated with 2 mM phenidone for 30 min before adding 155 mM NaCl for 1, 3, and 6h. As a control cells were pretreated with 2mM phenidone or 0.1% Tween 20 for 30 min before 0mM NaCl was added for 1h (**Fig. 24**). Phenidone inhibited the induction of *JAZ1/TIFY10a* by salt stress very efficiently, especially in *V. rupestris*. Similar to the results obtained for aspirin (**Fig. 24C**), this result suggests that JA signaling (more specifically: JA synthesis) is necessary to mediate the induction of *JAZ1/TIFY10a* expression in response to NaCl.



Fig. 24: Effect of phenidone on the induction of *JAZ1/TIFY10a* transcripts under salt stress at different time points in *V. rupestris* (Rup) and *V. riparia* (Rip). A Representative time course of transcript abundance of cells pretreated with phenidone for 30 min in response 155 mM NaCl for 1, 3, and 6 h. As a control cells were pretreated with 0.1% Tween 20 as a control 1 or phenidone as a control 2 for 30 min before 0 mM NaCl was added for 1h. B Time course of transcript abundance of *JAZ1/TIFY10a* in both cultivars relative to elongation factor 1 α . The data represent averages from three independent experimental series; error bars represent standard errors.

3.3 Accumulation of phytohormones under salinity in

Vitis

3.3.1 Phytohormones accumulate differently during salinity stress

To clarify the role of the JA pathway in comparison to the adaptive role of ABA, endogenous levels of JA, JA-II, and ABA were followed in response to 155 mM NaCl in cells at day 5 after subcultivation as shown in Figure 25. For JA, the ground level in V. riparia was more than twice of that found in V. rupestris and increased further by about 25% from 3 hours after the onset of salt treatment (Fig. 25A). In contrast, V. rupestris maintained a very low level of JA, even after prolonged salinity. The difference was even more pronounced, when the highly bioactive JA-II was measured (Fig. 25B). Here, salt induced a fourfold increase for V. riparia, whereas V. rupestris, after 6 h of salt stress had just reached the level of JA-II found in unchallenged control cells of V. riparia. For ABA (Fig. 25C), the situation was reversed – here, in V. rupestris, the induction was more pronounced as compared to V. riparia, although both lines accumulated comparable levels of ABA from 3 h after the onset of treatment. Thus, the improved salinity adaptation in V. rupestris correlated with a clear reduction in salt-induced formation of JA, and most pronounced JA-II. In contrast to JA, IAA and SA were much higher in unchallenged V. rupestris as compared to V. riparia (Fig. 25 D and E). Salinity made both hormones decline in V. rupestris, whereas in V. riparia there was no significant change.





Fig. 25: Representative time-course of endogenous JA (A), JA-II (B), ABA (C), IAA (D), and SA (E) under 155 mM NaCl at 1, 3, 6h in both cell lines. Control samples were treated by H_2O for 1h. Error bars represent SE, and different letters indicate significant differences among treatments (LSD (P<.05)).

3.3.2 Sign reversal in the calcium effect on salt-induced hormone levels

Since the two cell lines showed qualitative differences in Ca^{2+} accumulation (**Fig. 18**), we investigated the effect of either GdCl₃ or CaCl₂ on salt-induced

accumulation of phytohormones as shown in Figure 26. In V. riparia, 0.75 mM of GdCl₃ triggered a strong accumulation of JA and JA-II within 1 hour (Figs. 26A, B). When salt was combined with the GdCl₃ treatment, this progressively quelled the GdCl₃ triggered increase such that the JA and JA-II levels from 3 to 6 h after induction had returned to the ground levels (Figs. **26A**, **B**), whereas they remained elevated when the salt treatment was administered in the absence of GdCl₃ (Figs. 25A, B). Similar to GdCl₃, 1 mM CaCl₂ increased the ground levels of JA and JA-II. For ABA, neither GdCl₃ nor CaCl₂ caused any significant accumulation (**Fig. 26C**). Moreover, the salt-induced accumulation of ABA (Fig. 25C) was suppressed by GdCl₃. In V. rupestris, where JA did not accumulate in response to salt (Fig. 25A), GdCl₃ and CaCl₂ reduced the level of JA (Fig. 26A) and JA-II (Fig. 26B) even further, however, GdCl₃ significantly increase the accumulation of JA-II after 3 h in response to salt. In the same line, the level of ABA was not elevated in V. *rupestris* by GdCl₃ as well as by CaCl₂, but the strong accumulation of ABA in response to salt in this cell line (Fig. 25C) was even further promoted by GdCl₃ (**Fig. 26C**). In summary, the response of salinity-triggered accumulation of JA/JA-II shows differential sensitivity to GdCl₃ between the two cell lines, and for salinity-triggered accumulation of ABA, there is even a sign-reversal.

A pretreatment with GdCl₃ cancelled the salt-induced decrease of IAA and SA in *V. rupestris* (compare **Figs. 25D and E** with **Figs. 26D and E**). However, IAA was significantly induced when GdCl₃ was applied alone or with NaCl for 1 h. In contrast, *V. riparia* displayed no changes in both hormones comparing to NaCl alone. CaCl₂, on the other hand, resulted in IAA reduction only after 3 h of application *V. rupestris* (**Fig. 26A and B**).



Fig. 26: Endogenous JA (A), JA-II (B), ABA (C), IAA (D), and SA (E) under different

treatments at different time points in vitis cells elicited by 155 mM NaCl after 0.75mM of GdCl₃ pretreatment for 2 min or by 1 mM CaCl₂ alone for 1 and 3h. Control samples were treated by H_2O or 0.75mM of GdCl₃ for 1h. Error bars represent SE, and different letters indicate significant differences among treatments (LSD (P<0.05)).

3.4 Stilbene accumulation in response to salt

In grapevine, the accumulation of stilbenes represents an important event in defense. For the grapevine cell system used in the current study, especially the accumulation of the highly cytotoxic δ -viniferin has been shown to herald defense-related cell death (Chang et al., 2011). Since defense-related signaling and salinity-induced signaling share several events (Ismail et al., 2012), we used salinity triggered accumulation of stilbenes as indicator for damage-related signaling. Figure 27 shows the accumulation of the stilbene-glycoside α -piceid (Fig. 27A), the aglycone *trans*-resveratrol (Fig. **27C**), and the highly toxic oxidative dimer δ -viniferine (**Fig. 27B**) in response to salinity. Salt-stressed V. riparia cells accumulated piceid in levels comparable to the piceid triggered preceding defense-related PCD (Chang and Nick 2012). In contrast, V. rupestris did not accumulate α -piceid (Fig. **27A**). *V. riparia* cells also accumulated δ -viniferin (the toxic oxidative dimer of resveratrol) whereas V. rupestris cells did not (Fig. 27B). Compared to the situation in defense-related cell death (Chang and Nick, 2012), the levels of salt-induced δ-viniferin were lower. however (around 15%). For trans-resveratrol, only very low levels (around $0.020-0.030 \mu g/g$) were measured with higher accumulation in V. riparia (Fig. 27C), which is about two orders of magnitude lower than the values obtained for defense-related cell death (Chang and Nick, 2012). These results show that *trans*-resveratrol is almost absent under salinity stress. Furthermore, the stilbene pattern for salinity (α -piceid, δ -viniferin) differs from that for defense-related cell death (*trans*-resveratrol, δ -viniferin). Finally, stilbene output (a response to oxidative stress, see Chang and Nick, 2012) is guelled in V. rupestris, but not in V. riparia.



Fig. 27: Grapevine stilbenes under salinity. The induction of Piceid (A), δ -viniferin (B), and Resveratrol (C) (µg/g) in response to 155 mM NaCl in both cell lines at different time points. Values are means ± SE (n = 3).

4 Discussion

Salinity does not stress only plant but also biologists who sincerely try to discriminate its tangled elements. To disentangle plant stress signaling represents a scientific challenge: Numerous events overlap between *stress adaptation* and *stress damage*, on one hand, and the large number of only partially identified players make it difficult to delineate a clear-cut line between both events. In the present work, we investigated, in parallel, two grapevine cell lines differing in their performance under salinity. Our basic approach was to correlate differences of early salinity-induced responses with the differential adaptation of the two cell lines. This should allow to assign these events to either *stress adaptation* or *stress damage*.

4.1 Adaptive response versus cellular damage

The following cellular events were observed in response to salt stress: extracellular alkalinisation, which can be completely or partially inhibited by Gd³⁺ ions, induction of *JAZ1* and *JAZ3*, (weak) induction of *MYC2* and *COI1*, induction of *NHX1*, induction of *RS*, formation of ROS, and salt-tolerance monitored as increase in PCV despite challenge by NaCI. These responses could either be adaptive or they could merely report cellular damage caused by NaCI.

For instance, both biotic and abiotic stress factors induce an oxidative burst. The resulting reactive oxygen species are highly destructive and can damage DNA, proteins, lipids, and carbohydrates (Gill and Tuteja, 2010). On the other hand, ROS can be important signal transduction molecules acting in stress adaptation (Miller *et al.*, 2010).

To discriminate between adaptive and damage events, we used two grapevine cell lines that were expected to differ in their salt tolerance, because they originated from two species with different humidity requirements. In fact, for 50 mM and 85 mM NaCl, *V. rupestris* displays a

clear adaptation of growth after a lag of a few days, whereas this adaptive response is weaker (50 mM NaCl) or even absent (85 mM) in *V. riparia* (**Fig. 11**). Based on this reference, adaptive responses should be more pronounced in *V. rupestris*, whereas events found to be stronger in *V. riparia* are likely to report damage rather than adaptation. In fact, extracellular alkalinisation was stronger in *V. rupestris*. The same was true for the induction of *JAZ1* and *JAZ3*, *NHX1*, and *RS*. In contrast, generation of ROS was stronger in *V. riparia*, suggesting that this oxidative burst represents a manifestation of cellular damage rather than an adaptive response.

In this work, three representatives of the *Vitis JAZ* family were cloned (**Fig. 21**) and their expression under NaCl stress was followed (**Fig. 23A**). We observed a transient induction of two *JAZ*-members (*JAZ1* and *JAZ3*) that was more pronounced in *V. rupestris* (**Fig. 22**). In parallel, transcripts of *MYC2*, a transcription factor that in the absence of jasmonate-Ile is inhibited by complexation with JAZ-proteins, are slightly elevated as well as those of *COI1*, a jasmonate signaling factor that responds to jasmonates (**Fig. 23**). Since the activity of jasmonate signaling is primarily regulated at the posttranslational level (e.g. by proteolytic degradation of the inhibitory JAZ-proteins), these transcript responses of *JAZ1* and *JAZ3* as well as of *MYC2* and *COI1* are probably not directly involved in the signaling *per se*, but must be interpreted as elements in the complex feedback regulation that tunes the competence for JA-signaling with the activity of the signaling pathway. Nevertheless, these responses can be used as readout to monitor the activity of jasmonate signaling.

The differential responsiveness of the *JAZ* in the two cell lines could either be caused by differential activation of jasmonate synthesis or, alternatively, by differential jasmonate-sensitivity of signaling. To differentiate between these two possibilities, the cell lines were treated with exogenous JA. The application of JA could mimick the effect of salt stress on the induction of *JAZ* transcripts (**Fig. 22B**) with virtually the same response observed for both cell lines. This suggests that the signaling evoked by JA proceeds in the same manner and intensity. Thus, the differences in salt-induced *JAZ* induction

must reside upstream of JA-signaling, for instance, in different levels of JA-synthesis.

Pre-treatment with aspirin (**Fig. 22C**) or phenidone (**Fig. 24A,B**) was able to suppress the induction of *JAZ* genes in response to salt stress suggesting that salt-induced JA-signaling is necessary for the *JAZ*-response. Both agents have been used to silence JA-dependent signaling, but have a different mode of action: Salicylic acid and its acetylated derivative, aspirin, seem to act as antagonists of JA-signaling (Lorenzo and Solano, 2005; Balbi and Devoto, 2008), whereas phenidone is thought to block jasmonate synthesis through inhibition of the lipoxygenase that converts α -linolenic acid (Bruinsma *et al.*, 2010).

The concentration of aspirin used in the present study (1 mM) is in the range of those used during most studies on defence signaling (e.g. Mur *et al.*, 1996). For phenidone, a classical inhibitor of lipoxygenases, 2 mM have been shown to block the accumulation of jasmonates in Brussels sprout (Bruinsma *et al.*, 2010). This inhibitor has first to be converted by lipoxygenase into a semioxidised one-electron derivative that is responsible for the inhibition (Cucurou *et al.*, 1991). Due to this end-product dependent mode of action, the molar concentration of phenidone has to exceed that of its target by a factor of 10-30 times. In addition to JA synthesis, phenidone blocks the formation of volatile compounds such as hexanal and cis-hexenylacetate that function in the chemical communication with herbivoral insects and their parasitoids (Bruinsma *et al.*, 2010), a side effect that is not of relevance in the context of a cell culture.

Salt signaling shares several events with biotic defence including apoplastic alkalinisation (**Fig. 19**) that is sensitive to Gd^{3+} , and transient induction of *JAZ* transcripts (**Fig. 23**). Apoplastic pH has been used to monitor rapid defence responses upstream of gene expression (Felix *et al.*, 1993; Felle and Hanstein, 2002). A widely accepted model (Scheel, 1998) proposes that pathogen-derived elicitors bind to a host receptor activating Ca²⁺ influx. Together with Ca²⁺, protons can permeate from the acidic apoplast into the neutral cytoplasm (Jabs *et al.*, 1997). The resulting apoplastic alkalinisation is

therefore a readout for the activity of the Ca²⁺ channel, but does not convey defence signaling itself. In the *V. rupestris* cell line, the activation of apoplastic alkalinisation by the Harpin elicitor could be blocked by gadolinium, a classical inhibitor of mechanosensitive Ca²⁺ channels (Qiao *et al.*, 2010). Gadolinium sensitivity could be confirmed also for salt induced alkalinisation (**Fig. 19**) suggesting that the same mechanosensitive Ca²⁺-channel is at work. Consistent with this conclusion, self-reporting Arabidopsis thaliana cells expressing GFP-based pH and Ca²⁺ monitors either salt and drought stress were shown to trigger apoplastic alkalinisation as well as Ca²⁺ influx (Gao *et al.*, 2004).

Whereas early responses of transcription to salt and Harpin (*JAZ1* and *MYC2*) showed similar pattern (Ismail *et al.*, 2012), there were clear differences in the expression of downstream genes. For instance, transcripts for the phytoalexin synthesis genes *STS* and *RS* were induced much later after salt stress (from 3 h) as compared to a much earlier induction (about 0.5 h) after Harpin treatment (Qiao *et al.*, 2010). Moreover, the pattern of transcript abundance is inverted – whereas in case of Harpin, *STS* is most responsive, for salt stress it was *RS* that showed the strongest induction. These differences suggest that both kinds of stresses use separate pathways.

4.2 The Faster the Early Response, the Better the Adaptation

We observed that the fluxes of Na⁺ (resulting in stress damage), and Ca²⁺ and H⁺ (acting as stress signals) proceeded in both lines, however, with different spatiotemporal pattern (signatures). When Na⁺ ions are administered to a plant, they enter by passive transport through the plasma membrane NSCCs (mainly, DA-NSCCs and VI-NSCCs) within seconds (Tester and Davenport, 2003). The two studied cell lines showed different Na⁺ flux pattern (**Fig. 16**). Since the elevated intra- and extracellular Na⁺ partially inhibits the K⁺ outward rectifiers (KORs), the higher initial uptake of Na⁺ during phase I in *V. rupestris* might prevent the loss of cellular K⁺, maintaining cellular K⁺/Na⁺ homeostasis under stress (Shabala *et al.*, 2006). The rapid uptake of Na⁺ in *V. rupestris* during phase I would also contribute to overcome osmotic loss of water (Munns and Tester, 2008) and might contribute to the pronounced drought tolerance of this species.

The earliest cellular response to salinity seems to be a rapid increase of free cytosolic Ca²⁺ within 1 to 5 sec either through influx channels situated in the plasma membrane or through release from internal stores, especially the vacuole (Donaldson et al., 2004; Knight et al., 1997). Interestingly, V. riparia exhibited a sharp drop of cellular Ca²⁺ content concomitantly with phase I of Na^+ uptake (**Fig. 18A**) consistent with a release of Ca^{2+} from the apoplast. A similar decrease of cellular Ca²⁺ content had been described for mesophyll tissue of Vicia faba L. leaves and for barley roots, but was absent in protoplasts derived from these cells, a phenomenon which was attributed to Na^{+}/Ca^{2+} and H^{+}/Ca^{2+} ion exchange in the cell wall (Cuin and Shabala, 2005; Shabala and Newman, 2000). A pretreatment with GdCl₃ even amplified this salt-induced Ca²⁺ drop as compared to NaCl alone (Fig. 18C). This inhibitor experiment suggests that a certain salinity-induced Ca²⁺ influx does exist. However, it seems to proceed with low efficiency and is overrun by the Ca²⁺ loss from the cell wall. In fact, when excess Ca²⁺ was applied alone or in combination with NaCl to saturate binding sites in the cell wall. Ca²⁺ influx became visible in V. riparia but its activity was low (Fig. 18E) correlated with a low rate of Na⁺ and H⁺ influx under salt stress (Fig. 16 and Fig. 19B).

In contrast, the pattern of Ca²⁺ influx in NaCl-treated *V. rupestris* showed a mirror-image: Here Ca²⁺ content changed in a manner similar to Na⁺ uptake, with a clear induction in the first 10 min. This correlates with the kinetic efficacy of NSCCs and their fast uptake of both Na⁺ (**Fig. 16**) and H⁺ (**Fig. 20A**), which might sequester them from occupying potential Ca²⁺-binding sites in cell wall. This effect would be complemented by a more efficient influx of apoplastic Ca²⁺ into the cytoplasm (**Fig. 18A, B, and D**). Similar to the elevated Na⁺ uptake during phase I, this fast Ca²⁺ uptake might be linked to the pronounced drought-tolerance of *V. rupestris*, and thus be correlated more with osmotic rather than ionic stress (Knight *et al.*, 1997).

Salinity-induced cytosolic Ca²⁺, in turn, activates the plasma membrane ATPases mediated by Ca2+-CaM-dependent protein kinases, restoring membrane voltage after Na⁺-induced depolarization, and maintaining membrane integrity, and ionic homeostasis (Klobus and Janicka-Russak, 2004; Shabala et al., 2006). Additionally, the elevated cytosolic Ca²⁺ promotes H⁺ influx and inhibits AHA1 (a P-type proton ATPase catalyzing H⁺ efflux) resulting in apoplastic alkalinization (Wolf et al., 2012). Kinetic differences in cytosolic Ca²⁺ spiking should therefore become manifest as kinetic differences of apoplastic pH. In fact, salt stress induces a rapid apoplastic alkalinisation that differs between the two cell lines with respect to kinetics (pH_{max50} 12.9 and 9.3 min for *V. rupestris* and *V. riparia*, respectively) and dose-dependency (Fig. 19C and D). Consistent with the more active early Ca²⁺ influx in response to NaCl (155 mM) the lag time for apoplastic alkalinisation was only 15 sec in V. rupestris, whereas the sluggish Ca²⁺ influx in V. riparia was correlated with a longer lag of alkalinisation of 36 sec (Fig. **19**). As to be expected, salinity-induced Ca^{2+} fluxes act upstream of proton fluxes. The lanthanoid GdCl₃ completely blocked (V. riparia) or at least impaired (V. rupestris) apoplastic alkalinisation. Cytoskeleton-tethered mechanosensors participate in the perception of osmotic stress signals (Türkan and Demiral, 2009) and trigger a rapid increase of cytosolic Ca²⁺ within 1 sec, followed by apoplastic alkalinization within 12 sec. Both ion fluxes are blocked by a pretreatment with the lanthanoid La³⁺ (Monshausen et al., 2009). Thus, the earliest events of the cellular salinity response are shared with those triggered by mechanic challenge. Apoplastic alkalinization might promote adaptive events including activation of wall-consolidating enzymes such as pectin methylesterase, or, on the other hand, inhibition of expansins involved in cell-wall expansion (Wolf et al., 2012). In V. rupestris, alkalinization was much more pronounced ($\Delta p H_{ext} \sim 0.4$) (Fig. 19A) compared to V. riparia (ApHext ~0.25) (Fig. 19B) suggesting that adaptive arrest of cell expansion may underlie the initial decrease of growth rates in NaCl-stressed V. rupestris in contrast to V. riparia (Fig. 11A and B). Additionally, the Ca^{2+} -induced H⁺ influx might feedback on Ca^{2+} signaling by

affecting Ca²⁺ affinity for CaM (Busa and Nuccitelli, 1984).

As additional adaptive event, the salt-induced free cytosolic Ca²⁺ promotes the SOS3/SOS2 which phosphorylates the membrane-bound Na^+/H^+ antiporter, SOS1 causing Na⁺ efflux (Qiu et al., 2002). The more efficient Ca²⁺ uptake in V. rupestris should therefore cause a subsequent decline in cellular Na⁺ content, which would be a mechanistic explanation for the drop in Na⁺ content during phase II (Fig. 16). Since SOS2 also regulates the vacuolar Na⁺ transporter NHX1, in concert with other members of this family of transporters maintaining Na⁺ and K⁺ homeostasis even under drought and salt stress (Apse et al., 1999; Gaxiola et al., 1999; Qiu et al., 2004), the more active Ca²⁺ influx in *V. rupestris* should be followed by induction of NHX1 transcripts. We found strong induction of NHX1 transcripts after 3 h of salinity stress in V. rupestris, but not in V. riparia (Fig. 23). The induction of the vacuolar NHX1 transporter in conjunction with the sensitivity of Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters to cytosolic pH (Padan et al., 2001) indicates that, in V. rupestris, the Na⁺ entering the cell during phase III of uptake is efficiently compartmentalized into the vacuole, whereas in V. riparia, more Na⁺ would remain trapped in the cytoplasm.

On the other side, elevated levels of apoplastic Ca^{2+} strongly and partially block the main gates of Na⁺ entry, VI-NSCCs and DA-NSCCs, respectively (Demidchik and Maathuis, 2007). When external Ca^{2+} was added to the *Vitis* cells, it significantly reduced Na⁺ influx in both cell lines, with higher efficacy in *V. rupestris* (**Fig. 17A and B**). However, this positive effect was reverted in phase III, where Ca^{2+} significantly increased Na⁺ uptake in both cell lines, especially in *V. riparia*. Since the two lines showed different Ca^{2+} influx pattern under all treatments (**Fig. 18**), elevated levels of cytosolic Ca^{2+} at the beginning of phase III (from 15 min) in both cell lines might activate the HA-NSCCs that are weakly selective for monovalent cations with a late activation ~40–60 min (Davenport and Tester, 2000; Demidchik *et al.*, 2002). Again, when GdCl₃ was applied 2 min before salt treatment, Na⁺ uptake was reduced during both phases I and II in both lines (being less effective than Ca^{2+}). However, unlike the Ca^{2+} signature, this inhibitory effect was pronounced during phase III only in *V. riparia*, but absent in *V. rupestris* (**Fig.**
17C and D). In Arabidopsis root epidermal protoplasts, already 100 μ M GdCl₃ were sufficient to suppress 95% of Ca²⁺ influx carried by HA-NSCCs (Demidchik *et al.*, 2002) indicating that the HA-NSCCs may be the predominant type of channels on *V. riparia* plasma membranes. In contrast, the two more effective NSCCs (DA-NSCCs and VI-NSCCs) might represent the major type of channels in *V. rupestris*. This work hypothesizes that the apparent strong impact of plasma membrane NSCCs and their kinetic activities on the early stress responses of plants which has to be tested through electrophysiological approaches. Since these channels transport Ca²⁺ and H⁺ and thus determine the signatures of these signals, NSCCs activity acts upstream of Ca²⁺ and H⁺ flux and signaling activity and thus represent the earliest events of adaptive signaling.

4.3 The Tighter the control of JA/JA-II accumulation, the better the adaptation

ABA and JAs play central roles in plant adaptation to stress, constraining root growth, cell cycle, photosynthesis and transpiration, and thus prioritizing defense metabolism over growth. Furthermore, they play essential and overlapping roles for the induction of stomatal closure (Suhita et al., 2004). Upon osmotic stress, ABA accumulates resulting in upregulation of osmotic stress-responsive genes such as the ABA-responsive element/complex (ABRE) (Ishitani et al., 1997). This ABA accumulation is clearly adaptive, since the ABA deficient aba-mutants of Arabidopsis perform poorly under drought or salt stress or even die (Zhu, 2002). However, ABA seems to be not the only adaptive signal. ABA-deficient mutants of maize and tomato showed generally the same leaf growth rates as wildtype plants in drying or saline soils, and Arabidopsis DREB1A and its functional rice ortholog OsDREB1A promote tolerance to drought, high-salt, and freezing stresses independently of ABA (Dubouzet et al., 2003). As candidate for this ABA-independent signal, gibberellins (GAs) have been suggested (Munns and Tester, 2008). However, recently, OsDREB1A was found to by upregulated downstream of OsbHLH148 in a JA-dependent fashion, whereby OsbHLH148 is suppressed

by OsJAZs (especially OsJAZ1 and 3). Under JA signaling, OsbHLH148, OsJAZ, and OsCOI1 assemble into a complex resulting in the degradation of OsJAZ proteins via the 26S proteasome and thus the release of OsbHLH148 (Seo et al., 2011). In the current study, the two cell lines accumulated comparable levels of ABA (Fig. 25C). However, in the salt-sensitive V. riparia the accumulation of JA and JA-II was fourfold and sixfold, respectively, as compared to the more osmotic-tolerant V. rupestris (Fig. 25A and B). Moreover, in V. riparia, JA-II was induced earlier (after 1 h), while in V. rupestris 6 h were required until a first significant induction became visible and even then just reached the ground level of JA-II observed in V. riparia. Synthesis and accumulation of JA have been linked with PCD in infected tobacco leaves (Kenton et al., 1999), and Arabidopsis protoplasts (Zhang and Xing, 2008), and both leaves and cell-suspension cultures of Vitis vinifera L. cv. Lemberger (Repka et al., 2004). Interestingly, JA does not promote PCD only in plant cells, but also in cancer cells and sharing several similar effects in both cells including ROS generation, MAPK induction, cell cycle arrest, and PCD (Flescher, 2007). In the V. rupestris cell line, the elicitation of cell death by the bacterial effector Harpin was preceded by accumulation of both resveratrol and its toxic oxidative dimer δ -viniferin (Chang and Nick, 2012). However, the same line produced very little of these stilbenes in response to salinity stress (Fig. 27). In contrast, salt-stressed V. riparia cells accumulated high amounts of δ -viniferin following the accumulation of JA and JA-II (**Fig.** 27B). Cellular damage monitored by fluorescent detection of superoxide radicals was clearly ameliorated in V. rupestris as compared to V. riparia, where superoxide radicals were dramatically increased from two hours after the onset of salt stress (Fig. 20). Again, this response clearly diverges from the situation observed for biotic stress: In the V. rupestris cell line, Harpin treatment was found to induce a massive oxidative burst. This seems to be connected to the oxidation of resveratrol into its highly toxic derivative δ -viniferin (Chang et al., 2011), probably involved in the execution of hypersensitive cell death. Programmed cell death is an efficient strategy to block a biotic intruder, but would be completely inappropriate for salt

Discussion

adaptation. The findings from the current study link salt tolerance in *V. rupestris* with suppression of oxidative burst, reduced accumulation of JA and JA-II, early induction of *JAZ1*, induction of *NHX1*, suppression of stilbene accumulation, and reduced cell death. In contrast, the salt-sensitivity of *V. riparia* is linked with an early oxidative burst, massive accumulation of JA and JA-II, accumulation of stilbenes, and cell death, whereas induction of *JAZ1* transcripts and *NHX1* are suppressed (**Fig. 23**). Since MeJA (10 μ M) promotes the accumulation of *cis*- and *trans*-resveratrol and their glycosides, piceid, in *Vitis vinifera* cell suspension (Krisa *et al.*, 1999; Tassoni *et al.*, 2005). Resveratrol, in turn, can efficiently induce, in grapevine suspension cells, oxidative burst, actin bundling, accumulation of cell-death related PR5, and cell death (Chang *et al.*, 2011), suggesting that the JA pathway triggers PCD via stilbenes.

This leads to a model, where constrained JA accumulation and signaling are a precondition to escape salinity-induced cell death and to activate salinity adaptation. As expected from this model, the JAZ proteins as negative regulators of JA signaling are crucial for the tolerance salinity and drought: When GsJAZ2 from Glycine soja was over-expressed in Arabidopsis, the resultant mutant performed better than wildtype under salinity with a significant accumulation of NHX1 after 6 h (Zhu et al., 2012). Furthermore, in a rice mutant over-expressing OsbHLH148, both OsDREB and OsJAZ genes were highly induced upon drought stress (Seo et al., 2011). Over-expression of OsJAZ9 significantly improved salt and drought tolerance of rice (Ye et al., 2009). Interaction of JAZ/TIFY proteins with multiple transcription factors that play central roles of plant hormones: for JA; such as MYC2, MYC3, MYC4, for GAs; DELLA, for Ethylene; EIN3 and EIN3-LIKE 1(EIL1), and probably other transcription factors (Kazan and Manners, 2012) gives these JAZ proteins a key roles in orchestrating cross-talk among plant hormones and therefore their actions that exclusively affecting all aspects of plant cellular events. Of course, the crucial roles of JAs in improving salinity or drought stress, such as inducing stomatal closure, OsbHLH148 activity, and even the induction of JAZ genes cannot be ignored. However, from the published

record and the results of our current study, the existence of efficient suppression machinery, like JAZ proteins, that tightly control JAs levels should be considered as a pivotal factor for stress adaptation. The accumulation of JA, JA-II, and ABA depends on Ca²⁺ homeostasis, since in *V. riparia* both excessive Ca²⁺ as well as inhibition of Ca²⁺ influx by GdCl₃ can induce JA and JA-II in the salt-sensitive *V. riparia*, whereas in the salt tolerant *V. rupestris* they induce ABA instead with some cross-talk on the accumulation of SA (**Fig. 25 D, E and Fig. 26 A-C**). Calcium homeostasis might be the factor that links the early salinity-induced events (ion-fluxes, apoplastic alkalinization) with later events of *stress damage* (JA, JA-II, stilbenes, dominating in *V. riparia*) versus *stress adaptation* (ABA, SA, *NHX1*, dominating in *V. rupestris*)

4.4 Towards a model for salinity tolerance or sensitivity

In the current study, we addressed the role of JA-signaling in the context of salinity stress. As biological template to assign the investigated cellular events to either salt damage or salt adaptation we compared two grapevine cell lines differing in their ability for salt adaptation. The successful adaptation to salinity stress in *V. rupestris* is correlated with an efficient extrusion of Na⁺ during phase II (between 2 and 15 min) accompanied by apoplastic alkalinisation. This is followed by accumulation of ABA, whereas the accumulation of JA and JA-II were quelled. As a consequence, stilbenes that accumulate in this system in the context of oxidative burst and PCD are suppressed. In contrast, the sensitive V. riparia is less efficient in the export of Na⁺ during phase II correlated with a lower activitiv of apoplastic alkalinisation. Subsequently, JA and especially JA-II accumulate as well as the highly cytotoxic oxidative stilbene dimer δ -viniferin. Our data show clearly that JA and especially the biologically potent JA-II accumulate in the context of salt damage and are quelled in the context of salt adaptation. Figure 28 summarizes, on the phenomenological level, some of positive or negative events (Figs. 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 24, 26, and 27), that accompany salt adaptation in V. rupestris or salt sensitivity in V. riparia, respectively.

Since several players relevant for the uptake of sodium and the adaptation to Na⁺ stress such as VI-NSCCs, DA-NSCCs, HA-NSCCs, and SOS are regulated by Ca²⁺, we probed the individual salinity-triggered events with respect to their modulation by exogenous Ca²⁺ or gadolinium ions as *bona-fide* inhibitors of Ca²⁺ channels (Demidchik and Maathuis, 2007; Knight *et al.*, 1997). Moreover, we followed the changes of cellular calcium content in response to salinity. This "calcium/gadolinium signature" derived from these experiments can now be used as phenomenological framework to test molecular candidates and to assign their function to early and late events of *stress damage* versus *stress adaptation*.



94

Figure 28: Model for Salinity Tolerance or Sensitivity: In the control situation, JA signaling is suppressed by a multimeric transcriptional corepression complex (JAZ/TIFY, TPL, TPRs, and NINJA). However, upon salinity stress, fluxes of Na⁺, Ca²⁺, and H⁺ occur with different spatiotemporal signatures channeling plant cells to either salinity adaptation or cell death. Details are given in the discussion. Colored and Black arrows indicate activation by salinity stress and internal triggers, respectively. On the plasma membrane, arrows with blue, red, and orange represent H⁺, Ca²⁺, and Na⁺ influx, while dark green and brown show Na⁺ and K efflux, respectively. Light green arrows represent

Na⁺ influx into vacuole. Dashed arrows (♠,♠,♠) refer to non-significant (later significant after 6h), significant, and highly significant induction. Black arrows indicate activated signaling pathways while gray ones for inactivation. Black lines indicate repression action. Abbreviations: ABA, abscisic acid; JA, jasmonic acid; JA-II, jasmonoyl isoleucine; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SA, salicylic acid; *STS*, stilbene synthase; *Ψs* osmotic potential; KOR, K⁺ outward rectifiers; NSCCs, non-selective cation channels; SOS, salt overly sensitive; NHX1, vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger 1; JAZ1, jasmonate ZIM-domain protein 1; TPL, the corepressor TOPLESS; TPRs, TPL-related proteins; NINJA, a Novel Interactor of JAZ (NINJA); U, ubiquitination.

4.5 Conclusion

Stress signalling in general, and salinity signalling in particular, are of great impact for agriculture. A conceptual problem is the fact that the same general players (such as Ca²⁺, protons, oxidative burst, JA signalling) seem to convey different responses, depending on the context. How can plant cells activate different (appropriate) outputs, although the input is of identical or similar molecular quality? To illustrate the importance of signal signatures, we have chosen two closely related experimental systems (two genotypes of grapevine) that respond differently to salinity stress. We investigate the uptake of ions (Na⁺, Ca²⁺), apoplastic alkalinisation as early events, and phytohormones (jasmonates, ABA) and the grapevine phytoalexins stilbenes as late events. We conclude that a tight constraint of jasmonate signalling is required to escape cell death (which would be an adaptive response in a defense context) and to undergo salinity adaptation. To our knowledge we show for the first time a response of the jasmonate isoleucine conjugate in a stress context.

4.6 Outlook

The mechanism of salt tolerance is complex and includes several levels of signaling and adaptation (Parida and Das, 2005) including ion fluxes across the plasma membrane. To dissect their biological roles, patch-clamp technique should be employed. JA-signaling represents a pivotal role in the adaptation to both abiotic and biotic stress factors. JAZ proteins represent an important target to modulate the activity of JA-signaling. Transgenic Arabidopsis thaliana truncated versions of JAZ proteins (where the jas domain had been deleted) produced a dominant JA-insensitive phenotype (Chini et al., 2007; Thines et al., 2007). We suggest that generating transgenic grapes overexpressing JAZ1∆jas will give a huge chance to study

the link between JA-signaling and stress adaptation on the functional level. An interesting aspect will be the link between plasma-membrane located signaling (Ca2+ influx) and plastid-located activation of jasmonate synthesis.

Acknowledgements

First of all, I thank *Allah Almighty* for all which given to me. No word can express my love and thanks for *Allah Almighty*. The completion of my research and the success in my life would not have been real without his support and mercy.

Second, the one who does not thank people does not thank Allah (Islam Prophet, Mohammed, peace be upon him).

So, I would like to thank my supervisor Prof. Dr. Peter Nick for continuous help and encouragement not only in the academic world but also the world outside. Thanks for introducing me into this interseting and attractive world of plant molecular cell biology. He taught me both the analytical and critical thinking methods in research. I also want to thank Prof. Dr. Peter Nick again as a man of honor who deals generously with all people in Botanical Institute 1. As I always say, Prof. Dr. Nick controls his team by love not by power. I also repeat my appreciation to Prof. Dr. Peter Nick as a friend who cares about his students trying to facilitate their research work. I am so proud to work under his supervision and be one of his lucky students. Dear Prof. Dr. Peter, you will stay forever in my heart and I will never forget you.

It is also my immense pleasure, and duty to express my sincere gratitude to Prof. Dr. Karim M. Farag (PhD, University of Wisconsin–Madison, USA) Professor of Pomology, Faculty of Agriculture, Damanhour University, for all he did for me. Indeed, since he has supervised me in 2004, he taught me the interesting field of plant physiology and applied physiology, the analytical thinking methods in research and how can I apply them to solve problems. Really, I am so proud to be a student of him. Dear Prof. Dr. Karim, you will stay forever in my heart and I will never forget you. Deep thanks and gratitude are also extended to Dr. Günther Buchholz (RLP AgroScience/AlPlanta, Neustadt a.d. Weinstraße) and Prof. Dr. Islam El-Sharkawy, Associated Professor and Visiting Fellowship, University of Guelph, Department of Plant Agriculture, for their continuous guidance and encouragement.

Authors gratefully acknowledge Dr. Mitsunori Seo, Yumiko Takebayashi, Dr. Yuji Kamiya, and Dr. Yusuke Jikumaru from RIKEN Plant Science Center and RIKEN Center for Sustainable Resource Science, Tsurumi, Yokohama, Kanagawa, Japan for hormone analysis.

Dr. Elisabeth Eiche and Frau Gesine Preuss from Institut of Mineralogy und Geochemistry, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology (KIT), Germany are gratefully acknowledge for Na⁺- and Ca²⁺ measurements.

Thanks to Prof. Dr. Tilman Lamparter for your constructive advice and positive evaluation on my study and to Prof. Dr. Holger Puchta for agreeing to act as second reviewer. I would like to give my special thanks to Dr. Michael Riemann who helped me a lot in experimental design and performance. Thanks to Ernst Heene for your technical support with resveratrol extraction and HPLC analysis.

Thanks to all my colleagues in the stress group. Thank you for your helpful and valuable suggestions on my research. Special thanks to Rita Brendel and Xin Guan, Fei Qiao and Xiaoli Chang as a small *Vitis* group, we cooperated so happily and smoothly in the past years.

This work has been carried out in Botanical Institute 1 and would never have been possible without help and support from great colleagues and friends. I thank all the members working in Botanical Institute 1 for the general lab assistance and help and for such a friendly and helpful working atmosphere. I thank everyone who even only smiles in my face.

Thanks to GERLS scholarship "German Egyptian Research Long-Term Scholarship", that is jointly funded by the Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research "MHESR", Egypt and the Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst "DAAD", Bonn, Germany, for the financial support and the opportunity to study in Germany.

Special dedication to the soul of my mother Karima and to my father Sheikh AbdAlkarim for all they did. No word can express their work for their sons and daughters.

I would like to thank my brothers and sisters, especially my big brother Sameh, for their patience, understanding, and unconditional support through my my whole life.

I would like to thank my wife (the only flower in my life) for all she gave and continuing give to me. Also, I should thank my 22-month-old annoying kid Abdalrahman and my 5-month-old sweet daughter Khadija for forcing me to stay longer in my office and work in weekend in a way to escape their disturbances in my home. In fact, without them, I would not have such motivation to finish my work in such way. We as parents work hard to make our sons and daughters so proud about their parents. Thanks a lot my sweet family.

Finally, I would like to say thanks to my country Egypt, especially in this time. Since my lovely country faces some disturbances after the January 25th revolution, 2011, I want to tell you that do not worry my sweet land, you will pass all of these problems. You will stand again in your sincere youth's shoulders in the place you deserve in the front of developed countries. I will wholeheartedly do my best to advance you. I will water your soil with my blood and sacrifice your life by my soul. I will never give you up. I am really breathing you. In fact, I am your beating heart.

Ahmed Ismail

Literature cited

Abogadallah GM. 2010. Antioxidative defense under salt stress. *Plant Signaling & Behavior* 5: 369-374.

Alberts B, Johnson A, Lewis J, Raff M, Roberts K, Walter P. 2008. Molecular Biology of the Cell. Fifth Edition, Garland science, Taylor & Francis Group, LLC, NewYork, USA: ppt 52.

Altschul SF, Madden TL, Schaffer AA, Zhang J, Zhang Z, Miller W, Lipman DJ. 1997. Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. *Nucleic Acids Research* 25: 3389-3402.

Apel K, Hirt H. 2004. REACTIVE OXYGEN SPECIES: Metabolism, oxidative stress, and signal Transduction. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 55: 373-399.

Apse MP, Aharon GS, Snedden WA, Blumwald E. 1999. Salt Tolerance Conferred by Overexpression of a Vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺ Antiport in Arabidopsis. *Science* 285: 1256-1258.

Ashraf M, Foolad MR. 2007. Roles of glycine betaine and proline in improving plant abiotic stress resistance. *Environmental and Experimental Botany* 59: 206-216.

Avanci NC, Luche DD, Goldman GH, Goldman MHS. 2010. Jasmonates are phytohormones with multiple functions, including plant defense and reproduction. *Genetics and Molecular Research* 9: 484-505.

Avsian-Kretchmer O, Gueta-Dahan Y, Lev-Yadun S, Gollop R, Ben-Hayyim G. 2004. The salt-stress signal transduction pathway that activates the gpx1 promoter is mediated by intracellular H_2O_2 , different from the pathway induced by extracellular H_2O_2 . *Plant Physiology* 135: 1685-1696.

Babourina O, Leonova T, Shabala S, Newman I. 2000. Effect of sudden salt stress on ion fluxes in intact wheat suspension cells. *Annals of Botany* 85: 759-767.

Balbi V, Devoto A. 2008. Jasmonate signalling network in Arabidopsis thaliana: crucial regulatory nodes and new physiological scenarios. *New Phytologist* 177: 301–318.

Bassil E, Ohto MA, Esumi T, Tajima H, Zhu Z, Cagnac O, Belmonte M, Peleg Z, Yamaguchi T, Blumwald E. 2011. The Arabidopsis intracellular Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters NHX5 and NHX6 are endosome associated and necessary for plant growth and development. *Plant Cell* 23: 224-239.

Baur JA, Pearson KJ, Price NL, Jamieson HA, Lerin C, Kalra A, Prabhu VV, Allard JS, Lopez-Lluch G, Lewis K, Pistell PJ, Poosala S, Becker KG, Boss O, Gwinn D, Wang M, Ramaswamy S, Fishbein KW, Spencer RG, Lakatta EG, Le Couteur D, Shaw RJ, Navas P, Puigserver P, Ingram DK, de Cabo R, Sinclair DA. 2006. Resveratrol improves health and survival of mice on a high-calorie diet. *Nature* 444: 337-342.

Bavaresco L, Fregoni C, Cantù E, Trevisan M. 1999. Stilbene compounds: from the grapevine to wine. *Drugs under Experimental and Clinical Research* 25: 57-63.

Berridge MJ, Bootman MD, Roderick HL. 2003. Calcium signaling: Dynamics, homeostasis and remodeling. *NATURE REVIEWS, MOLECULAR CELL BIOLOGY* 4: 517-529.

Bertl, A. and Felle, H. H. 1985 Cytoplasmic pH of root hair cells of Sinapis alba recorded by a pH-sensitive micro-electrode. Does fusicoccin stimulate the proton pump by cytoplasmic acidification? *Journal of Experimental Botany* 36: 1142-1149.

Besson-Bard A, Pugin A, Wendehenne D. 2008. New insights into Nitric Oxide signaling in plants. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 59: 21-39.

Blumwald E. 2000. Sodium transport and salt tolerance in plants. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 12: 431-434.

Blumwald E, Aharon GS, Apse MP. 2000. Sodium transport in plant cells. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1465: 140-151.

Bouché N, Yellin A, Snedden WA, Fromm H. 2005. Plant-specific calmodulin-binding proteins. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 56: 435-466

Bressan RA, Bohnert HJ, Hasegawa PM. 2008. Chapter 12; Genetic engineering for salinity stress tolerance. ppt 347-384. **Hans J. Bohnert, Henry Nguyen, Norman G. Lewis.** 2008. Advances in Plant Biochemistry and Molecular Biology. Volume 1 - Bioengineering and Molecular Biology of Plant Pathways. Radarweg 29, PO Box 211, 1000 AE Amsterdam, The Netherlands. Elsevier Ltd.

Browse J. 2009. Jasmonate passes muster: A receptor and targets for defense hormone. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 60: 183-205.

Bruinsma M, van Broekhoven S, Poelman EH, Posthumus MA, Müller MJ, van Loon JJA, Dicke M. 2010. Inhibition of lipoxygenase affects induction of both direct and indirect plant defences against herbivorous insects. *Oecologia* 162: 393-404.

Buchanan B, Gruissem W, Jones R. 2002. Biochemistry & Molecular Biology of Plants. Copyright © 2000 by the American Society of Plant Physiology, USA. ppt. 1159.

Burg MB, Ferraris JD. 2008. Intracellular organic osmolytes: function and regulation. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 283: 7309-7313.

Busa WB, Nuccitelli R. 1984. Metabolic regulation via intracellular pH. *American Journal of Physiology* 246: R409–R438.

Cassells AC, Curry RF. 2001. Oxidative stress and physiological, epigenetic and genetic variability in plant tissue culture: implications for micropropagators and genetic engineers. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 64: 145-157.

Chang X, Heene E, Qiao F, Nick P. 2011. The phytoalexin resveratrol regulates the initiation of hypersensitive cell death in Vitis cell. *PLoS ONE* 6: e26405. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0026405.

Chang X, Nick P. 2012. Defence Signalling Triggered by Flg22 and Harpin Is Integrated into a Different Stilbene Output in Vitis Cells. *PLoS ONE* 7: e40446. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0040446.

Cheeseman JM. 1988. Mechanisms of Salinity Tolerance in Plants. *Plant Physiology* 87: 547-550.

Chen THH, Murata N. 2002. Enhancement of tolerance to abiotic stress by metabolic engineering of betaines and other compatible solutes. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 5: 250-257.

Chen THH, Murata N. 2008. Glycinebetaine: an effective protectant against abiotic stress in plants. *Trends in Plant Science* 13: 499-505.

Cheng S, Willmann MR, Chen H, Sheen J. 2002. Calcium signaling through protein kinases. The Arabidopsis calcium-dependent protein kinase gene family. *Plant Physiology* 129: 469-485.

Chico JM, Chini A, Fonseca S, Solano R. 2008. JAZ repressors set the rhythm in jasmonate signaling. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 11: 486–494.

Chini A, Fonseca S, Chico JM, Fernàndez-Calvo P, Solano R. 2009. The ZIM domain mediates homo- and heteromeric interactions between Arabidopsis JAZ proteins. *Plant Journal* 59: 77–87.

Chini A, Fonseca S, Fernàndez G, Adie B, Chico JM, Lorenzo O, García-Casado G, López-Vidriero I, Lozano FM, Ponce MR, Micol JL, Solano R. 2007. The JAZ family of repressors is the missing link in jasmonate signalling. *Nature* 448: 666-671.

Chinnusamy V, Zhu J, Zhu JK. 2006. Salt stress signalling and mechanisms of plant stress tolerance. *Genetic Engineering* 27: 141-177. Springer Science+Business Media, Inc. 2006.

Chong J, Poutaraud A, Hugueney P. 2009. Metabolism and roles of stilbenes in plants. *Plant Science* 177: 143–155.

Chung HS, Niu Y, Browse J, Howe GA. 2009. Top hits in contemporary JAZ: An update on jasmonate signaling. *Phytochemistry* 70: 1547–1559.

Clapham DE. 1995. Calcium Signaling. Cell 80: 259-268.

Clapham DE. 2007. Calcium Signaling. Cell 131: 1047-1058.

Coll NS, Epple P, Dangl JL. 2011. Programmed cell death in the plant immune system. *Cell Death and Differentiation* 18: 1247-1256.

Cominelli E, Galbiati M, Tonelli C, Bowler C. 2009. Water: the invisible problem. View point. *EMBO report* 7: 671-676.

Conconi A, Smerdon MJ, Howe GA, Ryan CA. 1996. The octadecanoid signaling pathway in plants mediates a response to ultraviolet radiation. *Nature* 383: 826–829.

Creelman RA, Mulletl JE. 1995. Jasmonic acid distribution and action in plants: Regulation during development and response to biotic and abiotic stress. *The Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 92: 4114–4119.

Creelman RA, Mulletl JE. 1997a. Biosynthesis and action of jasmonates in plants. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology* 48: 355-381.

Creelman RA, Mulletl JE. 1997b. Oligosaccharins, brassinolides, and jasmonates: Nontraditional regulators of plant growth, development, and gene expression. *Plant Cell* 9: 1211–1223. **Cucurou C, Battioni JP, Thang DC, Nam NH, Mansuy D.** 1991. Mechanisms of Inactivation of Lipoxygenases by Phenidone and BW755C. *Biochemistry* 30: 8964-8970.

Cuin TA, Shabala S. 2005. Exogenously Supplied Compatible Solutes Rapidly Ameliorate NaCl-induced Potassium Efflux from Barley Roots. *Plant Cell Physiology* 46: 1924-1933.

Cutler SR, Rodriguez PL, Finkelstein RR, Abrams SR. 2010. Abscisic acid: Emergence of a core signaling network. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 61: 651-679.

Darley CP, van Wuytswinkel OCM, van de Woude K, Mager WH. 2000. Arabidopsis thaliana and Saccharomyces cerevisiae NHX1 genes encode amiloride sensitive electroneutral Na⁺/H⁺ exchangers. *Biochemical Journal* 351: 241-249.

Davenport RJ, Tester M. 2000. A weakly voltage-dependent, nonselective cation channel mediates toxic sodium influx in wheat. *Plant Physiology* 122: 823–834.

Demidchik M, Tester M. 2002. Sodium Fluxes through Nonselective Cation Channels in the Plasma Membrane of Protoplasts from Arabidopsis Roots. *Plant Physiology* 128: 379-387.

Demidchik V, Bowen HC, Maathuis FJM, Shabala SN, Tester MA, White PJ, Davies JM. 2002. Arabidopsis thaliana root non-selective cation channels mediate calcium uptake and are involved in growth. *Plant Journal* 32: 799-808.

Demidchik V, Davenport RJ, Tester M. 2002. Nonselective cation channels in plants. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 53: 67-107.

Demidchik V, Maathuis FJM. 2007. Physiological roles of nonselective cation channels in plants: from salt stress to signalling and development. New Phytologist: 175, 387-404.

Demole E, Lederer E, Mercier D.1962. Isolement et determination de la structure du jasmonate de methyle, constituant odorant characteristique de l'essence de jasmin. *Helvetica Chimica Acta* XLV: 675–685.

Derckel JP, Baillieul F, Manteau S, Audran JC, Haye B, Lambert B, Legendre L. 1999. Differential induction of grapevine defences by two strains of Botrytis cinerea. *Phytopathology* 89: 197-203.

Dohrenwend BP. 2000. The role of adversity and stress in psychopathology: Some evidence and its implications for theory and research. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 41: 1-19.

Donaldson L, Ludidi N, Knight MR, Gehring C, Denby K. 2004. Salt and osmotic stress

cause rapid increases in Arabidopsis thaliana cGMP levels. FEBS Letter 569: 317-320.

Dubouzet JG, Sakuma Y, Ito Y, Dubouzet E, Miura S, Seki M, Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. 2003. OsDREB genes in rice, *Oryza sativa* L., encode transcription activators that function in drought-, high-, salt- and cold-responsive gene expression. *Plant Journal* 33: 751–763.

Eckardt NA. 2002. Abscisic Acid Biosynthesis Gene Underscores the Complexity of Sugar, Stress, and Hormone Interactions. *Plant Cell* 14: 2645-2649.

Essah PA, Davenport R, Tester M. 2003. Sodium influx and accumulation in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology* 133: 307-318.

Evans NH. 2003. Modulation of Guard Cell Plasma Membrane Potassium Currents by Methyl Jasmonate. *Plant Physiology* 131: 8-11.

Evert RF, Eichhorn SE. 2006. Esau's Plant Anatomy: Meristems, Cells, and Tissues of the Plant Body: Their Structure, Function, and Development, 3rd Edition, pp. 218-220.

FAO. 1985. Irrigation Water Management: Introduction to irrigation. http://www.fao.org/docrep/R4082E/R4082E00.htm.

FAO. 2007. Soil_Production. http://www.fao.org/nr/land/soils/en/

FAO. 2011. FAO Land and Plant Nutrition Management Service. http://www.fao.org/ag/agl/agl/spush.

FAOSTAT data. 2010. http://faostat.fao.org

Fasano JM, Swanson SJ, Blancaflor EB, Dowd PE, Kao T, Gilroy S. 2001. Changes in root cap pH are required for the gravity response of the Arabidopsis root. *Plant Cell* 13: 907-921.

Felix G, Regenass M, Boller T. 1993. Specific perception of subnanomolar concentrations of chitin fragments by tomato cells: induction of extracellular alkalinization, changes in protein phosphorylation, and establishment of a refractory state. *Plant Journal* 4: 307–316.

Felix G, Duran J, Volko S, Boller T. 1999. Plants have a sensitive perception system for the most conserved domain of bacterial flagellin. *Plant Journal* 18: 265–276.

Felle H. 2001. pH: Signal and Messenger in Plant Cells. Plant Biology 3: 577-591.

Felle HH, Hanstein S. 2002. The apoplastic pH of the sub-stomatal cavity of Vicia faba leaves and its regulation responding to different stress factors. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 53: 1-10.

Felle HH, Kondorosi E, Kondorosi A, Schultze M. 1998. The role of ion fluxes in Nod factor signalling in Medicago sativa. *Plant Journal* 13: 455-463.

Flescher E. 2007. Jasmonates in cancer therapy. Cancer Letter 245:1-10.

Flowers T, Troke PF, Yeo AR. 1977. The Mechanisms of Salt Tolerance in Halophytes. Annual Review of Plant Physiology 28: 89-121.

Flowers T. 2006. Journal of Experimental Botany 57: iv.

Flowers TJ, Colmer TD. 2008. Salinity tolerance of halophytes. *New Phytologist* 179: 945-963.

Fonseca S, Chico JM, Solano R. 2009. The jasmonate pathway: the ligand, the receptor and the core signalling module. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 12: 539–547.

Forman HJ, Torres M. 2002. Reactive oxygen species and cell signaling: Respiratory burst in macrophage signaling. *American Journal of Respiratrory and Critical Care Medicine* 166: S4-S8.

Gaff DF, Okong'O-Ogola O. 1971. The use of non-permeating pigments for testing the survival of cells. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 22: 756-758.

Gao D, Knight MR, Trewavas AJ, Sattelmacher B, Plieth C. 2004. Self-Reporting arabidopsis expressing pH and [Ca²⁺] indicators unveil ion dynamics in the cytoplasm and in the apoplast under abiotic stress. *Plant Physiology* 134: 898-908.

Gao XP, Pan QH, Li MJ, Zhang LY, Wang XF, Shen YY, Lu YF, Chen SW, Liang Z, Zhang DP. 2004. Abscisic acid is involved in the water stress-induced betaine accumulation in pear leaves. *Plant Cell Physiology* **45**: 742-750.

Gaxiola RA, Rao R, Sherman A, Grisafi P, Alper SL, Fink GR. 1999. The Arabidopsis thaliana proton transporters, AtNHX1 and Avp1, can function in cation detoxification in yeast. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the USA* 96: 1480-1485.

Gehrig H, Schüssler A, Kluge M. 1996. Geosiphon pyriforme, a fungus forming

endocytobiosis with Nostoc (cyanobacteria), is an ancestral member of the Glomales: evidence by SSU rRNA analysis. *Journal of Molecular Evolution* 43: 71-81.

Geilfuss CM, Mühling KH. 2013. Ratiometric monitoring of transient apoplastic alkalinizations in the leaf apoplast of living Vicia faba plants: chloride primes and PM-H⁺-ATPase shapes NaCl-induced systemic alkalinizations. *New Phytologist* 197: 1117-1129.

Gill SS, Tuteja N. 2010. Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant machinery in abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 48: 909-930.

Grunewald W, Vanholme B, Pauwels L, Plovie E, Inze D, Gheysen G, Goossens A. 2009. Expression of the Arabidopsis jasmonate signaling repressor JAZ1/TIFY10A is stimulated by auxin. *EMBO reports* 10: 923–928.

Guarente L, Picard F. 2005. Calorie restriction-the SIR2 connection. Cell 120: 473-482.

Haga K, lino M. 2004. Phytochrome-mediated transcriptional up-regulation of allene oxide synthase in rice seedlings. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 45: 119-128.

Hall D, De Luca V. 2007. Mesocarp localization of a bi-functional resveratrol hydroxycinnamic acid glucosyltransferase of Concord grape (*Vitis labrusca*). *Plant Journal* 49: 579-591

Harper JF, Breton G, Harmon A. 2004. Decoding Ca²⁺ signals through plant protein kinases. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology* 55: 263–288.

Hasegawa PM, Bressan RA, Zhu JK, Bohnert H. 2000. Plant Cellular and Molecular Responses to High Salinity. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology* 51: 463-499.

Hetherington AM, Brownlee C. 2004. The generation of Ca²⁺ signals in plants. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 55: 401-427.

Hirschi K. 2001. Vacuolar H⁺/Ca²⁺ transport: who's directing the traffic? *TRENDS in Plant Science* 6: 100-104.

Hong Y, Pan X, Welti R, Wang X. 2008. Phospholipase Dα3 Is Involved in the Hyperosmotic Response in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 20: 803-816.

Hoson T. 1998. Apoplast as the site of response to environmental signals. Journal of Plant

Research 111: 167-177.

Hsu SY, Kao CH. 2003. Differential effect of sorbitol and polyethylene glycol on antioxidant enzymes in rice leaves. *Plant Growth Regulation* 39: 83-90.

Hua D, Wang C, He J, Liao H, Duan Y, Zhu Z, Guo Y, Chen Z, Gong Z. 2012. A plasma membrane receptor kinase, GHR1, mediates abscisic acid- and hydrogen peroxide-regulated stomatal movement in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 24: 2546-2561.

Huang GT, Ma SL, Bai LP, Zhang L, Ma H, Jia P, Liu J, Zhong M, Guo ZF. 2012. Signal transduction during cold, salt, and drought stresses in plants. *Molecular Biology Reports* 39: 969-987.

Hubbard KE, Nishimura N, Hitomi K, Getzoff ED, Schroeder JI. 2010. Early abscisic acid signal transduction mechanisms: newly discovered components and newly emerging questions. *Genes & Development* 24: 1695-1708.

Hungar Map.2011. http://www.wfp.org/

Ingram J, Bartels D. 1996. The Molecular Basis of Dehydration Tolerance in Plants. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology* 47: 377-403.

Ippolito JA, Barbarick KA. 2000. Modified nitric acid plant tissue digest method, *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis* 31: 2473-2482.

Isayenkov S, Isner JC, Maathuis FJM. 2010. Vacuolar ion channels: Roles in plant nutrition and signaling. *FEBS Letters* 584: 1982-1988.

Ishibashi Y, Tawaratsumida T, Kondo K, Kasa S, Sakamoto M, Aoki N, Zheng SH, Yuasa T, Iwaya-Inoue M. 2012. Reactive oxygen species are involved in gibberellin/abscisic acid signaling in barley aleurone cells. *Plant Physiology* 158: 705-1714.

Ishitani M, Xiong L, Stevenson B, Zhu JK. 1997. Genetic analysis of osmotic and cold stress signal transduction in Arabidopsis: interactions and convergence of abscisic acid-dependent and abscisic acid-independent pathways. *Plant Cell* 9: 1935-1949.

Ismail A, Riemann M, Nick P. 2012. The jasmonate pathway mediates salt tolerance in grapevines. Journal of Experimental Botany 63: 2127-2139.

Jabs T, Tschöpe M, Colling C, Hahlbrock K, Scheel D. 1997. Elicitor-stimulated ion fluxes and O_2^{-} from the oxidative burst are essential components in triggering defense gene

activation and phytoalexin synthesis in parsley. *The Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 94: 4800-4805.

Jaillais Y, Chory J. 2010. Unraveling the paradoxes of plant hormone signaling integration. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology* 17: 642-645.

Jaillon O, Aury JM, Noel B, Policriti A, Clepet C, Casagrande A, Choisne N, Aubourg S, Vitulo N, Jubin C, Vezzi A, Legeai F, Hugueney P, Dasilva C, Horner D, Mica E, Jublot D, Poulain J, Bruyère C, Billault A, Segurens B, Gouyvenoux M, Ugarte E, Cattonaro F, Anthouard V, Vico V, Del Fabbro C, Alaux M, Di Gaspero G, Dumas V, Felice N, Paillard S, Juman I, Moroldo M, Scalabrin S, Canaguier A, Le Clainche I, Malacrida G, Durand E, Pesole G, Laucou V, Chatelet P, Merdinoglu D, Delledonne M, Pezzotti M, Lecharny A, Scarpelli C, Artiguenave F, Pè ME, Valle G, Morgante M, Caboche M, Adam-Blondon AF, Weissenbach J, Quétier F, Wincker P; French-Italian Public Consortium for Grapevine Genome Characterization. 2007. The grapevine genome sequence suggests ancestral hexaploidization in major angiosperm phyla. *Nature* 449: 463-467.

Jang M, Cai L, Udeani GO, Slowing KV, Thomas CF, Beecher CW, Fong HH, Farnsworth NR, Kinghorn AD, Mehta RG, Moon RC, Pezzuto JM. 1997. Cancer Chemopreventive Activity of Resveratrol, a Natural Product Derived from Grapes. *Science* 275: 218-220.

Jeandet P, Bessis R, Gautheron B. 1991. The production of resveratrol (3,5,4 '-trihydroxystilbene) by grape berries in different developmental stages. *American Journal of Enology and Viticulture* 42: 41-46.

Jeanmougin F, Thompson JD, Gouy M, Higgins DG, Gibson TJ. 1998. Multiple sequence alignment with Clustal X. *Trends in Biochemical Science* 23: 403-405.

Jiang Y, Yang B, Harris NS, Deyholos MK. 2007. Comparative proteomic analysis of NaCl stress-responsive proteins in Arabidopsis roots. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 58: 3591-3607.

John E. 2002. Candidate effector and regulator genes activated by glycine betaine in Arabidopsis. http://abstracts.aspb.org/pb2002/public/P63/0153.html.

Jones HG, Flowers TJ, Jones MB. 1993. Society for experimental biology seminar series 39. Plant under stress. Cambridge University Press, pp. 2.

Joshi-Saha A, Valon C, Leung J. 2011. Abscisic acid signal off the STARTing block. *Molecular Plant* 4: 562-580. **Kang S, Kim HB, Lee H, Choi JY, Heu S, Oh CJ, Kwon SI, An CS.** 2006. Overexpression in Arabidopsis of a plasma membrane-targeting glutamate receptor from small radish increases glutamate-mediated Ca²⁺ influx and delays fungal infection. *Molecules and Cells* 21: 418-27.

Kazan K, Manners JM. 2012. JAZ repressors and the orchestration of phytohormone crosstalk. *Trends in Plant Science* 17: 22-31.

Kenton P, Mur L, Atzorn R, Wasternack C. Draper J. 1999. (-)-Jasmonic acid accumulation in tobacco hypersensitive response lesions. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* 12: 74-78.

Khelil A, Menu T, Ricard B. 2007. Adaptive response to salt involving carbohydrate metabolism in leaves of a salt-sensitive tomato cultivar. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 45: 551-559.

Kim J, Kim HY. 2006. Functional analysis of a calcium-binding transcription factor involved in plant salt stress signaling. *FEBS Letters* 580: 5251-5256.

Klobus G, Janicka-Russak M. 2004. Modulation by cytosolic components of proton pump activities in plasma membrane and tonoplast from Cucumis sativus roots during salt stress. *Physiologia Plantarum* 121: 84-92.

Knight H, Trewavas AJ, Knight MR. 1997. Calcium signalling in Arabidopsis thaliana responding to drought and salinity. *Plant Journal* 12:1067-1078.

Kranner I, Minibayeva FV, Beckett RP. 2010. Charlotte E. Seal What is stress? Concepts, definitions and applications in seed science. *New Phytologist* 188: 655-673.

Krisa S, Larronde F, Budzinski H, Decendit A, Deffieux, G, Mérillon JM. 1999. Stilbene Production by Vitis vinifera Cell Suspension Cultures: Methyl Jasmonate Induction and 13C Biolabeling. *The Journal of Natural Products* 62: 1688-1690.

Kronzucker HJ, Britto DT. 2011. Sodium transport in plants: a critical review. *New Phytologist* 189: 54-81.

Kudla J, Batistič O, Hashimoto K. 2010. Calcium signals: The lead currency of plant information processing. *Plant Cell* 22: 541-563.

Kurkdjian A, Guern J. 1989. Interacellular pH: Measurment and importance in cell activity. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology* 40: 271-303. Lamattina L, García-Mata C, Graziano M, Pagnussat G. 2003. NITRIC OXIDE: The versatility of an extensive signal molecule. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 54:109-136.

Läuchli A, Grattan SR. 2007. Plant growth and development under salinity stress. In Advances in Molecular Breeding Toward Drought and Salt Tolerant Crops, ed. Jenks MA, Hasegawa PM, Jain SM. Springer Verlag.

Lehmann J, Atzorn R, Brückner C, Reinbothe S, Leopold J, Wasternack C, Parthier B. 1995. Accumulation of jasmonate, abscisic acid, specific transcripts and proteins in osmotically stressed barley leaf segments. *Planta* 197: 156-162.

Lindermayr C, Sell S, Müller B, Leister D, Durner J. 2010. Redox regulation of the NPR1-TGA1 system of Arabidopsis thaliana by nitric oxide. *Plant Cell* 22: 2894–2907.

Lorenzo R, Solano R. 2005. Molecular players regulating the jasmonate signalling network. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 8: 532–540.

Lubliner J. 2008. Plasticity Theory (Revised Edition). Dover Publications. ISBN 0-486-46290-0.

Ma S, Gong Q, Bohnert HJ. 2006. Dissecting salt stress pathways. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 57: 1097-1107.

Ma Y, Szostkiewicz I, Korte A, Moes D, Yang Y, Christmann A, Grill E. 2009. Regulators of PP2C phosphatase activity function as abscisic acid sensors. *Science* 324: 1064-1068.

Mahajan S, Tuteja N. 2005. Cold, salinity and drought stresses: An overview. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* 444: 139-158.

Martinoia E, Meyer S, DeAngeli A, Nagy R. 2012 Vacolar transporters in their Physiological Context. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 63, 183-214

McGovern PE. 2003. Ancient Wine: the Search for the Origins of Viniculture. Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey.

Memelink J. 2009. Regulation of gene expression by jasmonate hormones. *Phytochemistry* 70: 1560-1570.

Milborrow BV. 2001. The pathway of biosynthesis of abscisic acid in vascular plants: a review of the present state of knowledge of ABA biosynthesis. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 52: 1145-1164.

Miller G, Suzuki N, Ciftci-Yilmaz S, Mittler R. 2010. Reactive oxygen species homeostasis and signaling during drought and salinity stresses. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 33: 453-467.

Mittler R. 2002. Oxidative stress, antioxidants and stress tolerance. *Trends in Plant Science* 7: 405-10.

Monroe SM. 2008. Modern Approaches to Conceptualizing and Measuring Human Life Stress. *The Annual Review of Clinical Psychology* 4: 33-52.

Monshausen GB, Bibikova TN, Weisenseel MH, Gilroy S. 2009. Ca²⁺ Regulates Reactive Oxygen Species Production and pH during Mechanosensing in Arabidopsis Roots. *Plant Cell* 21: 2341-2356.

Moons A, Prinsen E, Bauw G, Van Montagu M. 1997. Antagonistic effects of abscisic acid and jasmonates on salt stress-inducible transcripts in rice roots. *Plant Cell* 9: 2243–2259.

Morales M, Alcántara J, Ros Barceló A. 1997. Oxidation of trans-resveratrol by a hypodermal peroxidase isoenzyme from Gamay rouge Grape (*Vitis vinifera*) berries. *American Journal of Enolongy and Viticulture* 48: 33-38.

Moroldo M, Paillard S, Marconi R, Fabrice L, Canaguier A, Cruaud C, Berardinis V, Guichard C, Brunaud V, Clainche I, Scalabrin S, Testolin R, Gaspero G, Morgante M, Adam-Blondon A. 2008. A physical map of the heterozygous grapevine Cabernet Sauvignon allows mapping candidate genes for disease resistance. *BMC Plant Biology*: 8-66.

Munns R, Tester M. 2008. Mechanisms of salinity tolerance. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology* 59: 651-681.

Munns R. 1993. Physiological processes limiting plant growth in saline soil: some dogmas and hypotheses. *Plant Cell and Environment* 16: 15-24.

Munns R. 2002. Comparative physiology of salt and water stress. *Plant Cell and Environment* 25: 239-250.

Munns R. 2005. Genes and salt tolerance: bringing them together. *New Phytologist* 167: 645–663.

Mur LAJ, Naylor G, Warner SAJ, Sugars JM, White RF, Draper J. 1996. Salicylic acid potentiates defence gene expression in leaf tissue exhibiting acquired resistance to pathogen attack. *The Plant Journal* 9: 559-571.

Nambara E, Marion-Poll A. 2005. Abscisic acid biosynthesis and catabolism. *Annual Review* of *Plant Biology* 56:165-85.

Neill SJ, Desikan R, Clarke A, Hurst RD, Hancock JT. 2001. Hydrogen peroxide and nitric oxide as signalling molecules in plants. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 53: 1237-1247.

Neill SJ, Desikan R, Hancock JT. 2003. Nitric oxide signalling in plants. *New Phytologist* 159: 11-35.

Ng CK, McAinsh MR. 2003. Encoding specificity in plant calcium signalling: hot-spotting the ups and downs and waves. *Annals of Botany* 92: 477-485.

Nicholas KB, Nicholas HBJ. 1997. GeneDoc: a tool for editing and annotating multiple sequence alignments, distributed by the authors.

Nick P, Heuing A, Ehmann B. 2000. Plant chaperonins: a role in microtubule-dependent wall-formation? *Protoplasma* 211: 234-244.

Nishimura N, Hitomi K, Arvai AS, Rambo RP, Hitomi C, Cutler SR, Schroeder JI, Getzoff ED. 2009. Structural Mechanism of Abscisic Acid Binding and Signaling by Dimeric PYR1. *Science* 326: 1373-1379.

Nishimura N, Sarkeshik A, Nito K, Park SY, Wang A, Carvalho PC, Lee S, Caddell DF, Cutler SR, Chory J, Yates JR, Schroeder JI. 2010. PYR/PYL/RCAR family members are major in-vivo ABI1 protein phosphatase 2C-interacting proteins in Arabidopsis. *Plant Journal* 61: 290-299.

Nuccio ML, Rhodes D, McNeil SD, Hanson AD. 1999. Metabolic engineering of plants for osmotic stress resistance. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 2: 128-134.

OECD_FAO_Ag-outlook. 2012. http://www.fao.org/news/story/en/item/151304/icode/

Padan E, Venturi M, Gerchman Y, Dover N. 2001. Na⁺/H⁺antiporters. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1505: 144-157.

Parage C, Tavares R, Réty S, Baltenweck-Guyot R, Poutaraud A, Renault L, Heintz D, Lugan R, Marais GA, Aubourg S, Hugueney P. 2012. Structural, functional, and evolutionary analysis of the unusually large stilbene synthase gene family in grapevine. *Plant Physiology* 160: 1407-1419.

Parida AK, Das AB. 2005. Salt tolerance and salinity effects on plants: a review.

Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety 60: 324-349.

Park SY, Fung P, Nishimura N, Jensen DR, Fujii H, Zhao Y, Lumba S, Santiago J, Rodrigues A, Chow TF, Alfred SE, Bonetta D, Finkelstein R, Provart NJ, Desveaux D, Rodriguez PL, McCourt P, Zhu JK, Schroeder JI, Volkman BF, Cutler SR. 2009. Abscisic acid inhibits type 2C protein phosphatases via the PYR/PYL family of START proteins. *Science* 324: 1068-1071.

Pauwels L, Barbero GF, Geerinck J, Tilleman S, Grunewald W, Pérez AC, Chico JM, Bossche RV, Sewell J, Gil E, García-Casado G, Witters E, Inzé D, Long JA, De Jaeger G, Solano R, Goossens A. 2010. NINJA connects the co-repressor TOPLESS to jasmonate signalling. *Nature* 464:788-91.

Pedranzani H, Racagni G, Alemano S, Miersch O, Ramírez I, Peña-Corte H, Taleisnik E, Machado-Domenech E, Abdala G. 2003. Salt tolerant tomato plants show increased levels of jasmonic acid. *Plant Growth Regulation* 41: 149-158.

Pei ZM, Murata Y, Benning G, Thomine S, Klüsener B , Allen GJ, Grill E, Schroeder JI. 2000. Calcium channels activated by hydrogen peroxide mediate abscisic acid signalling in guard cells. *Nature* 406: 731-734.

Peiter E. 2011. The plant vacuole: Emitter and receiver of calcium signals. *Cell Calcium* 50: 120-128.

Peña-Cortès H, **Albrecht T, Prat S, Weiler EW, Willmitzer L.** 1993. Aspirin prevents wound-induced gene expression in tomato leaves by blocking jasmonic acid biosynthesis. *Planta* 191: 123-128.

Petit AN, Baillieul F, Vaillant-Gaveau N, Jacquens L, Conreux A, Jeandet P, Clément C, Fontaine F. 2009. Low responsiveness of grapevine flowers and berries at fruit set to UV-C irradiation. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 60: 1155-1162.

Pittman JK. 2011. Vacuolar Ca²⁺ uptake. *Cell Calcium* 50: 139-146.

Qi Z, Spalding EP. 2004. Protection of plasma membrane K⁺ transport by the salt overly sensitive1 Na⁺-H⁺ antiporter during salinity stress. *Plant Physiology* 136: 2548-55.

Qiao F, Chang X, Nick P. 2010. The cytoskeleton enhances gene expression in the response to the Harpin elicitor in grapevine. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 61: 4021-4031.

Qiu QS, Guo Y, Dietrich MA, Schumaker KS, Zhu JK. 2002. Regulation of SOS1, a

plasma membrane Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger in Arabidopsis thaliana, by SOS2 and SOS3. *The Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 99: 8436–8441.

Qiu QS, Guo Y, Quintero FJ, Pardo JM, Schumaker KS, Zhu JK. 2004. Regulation of vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺ exchange in Arabidopsis thaliana by the salt-overly-sensitive (SOS) pathway. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279: 207-215.

Raghavendra AS, Gonugunta VK, Christmann A, Grill E. 2010. ABA perception and signaling. *Trends in Plant Science* 15: 395-401.

Rao MV, Lee H, Creelman RA, Mullet JE, Davis KR. 2000. Jasmonic acid signaling modulates ozone-induced hypersensitive cell death. *Plant Cell* 12: 1633–1646.

Reddy ASN, Ali GS, Celesnik H, Day IS. 2011. Coping with stresses: Roles of calcium- and calcium/calmodulin-regulated gene expression. *Plant Cell* 23: 2010-2032.

Reid KE, Olsson N, Schlosser J, Peng F, Lund ST. 2006. An optimized grapevine RNA isolation procedure and statistical determination of reference genes for real-time RT-PCR during berry development. *BMC Plant Biology* 6: 27-37.

Reinbothe C, Springer A, Samol I, Reinbothe S. 2009. Plant oxylipins: role of jasmonic acid during programmed cell death, defence and leaf senescence. *FEBS Journal* 276: 4666–4681.

Renaud S, de Lorgeril M. 1992. Wine, alcohol, platelets, and the French paradox for coronary heart disease. *Lancet* 339: 1523-1526.

Repka V, Fischerová I, Šilhárová K. 2004. Methyl jasmonate is a potent elicitor of multiple defense responses in grapevine leaves and cell-suspension cultures. *Biologia Plantarum* 48: 273–283.

Rhodes D, Hanson AD. 1993. Quaternary ammonium and terriary sulfonium compounds in higher plants. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology* 44: 357-384.

Riemann M, Haga K, Shimizu T, Okada K, Ando S, Mochizuki S, Nishizawa Y, Yamanouchi U, Nick P, Yano M, Minami E, Takano M, Yamane H, Iino M. 2013 Isolation of Rice ALLENE OXIDE CYCLASE mutants and the function of jasmonate for defence against Magnaporthe oryzae. *Plant Journal* 74: 226-238.

Riemann M, Muller A, Korte A, Furuya M, Weiler EW, Nick P. 2003. Impaired induction of the jasmonate pathway in the rice mutant hebiba. *Plant Physiology* 133: 1820-1830.

Roberts JKM, Ray PM, Wade-Jardetzky N, Jardetzky O. 1980. Estimation of cytoplasmic and vacuolar pH in higher plant cells by 31P NMR. *Nature* 283: 870-872.

Robson F, Okamoto H, Patrick E, Harris S-R, Wasternack C, Brearley C, Turner JG. 2010. Jasmonate and Phytochrome A Signaling in Arabidopsis Wound and Shade Responses Are Integrated through JAZ1 Stability. *Plant Cell* 22: 1143-1160.

Rodriguez MCS, Petersen M, Mundy J. 2010. Mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling in plants. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 61: 621–649.

Rodriguez-Rosales MP, Jiang XY, Galvez FJ, Aranda MN, Cubero B, Venema K. 2008. Overexpression of the tomato K^+/H^+ antiporter LeNHX2 confers salt tolerance by improving potassium compartmentalization. *New Phytologist* 179: 366–377.

Sang J, Zhang A, Lin F, Tan M, Jiang M. 2008. Cross-talk between calcium-calmodulin and nitric oxide in abscisic acid signaling in leaves of maize plants. *Cell Research* 18: 577-588.

Santner A, Calderon-Villalobos LIA, Estelle M. 2009. Plant hormones are versatile chemical regulators of plant growth. *NATURE REVIEWS, CHEMICAL BIOLOGY* 5: 301-307.

Santner A, Estelle M. 2009. Recent advances and emerging trends in plant hormone signaling. *Nature review* 459: 1071-1078.

Santner A, Estelle M. 2010. The ubiquitin-proteasome system regulates plant hormone signaling. *Plant Journal* 61: 1029-1040.

SAS. 2000. Statistical Analysis Software Version 2000. Raleigh.NC.USA.

Schaller A, Stintzi A. 2009. Enzymes in jasmonate biosynthesis–Structure, function, regulation. *Phytochemistry* 70: 1532–1538.

Scheel D. 1998. Resistance response physiology and signal transduction. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 1: 305-310.

Seibicke T. 2002. Untersuchungen zur induzierten Resistenz an *Vitis* spec. PhD thesis. University of Freiburg.

Selye H. 1936. A syndrome produced by diverse nocuous agents. Nature 138: 32.

Seo JS, Joo J, Kim MJ, Kim YK, Nahm BH, Song SI, Cheong JJ, Lee JS, Kim JK, Choi YD. 2011. OsbHLH148, a basic helix-loop-helix protein, interacts with OsJAZ proteins in a

jasmonate signaling pathway leading to drought tolerance in rice. Plant Journal 65: 907-921.

Shabala L, Cuin TA, Newman IA, Shabala S. 2005. Salinity-induced ion flux patterns from the excised roots of Arabidopsis sos mutants. *Planta* 222: 1041-1050.

Shabala S, Demidchik V, Shabala L, Cuin TA, Smith SJ, Miller AJ, Davies JM, Newman IA. 2006. Extracellular Ca²⁺ ameliorates NaCl-induced K⁺ loss from Arabidopsis root and leaf cells by controlling plasma membrane K⁺-permeable channels. *Plant Physiology* 141: 1653-1665.

Shabala S, Newman I. 2000. Salinity effects on the activity of plasma membrane H⁺ and Ca²⁺ transporters in bean leaf mesophyl: masking role of the cell wall. *Annals of Botany* 85: 681-686.

Sharma S, Villamor JG, Verslues PE. 2011. Essential role of Tissue-Specific proline synthesis and catabolism in growth and redox balance at low water potential. *Plant Physiology* 157: 292-304.

Shavrukov Y. 2013. Salt stress or salt shock: which genes are we studying? *Journal of Experimental Botany* 64: 119-127.

Siddiqui MH, Al-Whaibi MH, Basalah MO. 2011. Role of nitric oxide in tolerance of plants to abiotic stress. *Protoplasma* 248: 447-455.

Skopelitis DS, Paranychianakis NV, Paschalidis KA, Pliakonis ED, Delis ID, Yakoumakis DI, Kouvarakis A, Papadakis AK, Stephanou EG, Roubelakis-Angelakis KA. 2006. Abiotic stress generates ROS that signal expression of anionic glutamate dehydrogenases to form glutamate for proline synthesis in tobacco and grapevine. *Plant Cell* 18: 2767-2781.

Smalle J, Vierstra RD. 2004. The ubiquitin 26S proteasome proteolytic pathway. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 55: 555–590.

Somerville C, Koornneef M. 2002. A fortunate choice: the history of Arabidopsis as a model plant. *NATURE REVIEWS, GENETICS* 3: 883-889.

Staswick PE, Tiryaki I. 2004. The oxylipin signal jasmonic acid is activated by an enzyme that conjugates it to isoleucine in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 16: 2117-2127.

Staswick PE. 2008. JAZing up jasmonate signaling. Trends in Plant Science 13: 66-71.

Stines AP, Naylor DJ, Høj PB, Heeswijck R. 1999. Proline accumulation in developing grapevine fruit occurs independently of changes in the levels of Δ^1 -pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase mRNA or protein. *Plant Physiology* 120: 923-931.

Suhita D, Raghavendra AS, Kwak JM, Vavasseur A. 2004. Cytoplasmic Alkalization Precedes Reactive Oxygen Species Production during Methyl Jasmonate- and Abscisic Acid-Induced Stomatal Closure. *Plant Physiology* 134: 1536-1545.

Sullivan JA, Shirasu K, Deng XW. 2003. The diverse roles of ubiquitin and the 26S proteasome in the life of plants. *NATURE REVIEWS, GENETICS* 4: 948-958.

Taiz L, Zeiger E. 2010. Stress physiology (chapter 25). Plant Physiology Book, Fifth Edition pp 540, 541, 554, 591, 592, 601.

Taj G, Agarwal P, Grant M, Kumar A. 2010. MAPK machinery in plants: Recognition and response to different stresses through multiple signal transduction pathways. *Plant Signaling & Behavior* 5: 1370-1378.

Takeuchi K, Gyohda A, Tominaga M, Kawakatsu M, Hatakeyama A, Ishii N, Shimaya K, Nishimura T, Riemann M, Nick P, Hashimoto M, Komano T, Endo A, Okamoto T, Jikumaru Y, Kamiya Y, Terakawa T, Koshiba T. 2011. Sciences RSOsPR10 Expression in Response to Environmental Stresses is Regulated Antagonistically by Jasmonate/Ethylene and Salicylic Acid Signaling Pathways in Rice Roots. *Plant Cell Physiology* 52: 1686-1696.

Tarpey MM, Wink DA, Grisham MB. 2004. Methods for detection of reactive metabolites of oxygen and nitrogen: in vitro and in vivo considerations. *American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology* 286: 431–444.

Tassoni A, Fornale S, Franceschetti M, Musiani F, Michael AJ, Perry B, Bagni N, Franceschetti M, Ferri M, Tassoni A. 2005. Jasmonates, Na-orthovanadate promote resveratrol production in *Vitis vinifera* cv. Barbera cell cultures. *New Phytologist* 166: 895-905.

Tattersall EA, Grimplet J, DeLuc L, Wheatley MD, Vincent D, Osborne C, Ergül A, Lomen E, Blank RR, Schlauch KA, Cushman JC, Cramer GR. 2007. Transcript abundance profiles reveal larger and more complex responses of grapevine to chilling compared to osmotic and salinity stress. *Functional of Integrative Genomics* 7: 317-333.

Taylor IB, Burbidge A, Thompson AJ. 2000. Control of abscisic acid synthesis. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 51: 1563-1574

Teige M, Scheikl E, Eulgem T, Dóczi R, Ichimura K, Shinozaki K, Dangl JL, Hirt H. 2004. The MKK2 pathway mediates cold and salt stress signaling in Arabidopsis. *Molecular Cell* 15:141-52.

Terrile MC, París R, Calderón-Villalobos, Iglesias MJ, Lamattina L, Estelle M, Casalongue CA. 2012. Nitric oxide influences auxin signaling through S-nitrosylation of the Arabidopsis TRANSPORT INHIBITOR RESPONSE 1 auxin receptor. *Plant Journal* 70: 492-500.

Tester M, Davenport R. 2003. Na⁺ Tolerance and Na⁺ Transport in Higher Plants. *Annals of Botany* 91: 503-527.

Thines B, Katsir L, Melotto M, Niu Y, Mandaokar A, Liu G, Nomura K, He SY, Howe GA, Browse J. 2007. JAZ repressor proteins are targets of the SCF^{COI1} complex during jasmonate signalling. *Nature* 448: 661-665.

Tropf S, Lanz T, Rensing SA, Schröder J, Schröder G. 1994. Evidence that stilbene synthases have developed from chalcone synthases several times in the course of evolution. *Journal of Molecular Evolution* 38: 610-618.

Türkan I, Demiral T. 2009. Recent developments in understanding salinity tolerance. *Environmental and Experimental Botany* 67: 2-9.

Tuteja N. 2007. Mechanisms of HighSalinityTolerance in Plants. *Methods in Enzymology* 428: 419-438.

Umezawa T, Nakashima K, Miyakawa T, Kuromori T, Tanokura M, Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K. 2010. Molecular basis of the core regulatory network in ABA responses: Sensing, signaling and transport. *Plant Cell Physiology* 51: 1821-1839.

Vanholme B, Grunewald W, Bateman A, Kohchi T, Gheysen G. 2007. The tify family previously known as ZIM. *TRENDS in Plant Science* 12: 239-244.

Verbruggen N, Hermans C. 2008. Proline accumulation in plants: a review. *Amino Acids* 35: 753-759.

Vierstra RD. 2009. The ubiquitin–26S proteasome system at the nexus of plant biology. *NATURE REVIEWS, MOLECULAR CELL BIOLOGY* 10: 385-397.

Vivier MA, Pretorius IS. 2002. Genetically tailored grapevines for the wine industry. *Trends in Biotechnology* 20: 472-478.

Wager A, Browse J. 2012. Social Network: JAZ Protein Interactions Expand Our Knowledge of Jasmonate Signaling. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 3, 1-11.

Wang C, Zhang LJ, Huang RD. 2011. Cytoskeleton and plant salt stress tolerance. *Plant Signaling & Behavior* 6: 29-31.

Wang JG, Chen CH, Chien CT, Hsieh HL. 2011. FAR-RED INSENSITIVE219 Modulates CONSTITUTIVE PHOTOMORPHOGENIC1 Activity via Physical Interaction to Regulate Hypocotyl Elongation in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology* 156: 631-646.

Wang W, Tang K, Yang HR, Wen PF, Zhang P, Wang HL, Huang WD. 2010. Distribution of resveratrol and stilbene synthase in young grape plants (*Vitis vinifera* L. cv. Cabernet Sauvignon) and the effect of UV-C on its accumulation. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 48: 142-152.

Wang WH, Yi XQ, Han AD, Liu TW, Chen J, Wu FH, Dong XJ, He JX, Pei ZM, Zheng HL. 2012. Calcium-sensing receptor regulates stomatal closure through hydrogen peroxide and nitric oxide in response to extracellular calcium in Arabidopsis. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 63: 177-190.

Wasternack, C. 2002. Jasmonates and octadecanoids: signals in plant stress responses and development. *Progress in Nucleic Acid Research and Molecular Biology* 72:165-221.

Wasternack, C. 2007. Jasmonates: An update on biosynthesis, signal transduction and action in plant stress response, growth and development. *Annals of Botany* 100: 681–697.

White PJ. 2000. Calcium channels in higher plants. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1465: 171-189.

Wolf S, Hématy K, Höfte H. 2012. Growth control and cell wall signaling in plants. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 63: 381-407.

Wrzaczek M, Hirt H. 2001. Plant MAP kinase pathways: how many and what for? *Biology of the Cell* 93: 81-87.

Xiong L, Zhu JK. 2003. Regulation of Abscisic Acid Biosynthesis. *Plant Physiology* 133: 29-36.

Yang T, Poovaiah BW. 2002. A Calmodulin-binding/CGCG Box DNA-binding Protein Family Involved in Multiple Signaling Pathways in Plants. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277: 45049-45058. **Ye H, Du H, Tang N, Li X, Xiong L.** 2009. Identification and expression profiling analysis of TIFY family genes involved in stress and phytohormone responses in rice. *Plant Molecular Biology* **71**: 291-305.

Yeo A. 1998. Molecular biology of salt tolerance in the context of whole-plant physiology. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 49: 915-929.

Yokoi S, Bressan RA, Hasegawa PM. 2002. Salt Stress Tolerance of Plants. *JIRCAS Working Report* 25-33.

Yokoi S, Quintero FJ, Cubero B, Ruiz MT, Bressan RA, Hasegawa PM, Pardo JM. 2002. Differential expression and function of Arabidopsis thaliana NHX Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters in the salt stress response. *Plant Journal* 30: 529-539.

Yoshimoto K, Jikumaru Y, Kamiya Y, Kusano M, Consonni C, Panstruga R, Ohsumi Y, Shirasu K. 2009. Autophagy Negatively Regulates Cell Death by Controlling NPR1-Dependent Salicylic Acid Signaling during Senescence and the Innate Immune Response in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 21: 2914-2927.

Zhang L, Xing D. 2008. Methyl jasmonate induces production of reactive oxygen species and alterations in mitochondrial dynamics that precede photosynthetic dysfunction and subsequent cell death. *Plant Cell Physiology* 49: 1092–1111.

Zhou H, Zhao J, Yang Y, Chen C, Liu Y, Jin X, Chen L, Li X, Deng XW, Schumaker KS, Guo Y. 2012. UBIQUITIN-SPECIFIC PROTEASE16 Modulates Salt Tolerance in Arabidopsis by Regulating Na⁺/H⁺ Antiport Activity and Serine Hydroxymethyltransferase Stability. *Plant Cell* 24: 5106-5122.

Zhu D, Cai H, Luo X, Bai X, Deyholos MK, Chen Q, Chen C, Ji W, Zhu Y. 2012. Over-expression of a novel JAZ family gene from Glycine soja, increases salt and alkali stress tolerance. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 426: 273-279.

Zhu JK. 2000. Genetic analysis of plant salt tolerance using Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology* 124: 941-948.

Zhu JK. 2002. Salt and drought stress signal transduction in plants. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology* 53: 247–273.

Zhu JK. 2003. Regulation of ion homeostasis under salt stress. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 6: 441–445.

Curriculum Vitae

Persönliche Daten

Name	Ahmed Abd Alkarim Mohammed Ismail
Geburtsdatum	28.07.1981 in Damanhour, El-Behera
Nationalität	Ägypten
Kontakt	ahmedaalkarim@gmail.com
	ahmedaalkarim@yahoo.com

ı.

Ausbildung

seit 04/2010	Promotionsstudium Karlsruher Institut für Technologie (KIT),
	Institut für Botanik I
9/2004 - 7/2007	Studium Pomology
	Faculty of Agriculture, Damanhour Branch,
	Alexandria University, Egypt
	Abschluss: Master of Agriculture Science
09/1998 – 06/2002	Studium Landwirtschaft
	Faculty of Agriculture, Damanhour Branch,
	Alexandria University, Egypt
	Abschluss: Bachelor of Agricultural Science
09/1995 – 06/1998	Secondary School
09/1992 – 06/1995	Preparatory School
09/1987 – 06/1992	Primary School

AWARDS

- The participation fellowship for the 8th edition of **BioVision World Life Sciences Forum**, from life sciences to sciences for life, 2013, Lyon, France.
- The GERLS scholarship "German Egyptian Research Long-Term Scholarship", 42 Months, April 2010 – September 2013.
- **Graduate honor scholarship**, Faculty of Agriculture, Damanhour Branch, University of Alexandria, Egypt (entire tuition fees for two years).

Wissenschaftliche Tätigkeiten

seit 04/2010	Wissenschaftlicher Mitarbeiter (Doktorand)
	Karlsruher Institut für Technologie (KIT)
	Institut für Botanik I, AG Prof. Peter Nick
04/2004 - 10/2009	Masterarbeit
	Faculty of Agriculture, Damanhour Branch,
	Alexandria University, AG Prof. Karim Farag
	Titel der Arbeit: Effect of putrescine, gibberellic acid and calcium on quality characteristics and the delay of the ripening of "Desert Red" peach fruit cultivar.
09/1998 – 06/2002	Bachelorarbeit
	Faculty of Agriculture, Damanhour Branch,
	Alexandria University, Egypt

Publications:

1. **Ismail A**, Seo M, Takebayashi Y, Kamiya Y, Eiche E, Nick P. (2013). Salt Adaptation Requires Suppression of Jasmonate Signaling. *Submitted*.

- Liu Q, Qiao F, Ismail A, Chang X, Nick P. (2013). The Plant Cytoskeleton Controls Regulatory Volume Increase. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*. Published online 06.05.2013.
- 3. **Ismail A**, Riemann M, Nick P. (2012). The jasmonate pathway mediates salt tolerance in grapevines. *Journal of Experimental Botany*. 63 (5), 2127–2139.
- Farag KM, Ismail AA, Essa AA, EI-Sabag AS. (2007). Effect of putrescine, gibberellic acid, and calcium on quality characteristics and the delay of ripening of "Desert Red" peach fruit cultivar. A: Developmental Aspects and Physical Properties of the Fruit. J. Agri. & Env. Sci. Alex. Univ., Egypt. 6(1): 1-34.
- Farag KM, Ismail AA, Essa AA, EI-Sabag AS. (2007). Effect of putrescine, gibberellic acid, and calcium on quality characteristics and the delay of ripening of "Desert Red" peach fruit cultivar. B: Chemical properties of the fruit. *J. Agri.* & Env. Sci. Alex. Univ., Egypt. 6(1): 35-68.